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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of reserves of $1,034 and $762, respectively
Refundable income taxes
Assets held for sale
Other current assets
Total current assets

September 24,
2020

December 26,
2019

$

$

Property and equipment:
Land and improvements
Buildings and improvements
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Finance lease right-of-use assets
Construction in progress
Total property and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other assets:
Investments in joint ventures
Goodwill
Other
Total other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

$

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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8,244
8,509
6,907
54,434
2,119
11,477
91,690

20,862
4,756
29,465
5,916
—
18,265
79,264

149,299
762,206
166,628
381,749
74,794
6,826
1,541,502
663,800
877,702

152,434
761,511
164,083
377,404
74,357
4,043
1,533,832
610,578
923,254

236,632

243,855

2,084
75,211
33,103
110,398
1,316,422

3,595
75,282
33,936
112,813
1,359,186

$

THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Taxes other than income taxes
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of finance lease obligations
Current portion of operating lease obligations
Current maturities of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

September 24,
2020

December 26,
2019

$

$

Finance lease obligations

15,824
16,638
10,796
50,842
89,932
2,908
20,646
12,927
220,513

49,370
20,613
18,055
61,134
—
2,571
13,335
9,910
174,988

20,256

20,802

Operating lease obligations

231,552

232,111

Long-term debt

199,357

206,432

Deferred income taxes

46,838

48,262

Deferred compensation and other

58,938

55,133

—

—

23,264

23,254

7,926
152,598
370,919
(12,614)
542,093

7,936
145,549
461,884
(12,648)
625,975

(3,125)
538,968
—
538,968

(4,540)
621,435
23
621,458

Equity:
Shareholders’ equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation
Preferred Stock, $1 par; authorized 1,000,000 shares; none issued
Common Stock, $1 par; authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued 23,264,259 shares at
September 24, 2020 and 23,253,744 shares at December 26, 2019
Class B Common Stock, $1 par; authorized 33,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
7,925,254 shares at September 24, 2020 and 7,935,769 shares at December 26, 2019
Capital in excess of par
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Less cost of Common Stock in treasury (125,652 shares at September 24, 2020 and
242,853 shares at December 26, 2019)
Total shareholders' equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation
Noncontrolling interest
Total equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,316,422

$

1,359,186

THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Earnings (Loss)
September 24, 2020
13 Weeks
39 Weeks

(in thousands, except per share data)
Revenues:
Theatre admissions
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Other revenues

$

Cost reimbursements
Total revenues

3,118
9,772
3,243
5,420
8,813
30,366
3,225
33,591

Costs and expenses:
Theatre operations
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Advertising and marketing
Administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Rent
Property taxes
Other operating expenses
Impairment charges
Reimbursed costs
Total costs and expenses

14,150
4,611
2,592
5,109
1,981
11,645
18,690
6,594
5,950
6,266
765
3,225
81,578

76,806
16,132
25,634
20,725
8,446
40,555
56,568
19,876
18,004
18,094
9,477
13,916
324,233

66,971
10,829
21,471
15,842
6,653
18,053
19,226
6,806
5,666
10,127
—
7,431
189,075

199,542
30,173
63,789
44,353
17,664
54,862
53,484
19,087
16,527
31,729
—
27,979
559,189

(47,987)

(123,249)

22,387

54,812

66
(4,132)
(590)
(251)
(1,054)
(5,961)

207
(10,177)
(1,771)
(299)
(1,539)
(13,579)

187
(2,807)
(481)
(129)
(84)
(3,314)

835
(8,959)
(1,441)
(269)
(252)
(10,086)

Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Investment income
Interest expense
Other expense
Loss on disposition of property, equipment and other assets
Equity losses from unconsolidated joint ventures, net

$

58,667
27,618
50,277
19,620
30,886
187,068
13,916
200,984

September 26, 2019
13 Weeks
39 Weeks

$

$

$

Net earnings (loss) per share - basic:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

$
$

(1.30) $
(1.18) $

(2.84) $
(2.57) $

0.47
0.43

$
$

1.18
1.02

Net earnings (loss) per share - diluted:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

$
$

(1.30) $
(1.18) $

(2.84) $
(2.57) $

0.46
0.43

$
$

1.10
1.01
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19,073
4,843
14,230
(59)
14,289 $

211,777
81,317
172,126
54,568
66,234
586,022
27,979
614,001

Earnings (loss) before income taxes
Income taxes (benefit)
Net earnings (loss)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net earnings (loss) attributable to The Marcus Corporation

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.

(53,948)
(136,828)
(14,508)
(50,984)
(39,440)
(85,844)
—
(23)
(39,440) $ (85,821) $

69,753
34,185
57,051
20,170
22,872
204,031
7,431
211,462

44,726
10,465
34,261
46
34,215

THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(in thousands)

September 24, 2020
13 Weeks
39 Weeks

September 26, 2019
13 Weeks
39 Weeks

Net earnings (loss)

$ (39,440)

$ 14,230

$ 34,261

79

238

(138)

(968)

$ (85,844)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Amortization of the net actuarial loss and prior service credit
related to the pension, net of tax effect of $64, $194, $30 and
$89, respectively

184

549

Fair market value adjustment of interest rate swaps, net of tax
benefit of $10, $358, $35 and $340, respectively

(30)

(1,015)

Reclassification adjustment on interest rate swaps included in
interest expense, net of tax effect of $81, $177, $11 and $19,
respectively

227

500

32

53

381

34

(27)

(677)

(85,810)

14,203

33,584

(23)

(59)

46

$ (85,787)

$ 14,262

$ 33,538

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

(39,059)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling
interests
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to The Marcus
Corporation

—
$ (39,059)

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
39 Weeks Ended
September 24, 2020
September 26, 2019

(in thousands)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net earnings (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Losses on investments in joint ventures
Distributions from joint ventures
Loss on disposition of property, equipment and other assets
Impairment charges
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt issuance costs and discount on convertible notes
Share-based compensation
Deferred income taxes
Deferred compensation and other
Contribution of the Company’s stock to savings and profit-sharing plan
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Operating leases
Accounts payable
Income taxes
Taxes other than income taxes
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Total adjustments
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures
Acquisition of theatres, net of cash acquired and working capital assumed
Proceeds from disposals of property, equipment and other assets
Capital contribution in joint venture
Proceeds from sale of trading securities
Other investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Debt transactions:
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit facility
Repayment of borrowings on revolving credit facility
Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Proceeds from convertible senior notes
Principal payments on long-term debt
Proceeds received from PPP loans expected to be repaid
Debt issuance costs
Principal payments on finance lease obligations
Equity transactions:
Treasury stock transactions, except for stock options
Exercise of stock options
Capped call transactions
Dividends paid
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

$

Supplemental Information:
Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized
Income taxes paid
Change in accounts payable for additions to property, equipment and other assets

$

See accompanying condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(85,844)

$

34,261

1,539
—
299
9,477
56,568
697
3,286
(2,787)
3,938
1,315

252
200
269
—
53,484
232
2,594
(572)
592
1,181

22,558
1,604
8,519
(31,852)
(48,518)
(3,975)
(7,259)
(10,214)
5,195
(80,649)

2,118
566
(280)
(7,524)
8,506
626
1,671
(12,218)
51,697
85,958

(18,687)
—
1,602
(28)
5,184
220
(11,709)

(50,097)
(30,287)
22
—
—
(5,809)
(86,171)

209,000
(280,000)
90,800
100,050
(9,356)
3,147
(6,543)
(1,389)

246,000
(215,000)
—
—
(24,203)
—
—
(1,908)

(542)
379
(16,908)
(5,145)
—
83,493

(747)
1,344
—
(14,478)
(185)
(9,177)

(8,865)
25,618
16,753

(9,390)
21,927
12,537

9,313
322
(2,640)

9,540
2,530
7,406

THE MARCUS CORPORATION
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE 13 AND 39 WEEKS ENDED SEPTEMBER 24, 2020
1. General
Basis of Presentation - The unaudited consolidated financial statements for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 24,
2020 and September 26, 2019 have been prepared by the Company. In the opinion of management, all adjustments,
consisting of normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the unaudited interim financial information at
September 24, 2020, and for all periods presented, have been made. The results of operations during the interim periods are
not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for the entire year or other interim periods. However, the unaudited
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2019.
Accounting Policies - Refer to the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements (including footnotes) for the fiscal
year ended December 26, 2019, contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year, for a description
of the Company’s accounting policies.
Depreciation and Amortization - Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are provided using the
straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or any related lease terms. Depreciation
expense totaled $18,698,000 and $56,584,000 for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 24, 2020, respectively, and
$19,194,000 and $53,433,000 for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 26, 2019, respectively.
Assets Held for Sale – Long-lived assets that are expected to be sold within the next 12 months and meet the other
relevant held-for-sale criteria are classified as assets held for sale and included within current assets on the consolidated
balance sheet. Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying value or their fair value less costs to sell the
asset. As of September 24, 2020, assets held for sale consists primarily of excess land.
Long-Lived Assets – The Company periodically considers whether indicators of impairment of long-lived assets held for
use are present. This includes quantitative and qualitative factors, including evaluating the historical actual operating
performance of the long-lived assets and assessing the potential impact of recent events and transactions impacting the
long-lived assets. If such indicators are present, the Company determines if the long-lived assets are recoverable by
assessing whether the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows attributable to such assets is less than their
carrying amounts. If the long-lived assets are not recoverable, the Company recognizes any impairment losses based on the
excess of the carrying amount of the assets over their fair value. During the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and the third quarter
of fiscal 2020, the Company determined that indicators of impairment were present. As such, the Company evaluated the
value of its property and equipment and the value of its operating lease right-of-use assets and recorded impairment
charges as discussed in Note 3.
Goodwill – The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if certain indicators arise. The
Company performs its annual impairment test on the last day of its fiscal year. Goodwill is tested for impairment at a
reporting unit level, determined to be at an operating segment level. When reviewing goodwill for impairment, the
Company considers the amount of excess fair value over the carrying value of the reporting unit, the period of time since
its last quantitative test, and other factors to determine whether or not to first perform a qualitative test. When performing a
qualitative test, the Company assesses numerous factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value
of its reporting unit is less than its carrying value. Examples of qualitative factors that the Company assesses include its
share price, its financial performance, market and competitive factors in its industry, and other events specific to the
reporting unit. If the Company concludes that it is more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit is less than it
carrying value, the Company performs a quantitative impairment test by comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit
to the estimated fair value.
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During the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and the third quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company determined that indicators of
impairment were present and performed quantitative tests as of the quarter-end dates. In order to determine fair value, the
Company used assumptions based on information available to it as of March 26, 2020 (the last day of the Company’s first
quarter) and September 24, 2020 (the last day of the Company’s third quarter), including both market data and forecasted
future cash flows. The Company then used this information to determine fair value. The Company determined that the fair
value of the Company's goodwill was greater than its carrying value and thus was not impaired as of March 26, 2020 or
September 24, 2020.
Trade Name Intangible Asset – The Company recorded a trade name intangible asset in conjunction with the Movie
Tavern acquisition (See Note 4) that was determined to have an indefinite life. The Company reviews its trade name
intangible asset for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
value may not be fully recoverable. During the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and the third quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company
determined that indicators of impairment were present. As such, the Company evaluated the value of its trade name
intangible asset and recorded an impairment charge during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 as discussed in Note 3.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share - Net earnings (loss) per share (EPS) of Common Stock and Class B Common Stock is
computed using the two class method. Basic net earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net
earnings (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effect of dilutive stock
options and convertible debt instruments using the treasury method. Convertible Class B Common Stock is reflected on an
if-converted basis when dilutive to Common Stock. The computation of the diluted net earnings (loss) per share of
Common Stock assumes the conversion of Class B Common Stock in periods that have net earnings since it would be
dilutive to Common Stock earnings per share, while the diluted net earnings (loss) per share of Class B Common Stock
does not assume the conversion of those shares.
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to cash dividends per share equal to 110% of all dividends declared and paid on
each share of Class B Common Stock. As such, the undistributed earnings (losses) for each period are allocated based on
the proportionate share of entitled cash dividends.
The following table illustrates the computation of Common Stock and Class B Common Stock basic and diluted net
earnings (loss) per share for net earnings (loss) and provides a reconciliation of the number of weighted-average basic and
diluted shares outstanding:
13 Weeks
Ended
September 24, 2020
Numerator:
Net earnings (loss) attributable to The
Marcus Corporation
Denominator:
Denominator for basic EPS
Effect of dilutive employee stock options
Denominator for diluted EPS
Net earnings (loss) per share – basic:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock
Net earnings (loss) per share- diluted:
Common Stock
Class B Common Stock

$

(39,440)

13 Weeks
39 Weeks
Ended
Ended
September 26, 2019
September 24, 2020
(in thousands, except per share data)
$

31,064
—
31,064

14,289

$

30,918
443
31,361

(85,821)

39 Weeks
Ended
September 26, 2019

$

31,033
—
31,033

34,215
30,566
518
31,084

$
$

(1.30)
(1.18)

$
$

0.47
0.43

$
$

(2.84)
(2.57)

$
$

1.18
1.02

$
$

(1.30)
(1.18)

$
$

0.46
0.43

$
$

(2.84)
(2.57)

$
$

1.10
1.01

For the periods when the Company reports a net loss, common stock equivalents are excluded from the computation of
diluted loss per share as their inclusion would have an antidilutive effect.
It is the Company’s intent to settle the principal amount of its convertible senior notes in cash and settle the conversion
spread of its convertible senior notes in the Company’s shares. As such, the Company uses the treasury method to calculate
diluted earnings per share, unless the effect would be antidilutive.
9

Shareholders’ Equity - Activity impacting total shareholders’ equity attributable to The Marcus Corporation and
noncontrolling interests for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 24, 2020 and September 26, 2019 was as follows (in
thousands, except per share data):

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 26, 2019
Cash Dividends:
$.15 Class B Common Stock
$.16 Common Stock
Exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury stock
Savings and profit-sharing contribution
Reissuance of treasury stock
Issuance of non-vested stock
Shared-based compensation
Conversions of Class B Common Stock
Comprehensive income (loss)
BALANCES AT MARCH 26, 2020
Exercise of stock options
Reissuance of treasury stock
Issuance of non-vested stock
Shared-based compensation
Other
Comprehensive income (loss)
BALANCES AT JUNE 25, 2020
Exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury stock
Reissuance of treasury stock
Issuance of non-vested stock
Shared-based compensation
Equity component of issuance of convertible notes, net
of tax and issuance costs
Capped call transactions, net of tax
Comprehensive income (loss)
BALANCES AT SEPTEMBER 24, 2020

Common
Stock
$ 23,254

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
10
—
23,264
—
—
—
—
—
—
23,264
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
23,264

Class B
Common
Stock
$
7,936

$

$

$

Capital
in Excess
of Par
$ 145,549

Retained
Earnings
$ 461,884

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(10)
—
7,926
—
—
—
—
—
—
7,926
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
5
—
299
2
(149)
988
—
—
$ 146,694
(4)
(17)
(172)
1,190
(1)
—
$ 147,690
(68)
—
(1)
(158)
1,108

(1,224)
(3,921)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(19,352)
$ 437,387
—
—
—
—
1
(27,029)
$ 410,359
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
7,926

16,522
(12,495)
—
$ 152,598

—
—
(39,440)
$ 370,919
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss
$
(12,648)

Treasury
Stock
$
(4,540)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(547)
(13,195)
—
—
—
—
—
200
(12,995)
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
40
(274)
1,016
46
149
—
—
—
(3,563)
15
112
172
—
—
—
(3,264)
391
(422)
12
158
—

$

$

$

—
—
381
(12,614)

$

$

$

—
—
—
(3,125)

Shareholders’
Equity
Attributable
to The
Marcus
Corporation
$
621,435

$

$

$

(1,224)
(3,921)
45
(274)
1,315
48
—
988
—
(19,899)
598,513
11
95
—
1,190
—
(26,829)
572,980
323
(422)
11
—
1,108
16,522
(12,495)
(39,059)
538,968

Noncontrolling
Interests
$
23

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(148)
(125)
—
—
—
—
—
125
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

$

$

$

Total
Equity
621,458
(1,224)
(3,921)
45
(274)
1,315
48
—
988
—
(20,047)
598,388
11
95
—
1,190
—
(26,704)
572,980
323
(422)
11
—
1,108
16,522
(12,495)
(39,059)
538,968

BALANCES AT DECEMBER 27, 2018
Cash Dividends:
$.15 Class B Common Stock
$.16 Common Stock
Exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury stock
Savings and profit-sharing contribution
Reissuance of treasury stock
Issuance of non-vested stock
Shared-based compensation
Reissuance of treasury stock-acquisition
Other
Conversions of Class B Common Stock
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive income (loss)
BALANCES AT MARCH 28, 2019
Cash Dividends:
$.15 Class B Common Stock
$.16 Common Stock
Exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury stock
Reissuance of treasury stock
Issuance of non-vested stock
Shared-based compensation
Conversions of Class B Common Stock
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive income (loss)
BALANCES AT JUNE 27, 2019
$.15 Class B Common Stock
$.16 Common Stock
Exercise of stock options
Purchase of treasury stock
Reissuance of treasury stock
Issuance of non-vested stock
Shared-based compensation
Conversions of Class B Common Stock
Distributions to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive income (loss)
BALANCES AT SEPTEMBER 26, 2019

Common
Stock
$ 22,843

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
411
—
—
23,254
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
23,254
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
23,254

Class B
Common
Stock
$
8,347

$

$

$

Capital
in Excess
of Par
$ 63,830

Retained
Earnings
$ 439,178

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(411)
—
—
7,936

—
—
(78)
—
810
31
(127)
777
77,960
(109)
—
—
—
$ 143,094

(1,183)
(3,633)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
1,860
$ 436,222

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
7,936
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
7,936

—
—
(27)
—
182
(142)
949
—
—
—
$ 144,056
—
—
(134)
—
28
(131)
868
—
—
—
$ 144,687

(1,155)
(3,675)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
18,066
$ 449,458
(1,155)
(3,677)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
14,289
$ 458,915

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss
$
(6,758)

Treasury
Stock
$ (37,431)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(297)
(7,055)

—
—
532
(428)
371
16
127
—
31,237
—
—
—
—
(5,576)

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(353)
(7,408)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(27)
(7,435)

$

$

$

—
—
477
(213)
96
142
—
—
—
—
(5,074)
—
—
574
(478)
19
131
—
—
—
—
(4,828)

Shareholders’
Equity
Attributable
to The
Marcus
Corporation
$
490,009

$

$

$

(1,183)
(3,633)
454
(428)
1,181
47
—
777
109,197
(109)
—
—
1,563
597,875
(1,155)
(3,675)
450
(213)
278
—
949
—
—
17,713
612,222
(1,155)
(3,677)
440
(478)
47
—
868
—
—
14,262
622,529

Noncontrolling
Interests
$
110
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(60)
(66)
(16)

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(35)
171
120
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(90)
(59)
(29)

$

$

$

$

$

$

Total
Equity
490,119
(1,183)
(3,633)
454
(428)
1,181
47
—
777
109,197
(109)
—
(60)
1,497
597,859
(1,155)
(3,675)
450
(213)
278
—
949
—
(35)
17,884
612,342
(1,155)
(3,677)
440
(478)
47
—
868
—
(90)
14,203
622,500

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss – Accumulated other comprehensive loss presented in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets consists of the following, all presented net of tax:
September 24,
2020
Unrecognized loss on interest rate swap agreements
Net unrecognized actuarial loss for pension obligation

$
$

December 26,
2019

(in thousands)

(1,397)
(11,217)
(12,614)

$
$

(882)
(11,766)
(12,648)

Fair Value Measurements - Certain financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial
statements. Some are measured on a recurring basis while others are measured on a non-recurring basis. Financial assets
and liabilities measured on a recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value each time a financial statement is
prepared. Financial assets and liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value when a
significant event occurs. A fair value measurement assumes that a transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in
the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability.
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The Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in one of the following categories:
Level 1 - Assets or liabilities for which fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical
instruments as of the reporting date. At September 24, 2020 and December 26, 2019, respectively, the Company’s
$1,059,000 and $5,825,000 of debt and equity securities classified as trading were valued using Level 1 pricing
inputs and were included in other current assets.
Level 2 - Assets or liabilities for which fair value is based on pricing inputs that were either directly or indirectly
observable as of the reporting date. At September 24, 2020 and December 26, 2019, respectively, the Company’s
$1,890,000 and $1,194,000 liability related to the Company’s interest rate swap contracts was valued using Level
2 pricing inputs.
Level 3 - Assets or liabilities for which fair value is based on valuation models with significant unobservable
pricing inputs and which result in the use of management estimates. At September 24, 2020 and December 26,
2019, none of the Company’s recorded assets or liabilities that are measured on a recurring basis at fair market
value were valued using Level 3 pricing inputs. Assets and liabilities that are measured on a non-recurring basis
are discussed in Note 3, Note 4 and Note 5.
Defined Benefit Plan - The components of the net periodic pension cost of the Company’s unfunded nonqualified,
defined-benefit plan are as follows:
13 Weeks
Ended
September 24, 2020
Service cost
Interest cost
Net amortization of prior
service cost and
actuarial loss
Net periodic pension cost

$

$

274
342

13 Weeks
39 Weeks
Ended
Ended
September 26, 2019 September 24, 2020
(in thousands)
$
207 $
821
372
1,028

248
864

$

109
688

$

743
2,592

39 Weeks
Ended
September 26, 2019
$

$

625
1,114
327
2,066

Service cost is included in Administrative expense while all other components are recorded within Other expense outside
of operating income in the consolidated statements of earnings.
Revenue Recognition – The disaggregation of revenues by business segment for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September
24, 2020 is as follows (in thousands):
13 Weeks Ended September 24, 2020
Reportable Segment
Theatres Hotels/Resorts Corporate
Total
$ 3,118 $
— $
— $ 3,118
—
9,772
—
9,772
3,243
—
—
3,243
—
5,420
—
5,420
934
7,820
59
8,813
59
3,166
—
3,225
$ 7,354 $
26,178 $
59 $ 33,591

Theatre admissions
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Other revenues(1)
Cost reimbursements
Total revenues
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39 Weeks Ended September 24, 2020
Reportable Segment
Theatres Hotels/Resorts Corporate
Total
$ 58,667 $
— $
— $ 58,667
—
27,618
—
27,618
50,277
—
—
50,277
—
19,620
—
19,620
9,194
21,375
317
30,886
276
13,640
—
13,916
$ 118,414 $
82,253 $
317 $ 200,984

Theatre admissions
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Other revenues(1)
Cost reimbursements
Total revenues
(1)

Included in other revenues is an immaterial amount related to rental income that is not considered revenue from
contracts with customers.

The disaggregation of revenues by business segment for the 13 and 39 weeks ended September 26, 2019 is as follows (in
thousands):

Theatre admissions
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Other revenues (1)
Cost reimbursements
Total revenues

13 Weeks Ended September 26, 2019
Reportable Segment
Theatres Hotels/Resorts Corporate
Total
$ 69,753 $
— $
— $ 69,753
—
34,185
—
34,185
57,051
—
—
57,051
—
20,170
—
20,170
9,781
13,003
88
22,872
217
7,214
—
7,431
$ 136,802 $
74,572 $
88 $ 211,462

Theatre admissions
Rooms
Theatre concessions
Food and beverage
Other revenues (1)
Cost reimbursements
Total revenues

39 Weeks Ended September 26, 2019
Reportable Segment
Theatres Hotels/Resorts Corporate
Total
$ 211,777 $
— $
— $ 211,777
—
81,317
—
81,317
172,126
—
—
172,126
—
54,568
—
54,568
29,525
36,386
323
66,234
646
27,333
—
27,979
$ 414,074 $
199,604 $
323 $ 614,001

(1)

Included in other revenues is an immaterial amount related to rental income that is not considered revenue from
contracts with customers.

The Company had deferred revenue from contracts with customers of $36,347,000 and $43,200,000 as of September 24,
2020 and December 26, 2019, respectively. The Company had no contract assets as of September 24, 2020 and December
26, 2019. During the 39 weeks ended September 24, 2020, the Company recognized revenue of $12,444,000 that was
included in deferred revenues as of December 26, 2019. The majority of the Company’s deferred revenue relates to nonredeemed gift cards, advanced ticket sales and the Company’s loyalty program. The decrease in deferred revenue from
December 26, 2019 to September 24, 2020 was due to theatre gift card redemptions and advanced movie ticket
redemptions during the 39 weeks ended September 24, 2020.
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As of September 24, 2020, the amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the
Company’s advanced ticket sales was $4,631,000 and is reflected in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as part of
deferred revenues, which is included in other accrued liabilities. The Company recognizes revenue as the tickets are
redeemed, which is expected to occur within the next two years.
As of September 24, 2020, the amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations related to
the amount of Hotels and Resorts non-redeemed gift cards was $2,679,000 and is reflected in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet as part of deferred revenues. The Company recognizes revenue as the gift cards are redeemed, which is
expected to occur within the next two years.
The majority of the Company’s revenue is recognized in less than one year from the original contract.
New Accounting Pronouncements – On December 27, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
No. 2018-14, Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit Plans—General, designed to add, remove and clarify
disclosure requirements related to defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans. The adoption of the new standard
did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or footnote disclosures.
On December 27, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which eliminates Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test that had required a
hypothetical purchase price allocation. Rather, entities will apply the same impairment assessment to all reporting units and
recognize an impairment loss for the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, without
exceeding the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Entities will continue to have the option to perform
a qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment test is necessary. The adoption of
the new standard did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
On December 27, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The purpose of ASU No. 2018-13 is to
improve the disclosures related to fair value measurements in the financial statements. The improvements include the
removal, modification and addition of certain disclosure requirements primarily related to Level 3 fair value measurements.
The adoption of the new standard did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or
footnote disclosures.
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic
740): Simplifying the Accounting for Incomes Taxes. The amendments in ASU No. 2019-12 are designed to simplify the
accounting for incomes taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. The amendments also
improve consistent application of and simplify generally accepted accounting principles for other areas of Topic 740 by
clarifying and amending existing guidance. ASU No. 2019-12 is effective for the Company in fiscal 2021 and early
application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect the new standard will have on its consolidated
financial statements.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The amendments in this update provide optional expedients and exceptions
for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that
reference London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of
reference rate reform. ASU No. 2020-14 is effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company will
evaluate the effect the new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements when a replacement rate is chosen.
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In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20)
and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible
Instruments and Contracts in an Entity's Own Equity. Subtopic 470-20 is designed to simplify the accounting for certain
financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an
entity's own equity. The amendments remove the separation models in ASC 470-20 for certain contracts. As a result,
embedded conversion features would not be presented separately in equity, rather, the contract would be accounted for as a
single liability measured at its amortized cost. Subtopic 815-40 simplifies the analysis of whether an embedded conversion
feature meets the derivative scope exception for contracts that are indexed to, and classified in, stockholders equity, as well
as addresses the computation of earnings per shares for convertible debt instruments. ASU No. 2020-06 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 using either a modified retrospective method of transition or a fully
retrospective method of transition. Early adoption is permitted no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2020. The Company plans on early adopting ASU No. 2020-06 in fiscal 2021 and is currently evaluating the effect the new
standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.
2. Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on the world and both of the Company’s business segments.
The situation continues to be volatile and the social and economic effects are widespread. As an operator of movie theatres,
hotels and resorts, restaurants and bars, each of which consists of spaces where customers and guests gather in close
proximity, the Company’s businesses are significantly impacted by protective actions that federal, state and local
governments have taken to control the spread of the pandemic. These actions have included, among other things, declaring
national and state emergencies, encouraging social distancing, restricting freedom of movement and congregation,
mandating non-essential business closures, issuing curfews, limiting business capacity, mandating mask-wearing and
issuing shelter-in-place, quarantine and stay-at-home orders.
As a result of these measures, the Company temporarily closed all of its theatres on March 17, 2020, and did not generate
any significant revenues from its theatre operations during its fiscal 2020 second quarter and the first two months of its
fiscal 2020 third quarter (other than revenues from six theatres opened on a very limited basis in June 2020 primarily to test
new operating protocols, five parking lot cinemas, and some limited online and curbside sales of popcorn, pizza and other
assorted food and beverage items). As of August 28, 2020, the Company had reopened approximately 80% of its theatres,
although seating capacity at reopened theatres has been reduced in response to COVID-19 as a way to ensure proper social
distancing. Early in the Company’s fiscal 2020 fourth quarter, the Company temporarily closed several theatres due to
changes in the release schedule for new films. As of the date of this report, approximately 66% of the Company’s theatres
remain open. Temporarily closed theatres are ready to quickly reopen as new films are released and demand returns.
The Company also temporarily closed all of its hotel division restaurants and bars at approximately the same time as its
theatres and closed five of its eight company-owned hotels and resorts on March 24, 2020 due to a significant reduction in
occupancy at those hotels. The Company closed its remaining three company-owned hotels in early April 2020. It reopened four of its company-owned hotels and several of its restaurants and bars during June 2020, which together are
generating significantly reduced revenues as compared to prior years. The Company reopened three of its four remaining
company-owned hotels during the Company’s fiscal 2020 third quarter. As such, as of the date of this report, seven of the
Company’s eight company-owned hotels and most of its managed hotels are open.
Since the COVID-19 crisis began, the Company has been working proactively to preserve cash. In addition to obtaining
additional financing and modifying previously existing debt covenants (see Note 5), additional measures the Company has
already taken and intends to take in the future to enhance liquidity include:
●
●
●
●

Discontinuing all non-essential operating and capital expenditures;
Temporarily laying off the majority of its hourly theatre and hotel associates, in addition to temporarily reducing
property management and corporate office staff levels;
Temporarily reducing the salary of the Company’s chairman and president and chief executive officer by 50%, as
well as temporarily reducing the salary of all other executives and remaining divisional/corporate staff;
Temporarily eliminating all board of directors cash compensation;
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●
●
●
●

Temporarily suspending quarterly dividend payments;
Actively working with landlords and major suppliers to modify the timing and terms of certain contractual
payments;
Evaluating the provisions of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the “CARES
Act”) and utilizing the benefits, relief and resources under those provisions as appropriate (See Note 7); and
Evaluating the provisions of any subsequent federal or state legislation enacted as a response to the COVID-19
pandemic.

During the Company's second quarter, the Company successfully applied for and received funds under the CARES Act
Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) that allowed it to rehire many of its hotel associates for eight weeks during the second
quarter of fiscal 2020, as well as fund certain other permitted expenses. The Company's amended credit agreement (see
Note 5) also allows the Company to consider additional borrowings from governmental authorities under provisions of the
CARES Act or any other subsequent governmental actions that it could avail itself of if it deemed it necessary and
appropriate. Although the Company has sought and obtained, and intends to continue to seek, any available potential
benefits under the CARES Act, including those described above, it cannot predict the manner in which such benefits will
be allocated or administered, and it cannot assure shareholders that it will be able to access such benefits in a timely
manner or at all. The Company also cannot assure that potential benefits under the CARES Act will not be amended or
eliminated under any subsequent governmental actions.
Certain state and local governmental restrictions have been lifted or relaxed in the vast majority of the markets in which the
Company operates theatres, allowing certain of its movie theatres to reopen. On June 11, 2020, the Company announced a
phased reopening plan that began with the opening on June 19, 2020 of six of its theatres in multiple markets on a limited
basis. After initially reopening approximately 80% of its theatres as of August 28, 2020 in time for the release of several
new films, including Tenet from Warner Brothers, the Company has subsequently temporarily reclosed several theatres due
to changes in the release schedule for new films.
When the Company closed its hotels, it was not because of any governmental requirements to close. The Company’s
restaurants and bars within its hotels were required to close, but the hotels themselves were considered “essential
businesses” under most definitions. The Company closed its hotels due to a significant drop in demand that made it
financially prudent for it to close rather than stay open. As a result, the timing of reopening the hotels and resorts has been
driven by demand, as individual and business travelers begin to travel more freely once again. The economic environment
in place as this reopening happens will have a significant impact on the pace of the Company’s return to “normal” hotel
operations.
The COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting impact on the Company's operating performance has affected, and may
continue to affect, the estimates and assumptions made by management. Such estimates and assumptions include, among
other things, the Company's goodwill and long-lived asset valuations and the measurement of compensation costs for
annual and long-term incentive plans. Events and changes in circumstances arising after September 24, 2020, including
those resulting from the impacts of COVID-19, will be reflected in management's estimates for future periods.
The Company believes that the actions that have been taken will allow it to have sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations
as they come due and to comply with its debt covenants for at least 12 months from the issuance date of these unaudited
consolidated financial statements. However, future compliance with the Company’s debt covenants could be impacted if
the Company is unable to resume operations as currently expected. Future compliance with debt covenants could also be
impacted if the speed of recovery of the Company’s theatres and hotels and resorts businesses is slower than currently
expected. For example, the Company’s current expectations are that its theatre division will significantly underperform
during the Company’s fiscal 2020 fourth quarter and fiscal 2021 first quarter compared to the prior year, improve during
the fiscal 2021 second quarter (but still report results materially below the prior year), before beginning to return to closerto-normal performance during the second half of fiscal 2021. The current expectations for the theatre division are based on
the Company’s anticipated timing of the release of new movies by the studios and the Company’s expectations of consumer
attendance levels in the future. The Company’s current expectations for its hotels and resorts division are that it will
continue to significantly underperform during the Company’s fiscal 2020 fourth quarter and fiscal 2021 first quarter
compared to the prior year, before beginning to show improvement in each succeeding quarter compared to its current
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state. The Company does not expect to return to pre-COVID-19 occupancy levels during the remainder of fiscal 2020 or
fiscal 2021.
3. Impairment Charges
During the 13 weeks ended March 26, 2020, the Company determined that indicators of impairment were evident at all
asset groups. For certain theatre asset groups, the sum of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows attributable to these
assets was less than their carrying amount. The Company evaluated the fair value of these assets, consisting primarily of
leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, and operating lease right-of-use assets less lease obligations,
and determined that the fair value, measured using Level 3 pricing inputs (using estimated discounted cash flows over the
life of the primary asset, including estimated sale proceeds) was less than their carrying values and recorded a $6,512,000
impairment loss, reducing certain property and equipment and certain operating lease right-of-use assets. The remaining
net book value of the impaired assets was $13,686,000 as of March 26, 2020, excluding any applicable remaining lease
obligations.
During the 13 weeks ended September 24, 2020, the Company determined that indicators of impairment were evident at
certain theatre and hotel asset groups. For certain of the theatre asset groups evaluated for impairment, the sum of the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows attributable to these assets was less than their carrying amount. The Company
evaluated the fair value of these assets, consisting primarily of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment,
and operating lease right-of-use assets less lease obligations, and determined that the fair value, measured using Level 3
pricing inputs (using estimated discounted cash flows over the life of the primary asset, including estimated sale proceeds)
was less than their carrying values and recorded a $765,000 impairment loss, reducing certain property and equipment and
certain operating lease right-of-use assets. The remaining net book value of the impaired assets was $7,221,000 as of
September 24, 2020, excluding any applicable remaining lease obligations.
During the 13 weeks ended March 26, 2020 and 13 weeks ended September 24, 2020, the Company determined that
indicators of impairment were evident related to its trade name intangible asset. The Company estimated the fair value of
its trade name intangible asset as of March 26, 2020 and September 24, 2020 using an income approach, specifically the
relief from royalty method, which uses certain assumptions that are Level 3 pricing inputs, including future revenues
attributable to the trade name, a royalty rate (1.0% as of March 26, 2020 and September 24, 2020) and a discount rate
(17.0% as of March 26, 2020 and September 24, 2020). During the 13 weeks ended March 26, 2020, the Company
determined that the fair value of the asset was less than the carrying value and recorded a $2,200,000 impairment loss.
During the 13 weeks ended September 24, 2020, the Company determined that the fair value of the asset was greater than
its carrying value and thus was not impaired at that time. The fair value of the trade name intangible asset was $7,300,000
as of September 24, 2020.
4. Acquisition
On February 1, 2019, the Company acquired 22 dine-in theatres with 208 screens located in nine Southern and Eastern
states from VSS-Southern Theatres LLC (Movie Tavern) for a total purchase price of $139,310,000, consisting of
$30,000,000 in cash, subject to certain adjustments, and 2,450,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock with a value of
$109,197,000, based on the Company’s closing share price as of January 31, 2019. During the 39 weeks ended September
26, 2019, the Company incurred acquisition costs as a result of the Movie Tavern acquisition of approximately $1,283,000
which were expensed as incurred and included in administrative expense in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss).
The purchase price allocation was finalized in fiscal 2019 using Level 3 pricing inputs and is reflected in the consolidated
balance sheets for the periods presented.
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5. Long-Term Debt and Short-Term Borrowings
Long-term debt is summarized as follows:
September 24,2020
Mortgage notes
Senior notes
Unsecured term note due February 2025, with monthly principal and interest
payments of $39,110, bearing interest at 5.75%
Convertible senior notes
Payroll Protection Program loans
Revolving credit agreement
Debt issuance costs

$

Less current maturities, net of issuance costs
$

December 26, 2019

(in thousands, except payment data)

24,482
100,000

1,827
76,655
3,147
10,000
(3,827)
212,284
12,927
199,357

$

$

24,571
109,000
2,093
—
—
81,000
(322)
216,342
9,910
206,432

Credit Agreement and Short-Term Borrowings
On January 9, 2020, the Company entered into the Credit Agreement with several banks. On April 29, 2020, the Company
entered into the First Amendment, and on September 15, 2020, the Company entered into the Second Amendment (the
Credit Agreement, as amended by the First Amendment and the Second Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”). The
Second Amendment became effective on September 22, 2020.
The Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility that matures on January 9, 2025 with an initial maximum
aggregate amount of availability of $225,000,000. The First Amendment provided a new $90,800,000 364-day Senior
Term Loan A (the “Term Loan A”). The Company used the proceeds from the Term Loan A to repay borrowings under the
Credit Agreement, to pay costs and expenses related to the First Amendment, and for general corporate purposes. In
conjunction with the Second Amendment, among other things, the maturity date of the Term Loan A was extended to
September 22, 2021, and various debt covenant requirements were amended as further discussed below. The $90,800,000
Term Loan A, net of debt issuance costs of $868,000, is included in short-term borrowings on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of September 24, 2020 and bears interest at 3.75% as of September 24, 2020.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement generally bear interest at a variable rate equal to: (i) LIBOR, subject to a 1% floor,
plus a specified margin based upon the Company's consolidated debt to capitalization ratio as of the most recent
determination date; or (ii) the base rate (which is the highest of (a) the prime rate, (b) the greater of the federal funds rate
and the overnight bank funding rate plus 0.50% or (c) the sum of 1% plus one-month LIBOR), subject to a 1% floor, plus a
specified margin based upon the Company's consolidated debt to capitalization ratio as of the most recent determination
date. In addition, the Credit Agreement generally requires the Company to pay a facility fee equal to 0.125% to 0.25% of
the total revolving commitment, depending on its consolidated debt to capitalization ratio, as defined in the Credit
Agreement. However, pursuant to the First Amendment and the Second Amendment: (A) in respect of revolving loans, (1)
the Company is charged a facility fee equal to 0.40% of the total revolving credit facility commitment and (2) the specified
margin is 2.35% for LIBOR borrowings and 1.35% for ABR borrowings, which facility fee rate and specified margins will
remain in effect until the end of the first fiscal quarter ending after the end of any period in which any portion of the term
loan facility remains outstanding or the testing of any financial covenant in the Credit Agreement is suspended (the
“specified period”); and (B) in respect of term loans, the specified margin is 2.75% for LIBOR borrowings and 1.75% for
ABR borrowings, in each case, at all times.
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The Credit Agreement contains various restrictions and covenants applicable to the Company. Among other requirements,
the Credit Agreement (a) limits the amount of priority debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement) held by the Company’s
restricted subsidiaries to no more than 20% of the Company’s consolidated total capitalization (as defined in the Credit
Agreement), (b) limits the Company’s permissible consolidated debt to capitalization ratio to a maximum of 0.55 to 1.0, (c)
requires the Company to maintain a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 3.0 to 1.0 as of the end of the fiscal
quarter ending September 29, 2022 and each fiscal quarter thereafter, (d) restricts the Company’s ability to incur additional
indebtedness, pay dividends and other distributions, and make voluntary prepayments on or defeasance of the Company’s
4.02% Senior Notes due August 2025, 4.32% Senior Notes due February 2027, the notes or certain other convertible
securities, (e) requires the Company’s consolidated EBITDA not to be less than or equal to (i) $0 as of September 30, 2021
for the fiscal quarter then ending, (ii) $20,000,000 as of December 30, 2021 for the two consecutive fiscal quarters then
ending, (iii) $35,000,000 as of March 31, 2022 for the three consecutive fiscal quarters then ending or (iv) $60,000,000 as
of June 30, 2022 for the four consecutive fiscal quarters then ending, (f) requires the Company’s consolidated liquidity not
to be less than or equal to (i) $125,000,000 as of September 24, 2020, (ii) $125,000,000 as of December 31, 2020, (iii)
$100,000,000 as of April 1, 2021, (iv) $100,000,000 as of July 1, 2021, or (v) $50,000,000 as of the end of any fiscal
quarter thereafter until and including the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2022; however, each such required minimum
amount of consolidated liquidity would be reduced to $50,000,000 for each such testing date if the initial term loans are
paid in full as of such date, and (g) prohibits the Company from incurring or making capital expenditures, (i) during the
period beginning on April 1, 2020 through and including December 31, 2020 in excess of the sum of $22,500,000 plus
certain adjustments, or (ii) during the Company’s 2021 fiscal year in excess of $50 million plus certain adjustments.
Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company is required to apply net cash proceeds received from certain events,
including certain asset dispositions, casualty losses, condemnations, equity issuances, capital contributions, and the
incurrence of certain debt, to prepay outstanding term loans. In addition, if, at any time during the specified period, the
Company’s unrestricted cash on hand exceeds $75,000,000, the Credit Agreement requires the Company to prepay
revolving loans under the Credit Agreement by the amount of such excess, without a corresponding reduction in the
revolving commitments under the Credit Agreement.
In connection with the Credit Agreement: (i) the Company has pledged, subject to certain exceptions, security interests and
liens in and on (a) substantially all of its respective personal property assets and (b) certain of its respective real property
assets, in each case, to secure the Credit Agreement and related obligations; and (ii) certain of the Company’s subsidiaries
have guaranteed the Company’s obligations under the Credit Agreement. The foregoing security interests, liens and
guaranties will remain in effect until the Collateral Release Date (as defined in the Credit Agreement).
The Credit Agreement contains customary events of default. If an event of default under the Credit Agreement occurs and
is continuing, then, among other things, the lenders may declare any outstanding obligations under the Credit Agreement to
be immediately due and payable and exercise rights and remedies against the pledged collateral.
Amendments to Note Purchase Agreements
The Company’s $100,000,000 of senior notes consist of two Purchase Agreements maturing in 2021 through 2027, require
annual principal payments in varying installments and bear interest payable semi-annually at fixed rates ranging from
4.02% to 4.32%.
On September 15, 2020, the Company and certain purchasers entered into amendments (the “Note Amendments”) to the
Note Purchase Agreement, dated June 27, 2013, and the Note Purchase Agreement, dated December 21, 2016 (collectively,
the “Note Purchase Agreements”). The Note Amendments amend certain covenants and other terms of the Note Purchase
Agreements and are identical to the amended covenants that are referenced in the Credit Agreement section above.
Additionally, from September 22, 2020 until the last day of the first fiscal quarter ending after the Collateral Release Date
(as defined in the Note Amendments), the Company is required to pay a fee to each Note holder in an amount equal to
0.975% of the aggregate principal amount of Notes held by such holder. Such fee is payable quarterly (0.24375% of the
aggregate principal amount of the Notes per quarter) commencing with the fiscal quarter ending September 24, 2020.
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In connection with the Note Amendments: (i) the Company has pledged, subject to certain exceptions, security interests
and liens in and on (a) substantially all of their respective personal property assets and (b) certain of their respective real
property assets, in each case, to secure the Notes and related obligations; and (ii) certain subsidiaries of the Company have
guaranteed the Company's obligations under the Note Purchase Agreements and the Notes. The foregoing security
interests, liens and guaranties will remain in effect until the Collateral Release Date.
The Note Purchase Agreements contain customary events of default. If an event of default under the Note Purchase
Agreements occurs and is continuing, then, among other things, all Notes then outstanding become immediately due and
payable and the Note holders may exercise their rights and remedies against the pledged collateral.
Convertible Senior Notes
On September 17, 2020, the Company entered into a purchase agreement to issue and sell $100,050,000 aggregate
principal amount of its 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Convertible Notes.”) The Convertible Notes were
issued pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated September 22, 2020, between the Company and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee. The net proceeds from the sale of the Convertible Notes were approximately $95,487,000
after deducting the Initial Purchasers’ fees and additional estimated fees and expenses related to the offering. The Company
used $16,908,000 of net proceeds from the offering to pay the cost of the Capped Call Transactions (as described below).
The remainder of the net proceeds were used to repay borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility and for
general corporate purposes. The Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations and rank (i) senior in right of payment
to any of the Company’s indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Convertible Notes; (ii)
equal in right of payment to any of the Company’s unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; (iii) effectively
junior in right of payment to any of the Company’s secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing
such indebtedness; and (iv) structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of the
Company’s subsidiaries.
In accounting for the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company separated the Convertible Notes into liability and
equity components. The carrying amount of the liability component was calculated by measuring the fair value of a similar
liability that does not have an associated convertible feature. The carrying amount of the equity component, representing
the conversion option, which does not meet the criteria for separate accounting as a derivative as it is indexed to the
Company's own stock, was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the par value of the
Convertible Notes. The difference between the principal amount of the Convertible Notes and the liability component
represents the debt discount, which is recorded as a direct deduction from the related debt liability in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet and amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the Convertible Notes.
The effective interest rate of the Convertible Notes is 11.25%. The equity component of the Convertible Notes is
approximately $23,426,000 ($16,522,000, net of tax and issuance costs) and is included in additional paid-in capital in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet and is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.
The Company allocated transaction costs related to the Convertible Notes using the same proportions as the proceeds from
Convertible Notes. Transaction costs attributable to the liability component were recorded as a direct deduction from the
related debt liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and are being amortized to interest expense over the term of the
Convertible Notes. Transaction costs attributable to the equity component were netted with the equity component in
shareholders’ equity.
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The Convertible Notes bear interest from September 22, 2020 at a rate of 5.00% per year. Interest will be payable
semiannually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on March 15, 2021. The Convertible Notes
may bear additional interest under specified circumstances relating to the Company’s failure to comply with its reporting
obligations under the Indenture or if the Convertible Notes are not freely tradeable as required by the Indenture. The
Convertible Notes will mature on September 15, 2025, unless earlier repurchased or converted. Prior to March 15, 2025,
the Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders only under the following circumstances: (i) during
any fiscal quarter commencing after the fiscal quarter ending on December 31, 2020 (and only during such fiscal quarter),
if the last reported sale price of the Common Stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period
of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is
greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (ii) during the five business day
period immediately after any five consecutive trading day period, or the measurement period, in which the trading price per
$1,000 principal amount of the Convertible Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the
product of the last reported sale price of the Common Stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; or (iii) upon
the occurrence of specified corporate events. On or after March 15, 2025, the Convertible Notes will be convertible at the
option of the holders at any time until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the
maturity date.
Upon conversion, the Convertible Notes may be settled, at the company’s election, in cash, shares of Common Stock or a
combination thereof. The initial conversion rate is 90.8038 shares of Common Stock per $1,000 principal amount of the
Convertible Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $11.01 per share of Common Stock),
representing an initial conversion premium of approximately 22.5% to the $8.99 last reported sale price of the Common
Stock on The New York Stock Exchange on September 17, 2020. If the Company undergoes certain fundamental changes,
holders of Convertible Notes may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or part of their Convertible Notes for a
purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. In addition, if a make-whole fundamental change
occurs prior to the maturity date, the Company will, under certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate for holders
who convert Convertible Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. The Company may not redeem
the Convertible Notes before maturity and no “sinking fund” is provided for the Convertible Notes. The Indenture includes
covenants customary for securities similar to the Convertible Notes, sets forth certain events of default after which the
Convertible Notes may be declared immediately due and payable and sets forth certain types of bankruptcy or insolvency
events of default involving the Company and certain of its subsidiaries after which the Convertible Notes become
automatically due and payable.
Capped Call Transactions
In connection with the pricing of the Convertible Notes on September 17, 2020, and in connection with the exercise by the
Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional Convertible Notes on September 18, 2020, the Company entered
into privately negotiated Capped Call Transactions (the “Capped Call Transactions”) with certain of the Initial Purchasers
and/or their respective affiliates and/or other financial institutions (the “Capped Call Counterparties”). The Capped Call
Transactions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution of the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of
the Convertible Notes and/or offset any cash payments the Company is required to make in excess of the principal amount
of such converted Convertible Notes, as the case may be, in the event that the market price per share of the Company’s
common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions, is greater than the strike price of the Capped
Call Transactions, which initially corresponds to the conversion price of the Convertible Notes and is subject to antidilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the conversion rate of the Convertible Notes. If, however,
the market price per share of the Company’s common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions,
exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions, there would nevertheless be dilution to the extent that such market
price exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions. The cap price of the Capped Call Transactions will initially be
$17.98 per share (in no event shall the cap price be less than the strike price of $11.0128), which represents a premium of
100% over the last reported sale price of the Common Stock of $8.99 per share on The New York Stock Exchange on
September 17, 2020, and is subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. The Capped
Call Transactions are separate transactions entered into by the Company with the Capped Call Counterparties, are not part
of the terms of the Convertible Notes and will not change the rights of holders of the Convertible Notes under the
Convertible Notes and the Indenture.
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Paycheck Protection Program Loans
During the second quarter of fiscal 2020, 11 of the Company’s subsidiaries received proceeds totaling $13,459,000 under
the CARES Act’s Paycheck Protection Program (PPP). The PPP loans bear interest at a fixed interest rate of 1.0%, require
principal and interest payments beginning in November 2020, and mature in fiscal 2022. The PPP loans allow for a
substantial amount of the principal to be forgiven. Under Section 1106 of the CARES Act, borrowers are eligible for
forgiveness of principal and accrued interest on the loans to the extent that the proceeds are used to cover eligible payroll
costs, mortgage interest costs, rent and utility costs (qualified expenses). As of September 24, 2020, the Company’s
subsidiaries used a cumulative total of approximately $10,312,000 of the PPP loan proceeds to pay for qualified expenses.
Of the cumulative proceeds used, approximately $9,371,000 of the expenditures paid were used to cover eligible employee
payroll costs which offset the payroll costs of employees rehired due to the CARES Act. The remaining approximately
$941,000 of expenditures paid were used to offset rent expense, utility costs and mortgage interest expense. The Company
believes the portion of the PPP loan proceeds used for qualified expenses will be forgiven under the terms of the CARES
Act program and has reduced its cumulative subsidiary loan balances by this amount. The remaining loan balances that
have not been used for qualified expenses and are expected to be repaid total $3,147,000 as of September 24, 2020, of
which $1,938,000 is included in current maturities of long-term debt, and $1,209,000 is included in long-term debt on the
consolidated balance sheet. As of September 24, 2020, the amount of unused PPP loan proceeds is included in Restricted
Cash on the consolidated balance sheet.
Derivatives
The Company utilizes derivatives principally to manage market risks and reduce its exposure resulting from fluctuations in
interest rates. The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk-management objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions.
The Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements on March 1, 2018 covering $50,000,000 of floating rate debt.
The first agreement has a notional amount of $25,000,000, expires March 1, 2021, and requires the Company to pay
interest at a defined rate of 2.559% while receiving interest at a defined variable rate of one-month LIBOR (1.875% at
September 24, 2020). The second agreement has a notional amount of $25,000,000, expires March 1, 2023, and requires
the Company to pay interest at a defined rate of 2.687% while receiving interest at a defined variable rate of one-month
LIBOR (1.875% at September 24, 2020). The Company recognizes derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative
instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and on the type of
hedging relationship. Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting must be adjusted to fair value through earnings.
For derivatives that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the
derivative is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified into earnings in
the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The Company’s interest rate swap
agreements are considered effective and qualify as cash flow hedges. The Company assesses, both at the inception of each
hedge and on an on-going basis, whether the derivatives that are used in its hedging transactions are highly effective in
offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items. As of September 24, 2020, the interest rate swaps were considered
highly effective. The fair value of the interest rate swaps on September 24, 2020 was a liability of $1,890,000, of which,
$307,000 is included in other accrued liabilities and $1,583,000 is included in deferred compensation and other in the
consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of the interest rate swap on December 26, 2019, was a liability of $1,194,000
and was included in deferred compensation and other in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company does not expect the
interest rate swaps to have a material effect on earnings within the next 12 months.
6. Leases
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. The Company evaluates each lease for classification as
either a finance lease or an operating lease according to accounting guidance ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The
Company performs this evaluation at the inception of the lease and when a modification is made to a lease. The Company
leases real estate and equipment with lease terms of one year to 45 years, some of which include options to extend and/or
terminate the lease.
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The majority of the Company’s lease agreements include fixed rental payments. For those leases with variable payments
based on increases in an index subsequent to lease commencement, such payments are recognized as variable lease expense
as they occur. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate, including those that depend on the
Company’s performance or use of the underlying asset, are also expensed as incurred. Lease expense for operating lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Total lease cost consists of the following:

Lease Cost
Finance lease costs:
Amortization of finance lease assets
Interest on lease liabilities

Classification

Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense

13 Weeks
Ended
September 24, 2020

39 Weeks
Ended
September 24, 2020
(in thousands)

$

707
263
970

$

6,357
124
113
6,594

$

$
Operating lease costs:
Operating lease costs
Variable lease cost
Short-term lease cost

Rent expense
Rent expense
Rent expense

$

$

2,137
794
2,931

$

19,236
371
269
19,876

$

Additional information related to leases is as follows:
39 Weeks
Ended
September 24, 2020
(in thousands)

Other Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Financing cash flows from finance leases
Operating cash flows from finance leases
Operating cash flows from operating leases

$

1,389
794
11,376

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:
Finance lease liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

1,364
9,644
September 24, 2020
(in thousands)

Finance leases:
Property and equipment – gross
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment - net

$
$
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75,291
(54,817)
20,474

Remaining lease terms and discount rates are as follows:
Lease Term and Discount Rate
Weighted-average remaining lease terms:
Finance leases
Operating leases

September 24, 2020
9 years
15 years

Weighted-average discount rates:
Finance leases
Operating leases

4.58 %
4.54 %

As of September 24, 2020, the Company had a build-to-suit lease arrangement in which the Company is responsible for the
construction of a new leased theatre and for paying construction costs during development. Construction costs will be
reimbursed by the landlord up to an agreed upon amount. During construction, the Company is deemed to not have control
of the assets or the leased premises and has recorded the development expenditures in other assets on the consolidated
balance sheet. The project is currently on hold due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company temporarily closed all of its theatres on March 17, 2020 and had
temporarily closed all of its company-owned hotels by April 8, 2020. At that time, the Company began actively working
with landlords to discuss changes to the timing of lease payments and contract terms of leases due to the pandemic. The
lease terms were negotiated on a lease-by-lease basis with individual landlords. In conjunction with these lease discussions,
the Company obtained lease concessions for the majority of its leases. Substantially all of the lease concessions were for
the deferral of lease payments into future periods. This resulted in the total payments required by the modified contract
being substantially the same as or less than the total payments required by the original contract. In accordance with FASB
Staff Q&A – Topic 842 and Topic 840: Accounting for Lease Concessions Related to the Effects of the COVID-19
Pandemic issued in April 2020, the Company has made the policy election to account for these lease concessions as if they
were made under the enforceable rights included in the original agreement and are thus outside of the modification
framework. The Company has elected to account for these concessions as if no changes to the lease contract were made
and has continued to recognize rent expense during the deferral period. Deferred rent payments of approximately
$7,783,000 for the Company’s operating leases have been included in the total operating lease obligations as of September
24, 2020, of which approximately $1,226,000 is included in long-term operating lease obligations.
7. Income Taxes
The Company’s effective income tax rate, adjusted for earnings (losses) from noncontrolling interests, for the 13 and 39
weeks ended September 24, 2020 was 26.9% and 37.3%, respectively, and was 25.3% and 23.4% for the 13 and 39 weeks
ended September 26, 2019, respectively. The Company’s effective income tax rate during the 13 and 39 weeks ended
September 24, 2020 benefitted from several accounting method changes and the March 27, 2020 signing of the CARES
Act, one of the provisions of which allows the Company’s 2019 and 2020 taxable losses to be carried back to prior fiscal
years during which the federal income tax rate was 35%, compared to the current statutory federal income tax rate of 21%.
The Company does not include the income tax expense or benefit related to the net earnings or loss attributable to
noncontrolling interests in its income tax expense as the entity is considered a pass-through entity and, as such, the income
tax expense or benefit is attributable to its owners.
The Company has evaluated the provisions of the CARES Act. Among other things, the CARES Act includes provisions
relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer-side social security payments, net operating loss carryback
periods, alternative minimum tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical
corrections to tax depreciation methods for qualified improvement property. After reviewing these provisions, the
Company filed income tax refund claims of approximately $37,400,000 in the third quarter of fiscal 2020, with the primary
benefit derived from several accounting method changes and new rules for qualified improvement property expenditures
and net operating loss carrybacks. Early in its fourth quarter, the Company received $31,500,000 of the requested tax
refunds. The Company also expects to apply a significant portion of an anticipated tax loss to be incurred in fiscal 2020 to
prior year income, which may also result in a refund that may approximate $21,000,000 in fiscal 2021 when the
Company’s fiscal 2020 tax return is filed (with possible tax loss carryforwards that may be used in future years).
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8. Business Segment Information
The Company’s primary operations are reported in the following business segments: Theatres and Hotels/Resorts.
Corporate items include amounts not allocable to the business segments. Corporate revenues consist principally of rent and
the corporate operating loss includes general corporate expenses. Corporate information technology costs and accounting
shared services costs are allocated to the business segments based upon several factors, including actual usage and segment
revenues.
Following is a summary of business segment information for the 13 weeks and 39 weeks ended September 24, 2020 and
September 26, 2019 (in thousands):
13 Weeks Ended
September 24, 2020
Revenues
Operating loss
Depreciation and amortization

Theatres
$ 7,354
(37,174)
13,353

Hotels/
Resorts
$ 26,178
(6,925)
5,210

Corporate
Items
$
59
(3,888)
127

Total
$ 33,591
(47,987)
18,690

13 Weeks Ended
September 26, 2019
Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization

Theatres
$ 136,802
16,843
13,438

Hotels/
Resorts
$ 74,572
10,580
5,451

Corporate
Items
$
88
(5,036)
337

Total
$ 211,462
22,387
19,226

39 Weeks Ended
September 24, 2020
Revenues
Operating loss
Depreciation and amortization

Theatres
$ 118,414
(78,788)
40,245

Hotels/
Resorts
$ 82,253
(32,459)
15,955

Corporate
Items
$
317
(12,002)
368

Total
$ 200,984
(123,249)
56,568

39 Weeks Ended
September 26, 2019
Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Depreciation and amortization

Theatres
$ 414,074
57,656
37,918

Hotels/
Resorts
$ 199,604
11,443
15,050
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Corporate
Items
$
323
(14,287)
516

Total
$ 614,001
54,812
53,484

THE MARCUS CORPORATION
Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (“MD&A”) and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q are “forward-looking statements” intended to qualify for the safe
harbors from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including the statements made in
the “Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic” section of this MD&A. These forward-looking statements may generally be
identified as such because the context of such statements include words such as we “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect” or
words of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our future plans, objectives or goals are also forward-looking
statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which may cause results to differ
materially from those expected, including, but not limited to, the following: (1) the adverse effects of the COVID-19
pandemic on our theatre and hotels and resorts businesses, results of operations, liquidity, cash flows, financial condition,
access to credit markets and ability to service our existing and future indebtedness; (2) the duration of the COVID-19
pandemic and related government restrictions and social distancing requirements and the level of customer demand
following the relaxation of such requirements; (3) the availability, in terms of both quantity and audience appeal, of motion
pictures for our theatre division (particularly following the COVID-19 pandemic, during which the production of new
movie content has essentially ceased and release dates for motion pictures have been postponed), as well as other industry
dynamics such as the maintenance of a suitable window between the date such motion pictures are released in theatres and
the date they are released to other distribution channels; (4) the effects of adverse economic conditions in our markets,
including but not limited to, those caused by the COVID-19 pandemic; (5) the effects of adverse economic conditions,
including but not limited to, those caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, on our ability to obtain financing on reasonable and
acceptable terms, if at all; (6) the effects on our occupancy and room rates caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the
effects on our occupancy and room rates of the relative industry supply of available rooms at comparable lodging facilities
in our markets once hotels and resorts have more fully reopened; (7) the effects of competitive conditions in our markets;
(8) our ability to achieve expected benefits and performance from our strategic initiatives and acquisitions; (9) the effects
of increasing depreciation expenses, reduced operating profits during major property renovations, impairment losses, and
preopening and start-up costs due to the capital intensive nature of our business; (10) the effects of weather conditions,
particularly during the winter in the Midwest and in our other markets; (11) our ability to identify properties to acquire,
develop and/or manage and the continuing availability of funds for such development; (12) the adverse impact on business
and consumer spending on travel, leisure and entertainment resulting from terrorist attacks in the United States, other
incidents of violence in public venues such as hotels and movie theatres or epidemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic);
(13) a disruption in our business and reputational and economic risks associated with civil securities claims brought by
shareholders; (14) our ability to timely and successfully integrate the Movie Tavern operations into our own circuit; and
(15) our ability to achieve the additional revenues and operating income that we anticipate from our additional week of
operations in fiscal 2020. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties
and other factors, including developments related to the COVID-19 pandemic, some of which are beyond our control and
difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forwardlooking statements. Our forward-looking statements are based upon our assumptions, which are based upon currently
available information, including assumptions about our ability to manage difficulties associated with or related to the
COVID-19 pandemic; the assumption that our theatre closures, hotel closures and restaurant closures are not expected to
be permanent or to re-occur; the continued availability of our workforce; and the temporary and long-term effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic on our business. Shareholders, potential investors and other readers are urged to consider these
factors carefully in evaluating the forward-looking statements and are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such
forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements made herein are made only as of the date of this Form 10-Q
and we undertake no obligation to publicly update such forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or
circumstances.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
General
We report our consolidated and individual segment results of operations on a 52-or 53-week fiscal year ending on
the last Thursday in December. Fiscal 2020 is a 53-week year beginning on December 27, 2019 and ending on December
31, 2020. Fiscal 2019 was a 52-week year beginning December 28, 2018 and ended on December 26, 2019.
We divide our fiscal year into three 13-week quarters and a final quarter consisting of 13 or 14 weeks. The third
quarter of fiscal 2020 consisted of the 13-week period beginning June 26, 2020 and ended on September 24, 2020. The
third quarter of fiscal 2019 consisted of the 13-week period beginning on June 28, 2019 and ended on September 26, 2019.
The first three quarters of fiscal 2020 consisted of the 39-week period beginning December 27, 2019 and ended on
September 24, 2020. The first three quarters of fiscal 2019 consisted of the 39-week period beginning on December 28,
2018 and ended on September 26, 2019. Our primary operations are reported in the following two business segments:
movie theatres and hotels and resorts.
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
The COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on the world and both of our business segments. The
situation continues to be volatile and the social and economic effects are widespread. As an operator of movie theatres,
hotels and resorts, restaurants and bars, each of which consists of spaces where customers and guests gather in close
proximity, our businesses are significantly impacted by protective actions that federal, state and local governments have
taken to control the spread of the pandemic, and our customers’ reactions or responses to such actions. These actions have
included, among other things, declaring national and state emergencies, encouraging social distancing, restricting freedom
of movement and congregation, mandating non-essential business closures, issuing curfews, limiting business capacity,
mandating mask-wearing and issuing shelter-in-place, quarantine and stay-at-home orders.
As a result of these measures, we temporarily closed all of our theatres on March 17, 2020, and did not generate
any significant revenues from our theatre operations during our fiscal 2020 second quarter and the first two months of our
fiscal 2020 third quarter (other than revenues from six theatres opened on a very limited basis in June 2020 primarily to test
new operating protocols, five parking lot cinemas, and some limited online and curbside sales of popcorn, pizza and other
assorted food and beverage items). As of August 28, 2020, we had reopened approximately 80% of our theatres, although
seating capacity at our reopened theatres has been reduced in response to COVID-19 as a way to ensure proper social
distancing. Early in our fiscal 2020 fourth quarter, we temporarily closed several theatres due to changes in the release
schedule for new films. As of the date of this report, approximately 66% of our theatres remain open. Temporarily closed
theatres are ready to quickly reopen as new films are released and demand returns.
We also temporarily closed all of our hotel division restaurants and bars at approximately the same time as our
theatres and closed five of our eight company-owned hotels and resorts on March 24, 2020 due to a significant reduction in
occupancy at those hotels. We closed our remaining three company-owned hotels in early April 2020. We re-opened four
of our company-owned hotels and several of our restaurants and bars during June 2020, which together are generating
significantly reduced revenues as compared to prior years. We reopened three of our four remaining company-owned
hotels during our fiscal 2020 third quarter. As such, as of the date of this report, seven of our eight company-owned hotels
and most of our managed hotels are open. The majority of our restaurants and bars in our hotels and resorts are also now
open, operating under applicable state and local restrictions and guidelines.
Maintaining a strong balance sheet has always been a core philosophy of The Marcus Corporation during our 85year history. As a result, we believe we entered the global COVID-19 crisis with a strong financial position. At the end of
fiscal 2019, our debt-to-capitalization ratio was a very modest 26%. Despite all of our theatres being closed during most of
the second and third quarters of fiscal 2020 and our hotels being closed during most of the second quarter of fiscal 2020,
and operating at significantly reduced occupancy levels during the third quarter of fiscal 2020, our financial position
remains strong. As of September 24, 2020, our debt-to-capitalization ratio was 36%, and our net debt-to-capitalization
ratio (debt, net of cash) was 35%.
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Despite our strong financial position, the COVID-19 pandemic has had and is expected to continue to have
adverse effects on our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, access to credit markets and ability to
service our existing and future indebtedness. In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have been working to preserve cash
and ensure sufficient liquidity to endure the impacts of the global crisis, even if prolonged. On April 29, 2020, we entered
into the First Amendment to Credit Agreement (the “First Amendment”) which amended our existing credit agreement
dated January 9, 2020 (the “Credit Agreement”). The First Amendment provided a new $90.8 million 364-day Senior
Term Loan A (the “Term Loan A”) to further support our balance sheet. We used the proceeds from the Term Loan A to
repay borrowings under the Credit Agreement, to pay costs and expenses related to the First Amendment, and for general
corporate purposes. On July 22, 2020, we repaid $55 million of borrowings under our revolving credit facility. On
September 15, 2020, we entered into the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) which
amended the Credit Agreement and, among other things, extended the maturity date of the Term Loan A to September 22,
2021.
In addition, on September 22, 2020, we received $100.05 million of gross proceeds from the issuance of
Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Convertible Notes”). We used a portion of the proceeds from the Convertible
Notes to enter into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain financial institutions in order to reduce the
potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the Convertible Notes. We used the remaining proceeds
from the Convertible Notes to repay borrowings under the Credit Agreement, to pay costs and expenses related to the
Convertible Notes, and for general corporate purposes. Our net proceeds from this offering were approximately $78.6
million (after deducting estimated fees and expenses related to the offering and the cost of the capped call transactions).
This additional financing further enhanced our liquidity, and we believe it positions us to continue to sustain our
operations throughout fiscal 2021, even in the scenario that our properties continue to generate significantly reduced
revenues or even have to re-close. As of September 24, 2020, we had a cash balance of $8.2 million and $210 million of
availability under our $225 million revolving credit facility.
Since the COVID-19 crisis began, we have been working proactively to preserve cash. In addition to temporarily
suspending our quarterly dividend payments as required by the Credit Agreement, as amended, additional measures we
have already taken to enhance our liquidity include:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Discontinuing all non-essential operating and capital expenditures;
Temporarily laying off the majority of our hourly theatre and hotel associates, in addition to temporarily
reducing property management and corporate office staff levels;
Temporarily reducing the salary of our chairman and our president and chief executive officer by 50%, as
well as temporarily reducing the salary of all other executives and remaining divisional/corporate staff;
Temporarily eliminating all board of directors cash compensation;
Actively working with landlords and major suppliers to modify the timing and terms of certain contractual
payments;
Evaluating the provisions of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the “CARES
Act”) and utilizing the benefits, relief and resources under those provisions as appropriate; and
Evaluating the provisions of any subsequent federal or state legislation enacted as a response to the COVID19 pandemic.

After reviewing certain provisions of the CARES Act, we filed income tax refund claims of $37.4 million in the
third quarter of fiscal 2020, with the primary benefit derived from several accounting method changes and new rules for
qualified improvement property and net operating loss carrybacks. Early in our fiscal 2020 fourth quarter, we received
$31.5 million of the requested tax refunds, further adding to the cash balance reported at the end of our fiscal 2020 third
quarter. We also expect to apply a significant portion of our anticipated tax loss to be incurred in fiscal 2020 to prior year
income, which may also result in a refund that we expect may approximate $21.0 million in fiscal 2021 when our fiscal
2020 tax return is filed (with possible tax loss carryforwards that may be used in future years).
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In addition, 11 of our subsidiaries successfully applied for and received a cumulative total of approximately $13.5
million in funds under the CARES Act Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) that allowed our subsidiaries to rehire many of
our hotel associates for eight weeks during the second quarter of fiscal 2020, as well as fund certain other qualifying
expenses (described in detail in the Hotels and Resorts section of this MD&A). Approximately $10.3 million of these
funds were used by our subsidiaries to fund qualifying expenses – the majority of which we would not have incurred
otherwise – i.e. the rehiring of laid off hotel associates despite the underlying hotels being temporarily closed.
Cumulatively, approximately $9.4 million, or 91% of the qualifying expenses paid with these PPP loan proceeds benefitted
associates and did not impact the operating loss of the hotels and resorts division. The remaining approximately $900,000
of qualified expenses paid were used by our subsidiaries to offset rent expense, utility costs and mortgage interest expense.
Approximately $3.1 million of the cumulative PPP loan proceeds have not been used as of September 24, 2020 and
contributed to the increase in net cash provided by financing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020
compared to the prior year. We believe the portion of the PPP loan proceeds used by our subsidiaries for qualifying
expenses will be forgiven under the current terms of the CARES Act. The receipt of these funds, and the forgiveness of the
loans accompanying these funds, is dependent on us having initially qualified for the PPP loan proceeds and qualifying for
the forgiveness of the PPP loan proceeds based on our future adherence to the forgiveness criteria established by the Small
Business Administration (“SBA”). We believe we met the initial qualification for the loans and we believe we will meet
the requirements for forgiveness of qualified expenses.
The Credit Agreement, as amended, also allows us to consider additional borrowings from governmental
authorities under provisions of the CARES Act or any other subsequent governmental actions that we could avail ourselves
of if we deemed it necessary and appropriate. Although we have sought and obtained, and intend to continue to seek, any
available potential benefits under the CARES Act, including those described above, we cannot predict the manner in which
such benefits will be allocated or administered, and we cannot assure that we will be able to access such benefits in a
timely manner or at all. We also cannot assure that potential benefits under the CARES Act will not be amended or
eliminated under any subsequent governmental actions.
It is also important to note our significant real estate ownership. In addition to our owned hotels, unlike most of
our peers, we own the underlying real estate for the majority of our theatres (representing over 60% of our screens),
thereby reducing our monthly fixed lease payments. We believe this real estate ownership is a significant advantage for us
relative to our peers, as it enables us to quickly react to changing theatre trends without requiring landlord approval for
necessary changes, keeps our monthly fixed lease payments low and provides significant underlying credit support for our
balance sheet. We also own surplus real estate that may be monetized in future periods if opportunities arise.
The COVID-19 pandemic and the fact that all of our theatres and the majority of our hotels were closed as of
March 26, 2020, the ending date of our fiscal 2020 first quarter, required us to review many of the assets on our balance
sheet as of March 26, 2020. We increased our allowances for bad debts and wrote off a portion of our food inventories in
both our theatre and hotels and resorts divisions. We reviewed our indefinite life trade name intangible asset and
determined that, as a result of a change in circumstances, the carrying value exceeded fair value, and we reported a pre-tax
impairment charge of $2.2 million during the first quarter of fiscal 2020. We reviewed our long-lived assets, including
property and equipment and operating lease right-of-use assets, for impairment due to the change in circumstances and
determined that an additional pre-tax impairment charge of $6.5 million was required during the first quarter of fiscal 2020
for several theatre properties. We reviewed goodwill at the theatre reporting unit level and determined that the fair value of
our theatre reporting unit exceeded our carrying value as of March 26, 2020 and thus was not impaired as of that date. We
reviewed each of these asset types described above as of September 24, 2020, the end of our third fiscal quarter, and
concluded that no additional impairment charges were required at this time for goodwill and our indefinite life trade name
intangible asset. We did, however, conclude that an additional pre-tax impairment charge of $765,000 was required during
the third quarter of fiscal 2020 for several theatre properties. During the third quarter of fiscal 2020, we determined that the
fair value of our equity method investment in a hotel joint venture was less than its carrying value and recorded an otherthan-temporary impairment loss of approximately $811,000.
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As a result of temporarily closing the majority of our properties, we also incurred approximately $5.5 million of
nonrecurring expenses during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 related primarily to salary continuation payments to
employees temporarily laid off. We incurred an additional $3.0 million of nonrecurring expenses during the second quarter
of fiscal 2020, including additional payments to and on behalf of laid off employees and additional allowances for bad
debts (including the write-off of deferred expenses for a hotel tenant who vacated space because of the COVID-19
pandemic). Nonrecurring expenses during the fiscal 2020 second quarter also included extensive cleaning costs, operating
supplies and employee training, among other items, related to the reopening of selected theatre and hotel properties and
implementing new operating protocols (described in greater detail below). We incurred an additional $1.6 million of
nonrecurring expenses during the third quarter of fiscal 2020, primarily related to additional reopening costs of selected
theatre and hotel properties, as well as additional payments to and on behalf of laid off employees.
Certain state and local governmental restrictions have been lifted or relaxed in the vast majority of the markets in
which we operate theatres, allowing certain of our movie theatres to reopen. On June 11, 2020, we announced a phased
reopening plan that began with the opening on June 19, 2020 of six of our theatres in multiple markets on a limited basis,
with a primary goal of testing new operating protocols in accordance with local health and safety guidelines, and designed
to prioritize the safety and well-being of our associates and guests. After initially reopening approximately 80% of our
theatres as of August 28, 2020 in time for the release of several new films, including Tenet from Warner Brothers, we have
subsequently temporarily reclosed several theatres due to changes in the release schedule for new films. As of the date of
this report, approximately 66% of our theatres remain open. Temporarily closed theatres are ready to quickly reopen as
new films are released and demand returns.
As part of our reopening experience in our theatres, we have introduced our “Movie STAR” approach, which
incorporates new health and safety measures and is in alignment with Centers for Disease Control (CDC) guidelines.
Everyone can be a Movie STAR and play a role in creating a safe environment with social distancing (S); thorough
cleaning (T); app and website ordering of tickets, food and concessions for no-to-low contact interactions (A); and
respecting each other by following these new protocols (R). Specific measures we are implementing in conjunction with
the reopening of theatres include, but are not limited to:
●

●
●
●
●
●
●

Initially reducing each theatre auditorium’s capacity by 50% (or lower depending upon specific local or state
restrictions) and implementing a checkerboard seating pattern that will allow guests to reserve seats together
with two empty seats between groups to allow for proper social distancing in accordance with CDC
guidelines;
Staggering showtimes to limit the number of people in common areas of the theatre and allowing extra time
between shows for thorough cleanings;
Requiring masks to be worn by guests except for when they are eating or drinking in the auditoriums;
Conducting associate wellness checks and requiring the use of face masks, as well as gloves as appropriate,
during the associate’s shift;
Increasing frequency of cleaning (especially high-touch surfaces), providing hand sanitizer throughout the
theatre and introducing signage to encourage proper social distancing;
Encouraging guests to purchase their tickets online or via the Marcus Theatres app; and
Encouraging low-contact food ordering through the Marcus Theatres app and website, with food orders
picked up at a designated area within the theatre.

We expect policies and guidelines will continue to evolve with time and will be assessed and updated on an
ongoing basis. We opened our initial six theatres with reduced operating days (Fridays, Saturdays, Sundays and Tuesdays)
and reduced operating hours. In late August, when we initially reopened the majority of our theatres, we returned to more
standard operating hours and days. As the quantity of new film releases subsided in September 2020, we began reducing
our operating hours and days and currently have returned to being open only on weekends and Tuesdays. While we were
showing and continue to show older “library” film product, admission to those movies is only $5, with no upcharges. As
new movies are released, we have returned to standard pricing for those movies. As more new movies are released, we
currently expect to return to standard operating days, hours and pricing, although likely with reduced seating capacity
initially.
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A reduction in capacity does not necessarily translate to an equal reduction in potential revenues. Reduced
capacity may potentially impact attendance on $5 Tuesdays and on opening weekends of major new film releases, but other
showings may be relatively unaffected given normal attendance counts, and based upon our past experience, we believe
that customers impacted on those $5 Tuesdays and opening weekends may adapt to reduced seat availability by shifting
their attendance to different days and times of day. In addition, as new films are first released, we anticipate dedicating a
larger number of auditoriums to the blockbuster films to increase seating capacity for those movies.
We believe that the exhibition industry has historically fared well during recessions, and we remain optimistic that
the industry will rebound and benefit from pent-up social demand as home sheltering subsides and people seek
togetherness with a return to normalcy. A return to “normalcy” may span multiple months driven by staggered theatre
openings due to government limits, reduced operating hours, lingering social distancing requirements and a gradual rampup of consumer comfort with public gatherings. As described further below in the Theatres section of this MD&A, a
significant number of films originally scheduled to be released in March through November 2020 have been delayed until
later in fiscal 2020 or fiscal 2021, further increasing the quality and quantity of films expected to be available during those
future time periods.
There has been some speculation that the COVID-19 pandemic may result in a change in how film studios
distribute their product in the future, including accelerating the release of films on alternate distribution channels such as
premium video-on-demand (“PVOD”) and streaming services. In a few cases, films that were scheduled to be released to
theatres have instead been released directly to these alternate channels. We believe that these instances are isolated and
were a response to the immediate circumstances of movie theatres being closed or negatively impacted by governmental
restrictions worldwide (including important markets such as New York and Los Angeles) and do not reflect a change in
permanent distribution plans of these studios. Other films with greater expected box office potential from these same
studios were delayed rather than released early and comments from the film community in general have been very
supportive of the importance of the theatrical experience. We also believe that a recently announced arrangement between a
single film studio and a lone large exhibitor that would purportedly allow select films from that studio to be released on
PVOD after 17 days of theatrical exhibition does not currently reflect a change in the theatrical window for all exhibitors
and all film studios. Specific release models are negotiated with distributors and exhibitors individually and we believe
any changes to the existing financial model between exhibitors and film studios would likely only become a workable
industry-wide model with the support of many exhibitors and distributors after each group evaluates the potential risks and
benefits appropriately. The exhibition industry is an $11-$12 billion industry in the U.S. and approximately $40 billion
worldwide, and the film studios derive a significant portion of their return on investment in film content from theatrical
distribution. We believe distributing films in a movie theatre will continue to be an important component of their business
model.
When we closed our hotels, it was not because of any governmental requirements to close. Our restaurants and
bars within our hotels were required to close, but the hotels themselves were considered “essential businesses” under most
definitions. We closed our hotels due to a significant drop in demand that made it financially prudent for us to close rather
than stay open. As a result, the timing of reopening our hotels and resorts has been driven by demand, as individual and
business travelers begin to travel more freely once again. The economic environment in place as this reopening happens
will have a significant impact on the pace of our return to “normal” hotel operations. After past events such as 9/11 and the
2008 financial crisis, hotel demand softened for a period of time, particularly among business transient and group business
travelers as travel budgets tightened in uncertain economic times. Whether the return to more normal demand is relatively
rapid, as it was after 9/11, or occurs over the course of one or more years, as it was after the 2008 financial crisis, is
unknown at this time.
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Late in our fiscal 2020 second quarter, we reopened several of our hotels (including several of our restaurants and
bars), beginning with the Pfister Hotel on June 8, followed by the Grand Geneva Resort & Spa, the Hilton Madison
Monona Terrace and the Skirvin Hilton hotel in subsequent weeks in June. We reopened three of our four remaining
company-owned hotels during our fiscal 2020 third quarter. As expected, the primary initial customer for hotels will come
from the “drive-to leisure” market, as air travel remains significantly reduced and the number of transient and group
business customers will likely remain limited in the near term. Currently, seven of our eight company-owned hotels and
most of our managed hotels are open. We plan to reopen our remaining company-owned hotel during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2020. We will continue to monitor market demand and adjust our operating plans as appropriate.
Overall hotel occupancy in the U.S. has slowly increased since the initial onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in
March. Most current demand continues to come from the drive-to leisure segment. Most organizations implemented travel
bans at the onset of the pandemic and are currently only allowing essential travel, which will likely limit business travel in
the near term. Our company-owned hotels have experienced a significant decrease in group bookings for the remainder of
fiscal 2020 compared to the same period last year. As of the date of this report, our group room revenue bookings for fiscal
2021 - commonly referred to in the hotels and resorts industry as “group pace” - is running significantly behind where we
were last year at this time for fiscal 2020, and a large portion of that decline is because last year’s group bookings included
bookings in anticipation of Milwaukee hosting the Democratic National Convention (DNC) in July 2020. Banquet and
catering revenue pace for fiscal 2021 is also running behind where we were last year at this same time for fiscal 2020, but
not as much as group room revenues, due in part to increases in wedding bookings. Many of our cancelled group bookings
due to COVID-19 are re-booking for future dates, excluding one-time events that could not rebook for future dates such as
those connected to the DNC. However, some group bookings for the first half of fiscal 2021 have subsequently canceled or
postponed their event, and we cannot predict to what extent any of our hotel bookings will be canceled or rescheduled due
to COVID-19 or otherwise.
Like our theatres, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we have reopened our hotels with new operating
protocols. This includes the introduction of our CleanCare Pledge that incorporates the best industry practices and
protocols for operating our hotels, resorts, spas, golf courses and restaurants with an enhanced focus on cleanliness,
sanitization and safety. Key elements and examples of the CleanCare Pledge include:
●
●
●
●

Introducing new processes and easy-to-use technology to create a low-to-no contact experience;
Incorporating social distancing into processes and various spaces;
Outfitting associates with masks and gloves, and making masks available for guests; and
Enhanced cleaning and sanitization protocols that go beyond leading hospitality industry standards and CDC
guidelines.

We cannot assure that the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will not continue to have a material adverse effect
on both our theatre and hotels and resorts businesses, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, access to credit
markets and ability to service our existing and future indebtedness.
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Overall Results
The following table sets forth revenues, operating income (loss), other income (expense), net earnings (loss) and
net earnings (loss) per common share for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 (in
millions, except for per share and variance percentage data):
Third Quarter
F2020

Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense)
Net earnings (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling interests
Net earnings (loss) attributable to
The Marcus Corp.
Net earnings (loss) per common
share - diluted:

F2019

Variance
Amt.
Pct.

$ 33.6 $ 211.5 $ (177.9)
(48.0)
22.4
(70.4)
(6.0)
(3.3)
(2.7)
—

(0.1)

0.1

F2020

First Three Quarters
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

(84.1)% $ 201.0 $ 614.0 $ (413.0)
(314.4)% (123.2)
54.8
(178.0)
(79.9)%
(13.6)
(10.1)
(3.5)
100.0 %

—

—

—

(67.3)%
(324.9)%
(34.6)%
—%

$ (39.4) $ 14.3

$ (53.7)

(376.0)% $ (85.8) $ 34.2

$ (120.0)

(350.8)%

$ (1.30) $ 0.46

$ (1.76)

(382.6)% $ (2.84) $ 1.10

$ (3.94)

(358.2)%

Revenues, operating income (loss), net earnings (loss) attributable to The Marcus Corporation and net earnings
(loss) per common share all decreased during the fiscal 2020 periods compared to the fiscal 2019 periods due to the
temporary closing of all of our theatres and hotels and subsequent significant reduction of revenues upon reopening a
majority of our theatres and hotels as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic as described above. Net earnings (loss)
attributable to The Marcus Corporation during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 benefited from a substantial tax benefit
provided for by the CARES Act.
Our operating performance during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 was negatively impacted by nonrecurring
expenses totaling approximately $1.6 million, or approximately $0.04 per diluted common share, including payments to
and on behalf of laid off employees. Nonrecurring expenses during the fiscal 2020 third quarter also included extensive
cleaning costs, supply purchases and employee training, among other items, related to the reopening of selected theatre and
hotel properties and implementing new operating protocols (described in greater detail above). In addition, impairment
charges related to several theatre locations negatively impacted our fiscal 2020 third quarter operating income by
approximately $765,000, or approximately $0.02 per diluted common share. Our operating performance during the first
three quarters of fiscal 2020 was negatively impacted by nonrecurring expenses totaling approximately $10.1 million, or
approximately $0.23 per diluted common share, related to the expenses in the third quarter described above, as well as
similar expenses incurred in our fiscal 2020 second quarter and expenses incurred (primarily payroll continuation payments
to employees temporarily laid off) due to the closing of all of our movie theatres and the majority of our hotels and resorts
during the last two weeks of the first quarter. In addition, impairment charges related to intangible assets and several
theatre locations negatively impacted our fiscal 2020 first three quarters operating income by approximately $9.5 million,
or approximately $0.22 per diluted common share.
On February 1, 2019, we acquired the assets of Movie Tavern®, a New Orleans-based industry leading circuit
known for its in-theatre dining concept (the “Movie Tavern Acquisition”). Now branded Movie Tavern by Marcus, the
acquired circuit consisted of 208 screens at 22 locations in nine states – Arkansas, Colorado, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana,
New York, Pennsylvania, Texas and Virginia. The purchase price consisted of $30 million in cash, subject to certain
adjustments, and 2,450,000 shares of our common stock for a total purchase price of approximately $139 million, based
upon our closing share price on January 31, 2019. Acquisition and preopening expenses related to the Movie Tavern
Acquisition negatively impacted our operating income during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019 by approximately $2.0
million, or $0.05 per diluted common share.
33

We closed the InterContinental Milwaukee hotel in early January 2019 and began a substantial renovation project
that converted this hotel into an experiential arts hotel named Saint Kate® – The Arts Hotel (the “Saint Kate”). Revenues
from our hotels and resorts division during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019 were unfavorably
impacted by this closing and the negative impact of comparing a newly-opened independent hotel (i.e. the Saint Kate) to a
stabilized branded hotel (i.e. the InterContinental Milwaukee) last year. Division revenues during the first three quarters of
fiscal 2019 were also negatively impacted by a major renovation that occurred at our Hilton Madison hotel during the first
half of fiscal 2019. Our operating income from our hotels and resorts division during the fiscal 2019 periods was
negatively impacted by preopening expenses and initial start-up losses related to the Saint Kate hotel closure and
conversion. These costs totaled approximately $1.6 million, or $0.04 per diluted common share, and $5.5 million, or
$0.13 per diluted common share, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019.
Operating losses from our corporate items, which include amounts not allocable to the business segments,
decreased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2019 due in part to reduced accruals for bonus and donation expenses as a result of operating losses
during the fiscal 2020 periods. Operating losses from corporate items also decreased during the second and third quarters
of fiscal 2020 due to measures taken to increase liquidity, including reductions in corporate staff, reductions in the salaries
of executives and corporate staff and the suspension of board cash compensation.
We recognized investment income of $66,000 and $207,000, respectively, during the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to investment income of $187,000 and $835,000, respectively, during the third quarter
and first three quarters of fiscal 2019. Variations in investment income during both the fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 periods
were due to changes in the value of marketable securities. A significant market decline arising from the COVID-19
pandemic during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 was offset by a market recovery during the second and third quarters of
fiscal 2020.
Our interest expense totaled $4.1 million for the third quarter of fiscal 2020 compared to $2.8 million for the third
quarter of fiscal 2019, an increase of approximately $1.3 million, or 47.2%. Our interest expense totaled nearly $10.2
million for the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to $9.0 million for the first three quarters of fiscal 2019, an
increase of approximately $1.2 million, or 13.6%. The increase in interest expense during the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2020 was due to increased borrowings and an increase in our average interest rate, as discussed in the
Liquidity section of this MD&A below. We expect our interest expense to increase during the remaining quarter of fiscal
2020. Changes in our borrowing levels due to variations in our operating results, capital expenditures, share repurchases
and asset sale proceeds, among other items, may impact our actual reported interest expense in future periods, as would
changes in short-term interest rates and changes in the mix between fixed rate debt and variable rate debt in our debt
portfolio.
We did not have any significant variations in other expenses or losses on disposition of property, equipment and
other assets during the fiscal 2020 periods compared to the fiscal 2019 periods. The timing of periodic sales and disposals
of our property and equipment varies from quarter to quarter, resulting in variations in our reported gains or losses on
disposition of property and equipment.
Equity losses from unconsolidated joint ventures increased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal
2020 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019 due to increased losses and an other-thantemporary impairment loss of approximately $811,000 in which we determined that the fair value of our equity method
investment in a hotel joint venture was less than its carrying value as of September 24, 2020.
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We reported an income tax benefit for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 of $14.5 million and
$51.0 million, respectively, compared to income tax expense of $4.8 million and $10.5 million, respectively, during the
third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019. The large income tax benefit during the fiscal 2020 periods was
primarily the result of the significant losses before income taxes incurred as a result of the closing of the majority of our
properties in March 2020 and the subsequent reduction in our operating performance due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Our
fiscal 2020 income tax benefit was also favorably impacted by an adjustment of approximately $17.4 million, or
approximately $0.56 per share, resulting from several accounting method changes and the March 27, 2020 signing of the
CARES Act. One of the provisions of the CARES Act allows our 2019 and 2020 taxable losses to be carried back to prior
fiscal years during which the federal income tax rate was 35% compared to the current statutory federal income tax rate of
21%. Our fiscal 2020 first three quarters effective income tax rate, after adjusting for earnings (losses) from noncontrolling
interests that are not tax-effected because the entity involved is a tax pass-through entity, was 37.3% and benefitted from
the adjustment described above, compared to our fiscal 2019 first three quarters effective income tax rate of 23.4%.
Excluding this favorable adjustment to income tax benefit, our effective income tax rate during the first three quarters of
fiscal 2020 was 24.5%. We anticipate that our effective income tax rate for the remaining quarter of fiscal 2020 may be in
the 28-29% range due to an expected taxable loss during fiscal 2020 that will continue to allow us to carry back a portion
of the loss to years that had a 35% federal income tax rate. Our actual fiscal 2020 effective income tax rate may be
different from our estimated quarterly rates depending upon actual facts and circumstances.
The operating results of one majority-owned hotel, The Skirvin Hilton, are included in the hotels and resorts
division revenue and operating income during the fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 periods, and the after-tax net earnings or loss
attributable to noncontrolling interests is deducted from or added to net earnings on the consolidated statements of
earnings. We reported net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests of $(23,000) and $46,000, respectively,
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019. As a result of the noncontrolling interest balance reaching
zero during the second quarter of fiscal 2020, we do not expect to report additional net losses attributable to noncontrolling
interests in future periods until the hotel returns to profitability.
Theatres
The following table sets forth revenues, operating income (loss) and operating margin for our theatre division for
the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 (in millions, except for variance percentage and
operating margin):

Third Quarter
F2020

Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Operating margin (% of
revenues)

$

F2019

7.4 $ 136.8
(37.2)
16.8
N/A

Variance
Amt.
Pct.

$ (129.4)
(54.0)

12.3 %

F2020

(94.6)% $ 118.4
(320.7)% (78.8)
(66.5)%

First Three Quarters
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

$ 414.1
57.7

$ (295.7)
(136.5)

(71.4)%
(236.7)%

13.9 %

Our theatre division revenues and operating income (loss) decreased significantly during the third quarter and first
three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019 due entirely to decreased
attendance as a result of the temporary closing of all of our theatres on March 17, 2020 in response to the COVID-19
pandemic. Other than six theatres that were reopened during the last week of the fiscal 2020 second quarter, all of our
theatres remained closed during the majority of the third quarter of fiscal 2020. Additional revenues reported during the
period were the result of five parking lot cinemas opened during the second quarter, curbside sales of popcorn, pizza and
other food items and restaurant takeout sales from our three Zaffiro’s restaurants and bars. Over the seven-day period
between August 21 and August 28, 2020, we reopened a majority of our theatres in conjunction with the release of several
new films, resulting in a total of 72 reopened theatres, representing 80% of our company-owned theatres; however, in early
October we temporarily closed 17 theatres due to the lack of new film releases. We have subsequently reopened four
theatres, and as of the date of this report, we have 59 theatres open representing approximately 66% of our total theatre
circuit.
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Our theatres were open for all but nine days during the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and the revenue impact of
decreased attendance during that period was partially offset by an increase in our average ticket price and average
concession revenues per person compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2019. In addition, our revenues during the first
quarter of fiscal 2020 included an extra month of Movie Tavern revenues (Movie Tavern theatres were not acquired until
February 1, 2019) and a new Movie Tavern theatre opened in Brookfield, Wisconsin during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2019.
Our theatre division operating loss during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 primarily reflects costs that remained
after we temporarily closed all of our theatres and laid off the vast majority of our hourly theatre staff, as well as a portion
of our corporate staff. These costs included a certain number of salaried theatre management staff as well as the remaining
corporate staff, all of whom were subject to a reduction in pay. Additional ongoing costs included utilities and repairs and
maintenance (both at reduced levels), rent, property taxes and depreciation. During the last month of our fiscal 2020 third
quarter, we brought back an appropriate level of theatre and corporate staff to meet anticipated reduced levels of initial new
film supply and customer demand in our recently reopened theatres. Our theatre division operating results during the third
quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 were negatively impacted by nonrecurring expenses totaling approximately
$1.2 million and $4.6 million, respectively, related to expenses incurred (primarily payroll continuation payments to
employees temporarily laid off) due to the closing of all of our movie theatres during the first quarter and subsequent costs
incurred in the second and third quarters of fiscal 2020 for cleaning, supply purchases and employee training, among other
items, related to the reopening of our theatre properties and implementing new operating protocols (described in greater
detail above).
Although rent continued to be expensed monthly, discussions with our landlords resulted in deferral, or in a
limited number of situations, abatements, of the majority of our rent payments during our fiscal 2020 second quarter.
Although the results of negotiations varied by theatre, the most common result of these discussions was a deferral of rent
payments for April, May and June, with repayment generally expected in future periods, most often beginning in calendar
2021. We may discuss additional rent deferrals in the future if new film supply and customer demand dictate that we delay
further reopening or close currently open theatres.
In addition to the significant impact the closing of our theatres during the majority of our second and third
quarters had on our operating loss during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, our theatre division operating income (loss)
and operating margin also decreased during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the first three quarters of
fiscal 2019 due primarily to the impact of the reduced attendance and revenues at comparable theatres during the fiscal
2020 first quarter. Impairment charges reported during our fiscal 2020 third quarter related to several theatre locations and
impairment charges reported during our fiscal 2020 first quarter related to intangible assets and several theatre locations
also negatively impacted our theatre division fiscal 2020 third quarter and first three quarters operating results by
approximately $765,000 and $9.5 million, respectively. Our operating income and operating margin during the first three
quarters of fiscal 2019 was negatively impacted by approximately $2.0 million of acquisition and preopening expenses
related to the Movie Tavern Acquisition.
The following table provides a further breakdown of the components of revenues for the theatre division for the
third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 (in millions, except for variance percentage):

F2020

Third Quarter
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

Admission revenues

$ 3.1

$ 69.8

$ (66.7)

Concession revenues
Other revenues

3.3
0.9

57.0
9.8

(53.7)
(8.9)

(94.3)%
(90.5)%

Cost reimbursements

7.3
0.1

136.6
0.2

(129.3)
(0.1)

(94.7)%
(72.8)%

$ 7.4

$ 136.8

$ (129.4)

Total revenues
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F2020

(95.5)% $ 58.7

First Three Quarters
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

$ 211.8

$ (153.1)

(72.3)%

50.3
9.1

172.1
29.5

(121.8)
(20.4)

(70.8)%
(68.9)%

118.1
0.3

413.4
0.7

(295.3)
(0.4)

(71.4)%
(57.3)%

(94.6)% $ 118.4

$ 414.1

$ (295.7)

(71.4)%

The significant decreases in revenues were due primarily to the temporary closing of all of our theatres on March
17, 2020 through late August 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. As described above, we reopened 72 of our
theatres by August 28, 2020 in conjunction with film studios releasing new films to the marketplace, beginning with
Unhinged on August 21, New Mutants on August 28, and Tenet on September 3. Our highest grossing films during the
limited time we were open during the fiscal 2020 third quarter included Tenet, The New Mutants, Unhinged, Words on
Bathroom Walls and Cut Throat City. We were not able to compare our overall results to the industry this quarter because
of limitations on the data available to us from Rentrak (a national box office reporting service for the theatre industry).
Total theatre attendance decreased 95.6% and 72.8%, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters
of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019, primarily as a result of the closure of our
theatres for over five months during the fiscal 2020 periods. Excluding the weeks that our theatres were closed and only
including the 72 theatres we reopened in August 2020, our comparable theatre attendance decreased approximately 85%
during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 compared to attendance at those same open theatres during the third quarter of fiscal
2019. A significant decrease in the number of new films, the lack of awareness of theatres being open (due in part to
limited new film advertising), ongoing state and local capacity restrictions and customer concerns regarding visiting indoor
businesses contributed to the reductions in attendance during our fiscal 2020 third quarter.
Our average ticket price increased 0.6% and 2.0%, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of
fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019. During the fiscal 2020 third quarter, we
charged our normal pricing for new film releases and charged only $5.00 for older “library” film product, which negatively
impacted our average ticket price compared to the prior year. Our average concession revenues per person increased by
28.0% and 7.2%, respectively, during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter
and first three quarters of fiscal 2019. We believe a change in concession product mix, including increased sales of nontraditional food and beverage items from our increased number of Take Five LoungeSM, Zaffiro’s® Express, Reel Sizzle®
and in-theatre dining outlets, contributed to our increased average concession sales per person during the fiscal 2020
periods. We also believe the significant increase in our average concession revenues per person during our fiscal 2020
third quarter may be attributed to shorter lines at our concession stand due to reduced attendance (during periods of high
attendance, some customers do not purchase concessions because the line is too long). We also believe that an increased
percentage of customers buying their concessions in advance using our web site or our mobile app likely also contributed
to higher average concession revenues per person, as our experience has shown that customers are more likely to purchase
more items when they order and pay electronically.
The film product release schedule for the remainder of fiscal 2020 has been changing in response to reduced nearterm customer demand and changing state and local restrictions in various key markets in the U.S. and the world as a result
of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, restrictions in New York and California have been cited by film studios
as a reason for not releasing new movies, as these markets are particularly important to a film’s success. As a result,
several films originally scheduled to be released in September, October and November have been delayed or released to
alternative consumer channels. In early October, we temporarily closed 17 theatres due to this lack of new film releases.
We have subsequently reopened four theatres, and as of the date of this report, we have 59 theatres open, representing
approximately 66% of our total theatre circuit. We hope to keep these remaining theatres open during this near-term
period, despite our expectation that we will not have any significant new films released until late November, at the earliest.
We have reduced our operating days, hours and staffing requirements accordingly, with a goal of trying to at least not lose
more money at these theatres than we would being closed.
As of the date of this report, there are several films still scheduled to be released during the remaining months of
the year that may generate substantial box office interest, including The Croods 2, Free Guy, Death on the Nile, Wonder
Woman 1984 and News of the World, although it is possible that more schedule changes may occur. The anticipated film
slate for 2021, which will also now include multiple films originally scheduled for 2020, is currently expected to be very
strong. Revenues for the theatre business and the motion picture industry in general are heavily dependent on the general
audience appeal of available films, together with studio marketing, advertising and support campaigns and the maintenance
of the current “windows” between the date a film is released in theatres and the date a motion picture is released to other
channels, including video on-demand and DVD. These are factors over which we have limited or no control.
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We ended the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 with a total of 1,104 company-owned screens in 90 theatres and
six managed screens in one theatre, compared to 1,092 company-owned screens in 89 theatres and six managed screens in
one theatre at the end of the first half of fiscal 2019. We opened a new eight-screen Movie Tavern by Marcus theatre in
Brookfield, Wisconsin early in our fiscal 2019 fourth quarter and added four new screens to an existing Movie Tavern
theatre during the first quarter of fiscal 2020. We also completed the addition of DreamLoungerSM recliner seating and
added a new SuperScreen DLX® to that same Movie Tavern theatre during the first quarter of fiscal 2020. Early in our
fiscal 2020 third quarter, we completed the addition of DreamLounger recliner seating to an existing Movie Tavern theatre.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2020, we began a project that would add DreamLounger recliner seating, as well as Reel
Sizzle and Take Five Lounge outlets, to a Marcus Wehrenberg theatre, but this project has temporarily been put on hold as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We also stopped construction of a new nine-screen theatre in Tacoma, Washington and
our future plans for this project are currently not determined.
Hotels and Resorts
The following table sets forth revenues, operating income (loss) and operating margin for our hotels and resorts
division for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 (in millions, except for variance
percentage and operating margin):
Third Quarter

Revenues
Operating income (loss)
Operating margin (% of
revenues)

F2020

F2019

$ 26.2
(6.9)

$ 74.6
10.6

(26.5)%

Variance
Amt.
Pct.

$ (48.4)
(17.5)

F2020

(64.9)% $ 82.2
(165.5)% (32.5)

14.2 %

(39.5)%

First Three Quarters
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

$ 199.6
11.4

$ (117.4)
(58.8)%
(43.9) ( 383.7)%

5.7 %

The following table provides a further breakdown of the components of revenues for the hotels and resorts
division for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 (in millions, except for variance
percentage):

F2020

Room revenues
Food/beverage revenues
Other revenues
Cost reimbursements
Total revenues

$ 9.8
5.4
7.8
23.0
3.2
$ 26.2

Third Quarter
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

$ 34.2
20.2
13.0
67.4
7.2
$ 74.6

$ (24.4)
(14.8)
(5.2)
(44.4)
(4.0)
$ (48.4)

F2020

(71.4)% $ 27.6
(73.1)% 19.6
(39.9)% 21.4
(65.8)% 68.6
(56.1)% 13.6
(64.9)% $ 82.2

First Three Quarters
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

$ 81.3
54.6
36.4
172.3
27.3
$ 199.6

$ (53.7)
(35.0)
(15.0)
(103.7)
(13.7)
$ (117.4)

(66.0)%
(64.0)%
(41.3)%
(60.2)%
(50.1)%
(58.8)%

Division revenues and operating income (loss) decreased significantly during the third quarter of fiscal 2020
compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2019 due to the fact that one of our eight company-owned hotels and resorts was
closed the entire quarter (the Saint Kate), three of our company-owned hotels were only open for a portion of the quarter
(the Hilton Milwaukee City Center Hotel, the Lincoln Marriott Cornhusker Hotel and the AC Hotel Chicago Downtown)
and all of our reopened hotels (including four hotels opened late in our fiscal 2020 second quarter – The Pfister Hotel, the
Grand Geneva Resort & Spa, the Skirvin Hilton and the Hilton Madison Monona Terrace) were operating with reduced
occupancy rates compared to the prior year due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Other revenues during the third quarter of fiscal 2020 included golf revenues at our Grand Geneva Resort & Spa
(which exceeded the prior year period), management fees, laundry revenues and rental revenues. Cost reimbursements
decreased during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the third quarter and first three
quarters of fiscal 2019 due to the temporary closure and subsequent reduced revenues upon reopening of our managed
hotels, partially offset by the addition of a new large management contract last year. As of the date of this report, nine of
our 10 managed hotels and other properties have now reopened.
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Rooms revenues and food and beverage revenues also decreased during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020
compared to the first three quarters of fiscal 2019 due to COVID-19 pandemic related cancellations that began in March
2020, even before we temporarily closed our hotels, negatively impacting our revenues and operating results. In addition,
our restaurants and bars were required to close during the last 10 days of the fiscal 2020 first quarter due to the COVID-19
pandemic. The majority of our restaurants and bars have subsequently reopened, beginning in June 2020, and are operating
under applicable state and local restrictions and guidelines.
In addition to the impact of significantly reduced revenues, our hotel division operating loss during the third
quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was negatively impacted by nonrecurring expenses totaling approximately
$443,000 and $5.5 million, respectively, related to costs associated with initially closing our hotels (primarily payments to
and on behalf of laid off employees) and extensive cleaning costs, supply purchases and employee training, among other
items, related to the reopening of selected hotel properties and implementing new operating protocols (described in greater
detail above). Our operating results during the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2019 were negatively impacted
by approximately $1.6 million and $5.5 million, respectively, of preopening expenses and initial start-up losses related to
our conversion of the InterContinental Milwaukee hotel into the Saint Kate.
The following table sets forth certain operating statistics for the third quarter and first three quarters of fiscal 2020
and fiscal 2019, including our average occupancy percentage (number of occupied rooms as a percentage of available
rooms), our average daily room rate, or ADR, and our total revenue per available room, or RevPAR, for company-owned
properties:
Third quarter(1)
F2020

Occupancy pct.
ADR
RevPAR
(1)

F2019

Variance
Amt.
Pct.

F2020

First Three quarters(1)
Variance
F2019
Amt.
Pct.

36.6 %
83.0 %
(46.4)pts (55.9)%
46.6 %
75.2 %
(28.6)pts (38.0)%
$ 163.04
$ 172.12
$ (9.08)
(5.3)% $ 140.07
$ 155.91
$ (15.84)
(10.2)%
$ 59.66
$ 142.84
$ (83.18) (58.2)% $ 65.23
$ 117.19
$ (51.96)
(44.3)%

These operating statistics represent averages of our seven distinct comparable company-owned hotels and resorts,
branded and unbranded, in different geographic markets with a wide range of individual hotel performance. The
statistics are not necessarily representative of any particular hotel or resort. The statistics only include the periods
the hotels were open during the fiscal 2020 periods. The statistics for both the 2020 and 2019 periods exclude the
Saint Kate, which was closed during the majority of the fiscal 2020 and 2019 periods presented.

The statistics for the third quarter of fiscal 2020 include partial period results for hotel reopenings at the Hilton
Milwaukee City Center Hotel (August 10), the Lincoln Marriott Cornhusker Hotel (August 20) and the AC Hotel Chicago
Downtown (September 3). The “drive-to” leisure travel customer provided the most demand during our fiscal 2020 third
quarter, with the Grand Geneva Resort & Spa and a managed condo hotel, the Timber Ridge Lodge & Waterpark,
experiencing the highest demand among our open hotels, particularly on weekends. Transient business and group business
travel was minimal during the fiscal 2020 third quarter. As indicated by the relatively small decrease in ADR during the
third quarter compared to the prior year, non-group retail pricing has held relatively strong.
According to data received from Smith Travel Research and compiled by us in order to evaluate our fiscal 2020
third quarter and first three quarters results, comparable “upper upscale” hotels throughout the United States experienced a
decrease in RevPAR of 67.1% and 59.7%, respectively, during our fiscal 2020 third quarter and first three quarters
compared to the same periods last year. Although data received from Smith Travel Research for our various “competitive
sets” – hotels identified in our specific markets that we deem to be competitors to our hotels – is less comprehensive due to
the number of hotels closed during portions of the periods reported, data available to us indicates that these hotels
experienced a decrease in RevPAR of 71.4% and 68.0%, respectively, during our third quarter and first three quarters of
fiscal 2020 compared to the fiscal 2019 comparable periods. Higher class segments of the hotel industry, such as luxury
and upper upscale, continue to experience lower occupancies compared to lower class hotel segments such as economy and
midscale. Based upon the data received, it appears our properties outperformed our segment of the hotel industry and our
competitive sets during the fiscal 2020 periods.
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Looking to future periods, overall occupancy in the U.S. has slowly increased since the initial onset of the
COVID-19 pandemic in March. Similar to our limited experience during our fiscal 2020 second and third quarters, most
current demand continues to come from the drive-to leisure segment. Most organizations implemented travel bans at the
onset of the pandemic and are currently only allowing essential travel, which will likely limit business travel in the near
term. Our company-owned hotels have experienced a significant decrease in group bookings for the remainder of fiscal
2020 compared to the same period last year. As of the date of this report, our group room revenue bookings for fiscal 2021
- commonly referred to in the hotels and resorts industry as “group pace” - is running significantly behind where we were
last year at this time for fiscal 2020, and a large portion of that decline is because last year’s group bookings included
bookings in anticipation of Milwaukee hosting the Democratic National Convention (DNC) in July 2020. Banquet and
catering revenue pace for fiscal 2021 is also running behind where we were last year at this same time for fiscal 2020, but
not as much as group room revenues, due in part to increases in wedding bookings. Many of our cancelled group bookings
due to COVID-19 are re-booking for future dates, excluding one-time events that could not rebook for future dates such as
those connected to the DNC. However, some group bookings for the first half of fiscal 2021 have subsequently canceled or
postponed their event, and we cannot predict to what extent any of our hotel bookings will be canceled or rescheduled due
to COVID-19 or otherwise.
Unfortunately, the DNC event in Milwaukee in August 2020 was not nearly as significant to Milwaukee and our
hotels as we had originally anticipated. Another major event that we expected would benefit our Milwaukee hotels in fiscal
2020, the Ryder Cup, was originally scheduled for September 2020, but was recently rescheduled to September 2021.
However, this event is contributing to our fiscal 2021 group pace.
Forecasting what future RevPAR growth or decline will be during the next 18 to 24 months is very difficult at this
time. The non-group booking window is very short, with most bookings occurring within three days of arrival, making
even short-term forecasts of future RevPAR growth very difficult. Hotel revenues have historically tracked very closely
with traditional macroeconomic statistics such as the Gross Domestic Product, so we will be monitoring the economic
environment very closely. After past shocks to the system, such as 9/11 and the 2008 financial crisis, hotel demand took
longer to recover than other components of the economy. Conversely, we now anticipate that hotel supply growth will be
limited for the foreseeable future, which can be beneficial for our existing hotels. Most industry experts believe the pace of
recovery will be steady, but relatively slow. In the near-term, we believe it will be very important to have our marketing
message focus on the health and safety of our associates and guests. Overall, we generally expect our revenue trends to
track or exceed the overall industry trends for our segment of the industry, particularly in our respective markets.
Our hotels and resorts division operating results during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 benefited from a new
management contract added during fiscal 2019 – the 468-room Hyatt Regency Schaumburg hotel in Schaumburg, Illinois.
Conversely, we ceased management of the Heidel House Resort & Spa in Green Lake, Wisconsin and the Sheraton Chapel
Hill Hotel in Chapel Hill, North Carolina during fiscal 2019, partially offsetting the impact of the new contract. In addition,
early in our fiscal 2020 second quarter, we ceased management of the Hilton Garden Inn Houston NW/Willowbrook in
Houston, Texas and early in our fiscal 2020 third quarter, we ceased management of the Murieta Inn and Spa. We plan on
reopening Saint Kate – The Arts Hotel during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity
Our movie theatre and hotels and resorts businesses, when open and operating normally, each generate significant
and consistent daily amounts of cash, because each segment’s revenue is derived predominantly from consumer cash
purchases. Under normal circumstances, we believe that these relatively consistent and predictable cash sources, as well as
the availability of unused credit lines, would be adequate to support the ongoing operational liquidity needs of our
businesses. A detailed description of our liquidity situation as of September 24, 2020 is described in detail above in the
“Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic” section of this MD&A.
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Credit Agreement
On January 9, 2020, we entered into the Credit Agreement with several banks, including JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Syndication Agent. On April 29, 2020, we entered
into the First Amendment, and on September 15, 2020 we entered into the Second Amendment (the Credit Agreement, as
amended by the First Amendment and the Second Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”). The Second Amendment
became effective on September 22, 2020.
The Credit Agreement provides for a revolving credit facility that matures on January 9, 2025 with an initial
maximum aggregate amount of availability of $225 million. We may request an increase in the aggregate amount of
availability under the Credit Agreement by an aggregate amount of up to $125 million by increasing the revolving credit
facility or adding one or more tranches of term loans. Our ability to increase availability under the Credit Agreement is
subject to certain conditions, including, among other things, the absence of any default or event of default or material
adverse effect under the Credit Agreement. On January 9, 2020, we borrowed $68 million under the revolving credit
facility to refinance the outstanding balance under our then-existing credit facility and to pay certain fees and expenses
incurred in connection with the closing of the Credit Agreement. In conjunction with the First Amendment, we also have
an initial $90.8 million term loan facility that matures on September 22, 2021 (the maturity date was extended in
conjunction with the Second Amendment). We used borrowings under the term loan facility to pay down revolving loans,
to pay costs and expenses related to the First Amendment, and for general corporate purposes.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement generally bear interest at a variable rate equal to: (i) LIBOR, subject to a
1% floor, plus a specified margin based upon our consolidated debt to capitalization ratio as of the most recent
determination date; or (ii) the base rate (which is the highest of (a) the prime rate, (b) the greater of the federal funds rate
and the overnight bank funding rate plus 0.50% or (c) the sum of 1% plus one-month LIBOR), subject to a 1% floor, plus a
specified margin based upon our consolidated debt to capitalization ratio as of the most recent determination date. In
addition, the Credit Agreement generally requires us to pay a facility fee equal to 0.125% to 0.25% of the total revolving
commitment, depending on our consolidated debt to capitalization ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. However,
pursuant to the First Amendment and the Second Amendment: (A) in respect of revolving loans, (1) we are charged a
facility fee equal to 0.40% of the total revolving credit facility commitment and (2) the specified margin is 2.35% for
LIBOR borrowings and 1.35% for ABR borrowings, which facility fee rate and specified margins will remain in effect
until the end of the first fiscal quarter ending after the end of any period in which any portion of the term loan facility
remains outstanding or the testing of any financial covenant in the Credit Agreement is suspended (the “specified period”);
and (B) in respect of term loans, the specified margin is 2.75% for LIBOR borrowings and 1.75% for ABR borrowings, in
each case, at all times.
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The Credit Agreement contains various restrictions and covenants applicable to us and certain of our subsidiaries.
Among other requirements, the Credit Agreement (a) limits the amount of priority debt (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) held by our restricted subsidiaries to no more than 20% of our consolidated total capitalization (as defined in
the Credit Agreement), (b) limits our permissible consolidated debt to capitalization ratio to a maximum of 0.55 to 1.0, (c)
requires us to maintain a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 3.0 to 1.0 as of the end of the fiscal quarter
ending September 29, 2022 and each fiscal quarter thereafter, (d) restricts our ability and certain of our subsidiaries’ ability
to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends and other distributions (the restriction on dividends and other distributions
does not apply to subsidiaries), and make voluntary prepayments on or defeasance of our 4.02% Senior Notes due August
2025, 4.32% Senior Notes due February 2027, the notes or certain other convertible securities, (e) requires our
consolidated EBITDA not to be less than or equal to (i) $0 as of September 30, 2021 for the fiscal quarter then ending, (ii)
$20 million as of December 30, 2021 for the two consecutive fiscal quarters then ending, (iii) $35 million as of March 31,
2022 for the three consecutive fiscal quarters then ending or (iv) $60 million as of June 30, 2022 for the four consecutive
fiscal quarters then ending, (f) requires our consolidated liquidity not to be less than or equal to (i) $125 million as of
September 24, 2020, (ii) $125 million as of December 31, 2020, (iii) $100 million as of April 1, 2021, (iv) $100 million as
of July 1, 2021, or (v) $50 million as of the end of any fiscal quarter thereafter until and including the fiscal quarter ending
June 30, 2022; however, each such required minimum amount of consolidated liquidity would be reduced to $50 million
for each such testing date if the initial term loans are paid in full as of such date, and (g) prohibits us and certain of our
subsidiaries from incurring or making capital expenditures, in the aggregate for us and such subsidiaries, (i) during the
period beginning on April 1, 2020 through and including December 31, 2020 in excess of the sum of $22.5 million plus
certain adjustments, or (ii) during our 2021 fiscal year in excess of $50 million plus certain adjustments.
Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, we are required to apply net cash proceeds received from certain events,
including certain asset dispositions, casualty losses, condemnations, equity issuances, capital contributions, and the
incurrence of certain debt, to prepay outstanding term loans. In addition, if, at any time during the specified period, we and
certain of our subsidiaries’ aggregate unrestricted cash on hand exceeds $75 million, the Credit Agreement requires us to
prepay revolving loans under the Credit Agreement by the amount of such excess, without a corresponding reduction in the
revolving commitments under the Credit Agreement.
In connection with the Credit Agreement: (i) we and certain of our subsidiaries have pledged, subject to certain
exceptions, security interests and liens in and on (a) substantially all of their respective personal property assets and (b)
certain of their respective real property assets, in each case, to secure the Credit Agreement and related obligations; and (ii)
certain of our subsidiaries have guaranteed our obligations under the Credit Agreement. The foregoing security interests,
liens and guaranties will remain in effect until the Collateral Release Date (as defined in the Credit Agreement).
The Credit Agreement contains customary events of default. If an event of default under the Credit Agreement
occurs and is continuing, then, among other things, the lenders may declare any outstanding obligations under the Credit
Agreement to be immediately due and payable and exercise rights and remedies against the pledged collateral.
4.02% Senior Notes and 4.32% Senior Notes
On June 27, 2013, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the “4.02% Senior Notes Agreement”) with the
several purchasers party to the 4.02% Senior Notes Agreement, pursuant to which we issued and sold $50 million in
aggregate principal amount of our 4.02% Senior Notes due August 14, 2025 (the “4.02% Notes”) in a private placement
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). We used the
net proceeds from the issuance and sale of the 4.02% Notes to reduce existing borrowings under our revolving credit
facility and for general corporate purposes. On December 21, 2016, we entered into a Note Purchase Agreement (the
“4.32% Senior Notes Agreement”) with the several purchasers party to the 4.32% Senior Notes Agreement, pursuant to
which we issued and sold $50 million in aggregate principal amount of our 4.32% Senior Notes due February 22, 2027 (the
“4.32% Notes” and, together with the 4.02% Notes, the “Notes”) in a private placement exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. We used the net proceeds of the sale of the 4.32% Notes to repay outstanding
indebtedness and for general corporate purposes.
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On September 15, 2020 we entered into an amendment to the 4.02% Senior Notes Agreement (the “4.02% Third
Amendment” and the 4.02% Senior Notes Agreement, as previously amended and as amended by the 4.02% Third
Amendment, the “Amended 4.02% Senior Notes Agreement”). The modifications of the 4.02% Senior Notes Agreement
under the 4.02% Third Amendment became effective on September 22, 2020. On September 15, 2020 we entered into an
amendment to the 4.32% Senior Notes Agreement (the “4.32% Third Amendment” and the 4.32% Senior Notes
Agreement, as previously amended and as amended by the 4.32% Third Amendment, the “Amended 4.32% Senior Notes
Agreement” and, together with the Amended 4.02% Senior Notes Agreement, the “Amended Senior Notes Agreements”).
The modifications of the 4.32% Senior Notes Agreement under the 4.32% Third Amendment became effective on
September 22, 2020.
Interest on the 4.02% Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on the 14th day of February and August in each
year and at maturity. Interest on the 4.32% Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on the 22nd day of February and
August in each year and at maturity. Beginning on August 14, 2021 and on the 14th day of August each year thereafter to
and including August 14, 2024, we will be required to prepay $10 million of the principal amount of the 4.02% Notes.
Additionally, we may make optional prepayments at any time upon prior notice of all or part of the Notes, subject to the
payment of a make-whole amount (as defined in the Amended Senior Notes Agreements, as applicable). Furthermore, until
the last day of the first fiscal quarter ending after the Collateral Release Date (as defined in the Amended Senior Notes
Agreements, as applicable), we are required to pay a fee to each Note holder in an amount equal to 0.975% of the
aggregate principal amount of Notes held by such holder. Such fee is payable quarterly (0.24375% of the aggregate
principal amount of the Notes per quarter). The entire outstanding principal balance of the 4.32% Notes will be due and
payable on February 22, 2027. The entire unpaid principal balance of the 4.02% Notes will be due and payable on August
14, 2025. The Notes rank pari passu in right of payment with all of our other senior unsecured debt.
The Amended Senior Notes Agreements contain various restrictions and covenants applicable to us and certain of
our subsidiaries. Among other requirements, the Amended Senior Notes Agreements (a) limit the amount of priority debt
held by us or by our restricted subsidiaries to 20% of our consolidated total capitalization, (b) limit our permissible
consolidated debt to 65% of our consolidated total capitalization, (c) require us to maintain a consolidated fixed charge
coverage ratio of at least 2.5 to 1.0 as of the end of the fiscal quarter ending September 29, 2022 and each fiscal quarter
thereafter, (d) require our consolidated EBITDA not to be less than or equal to (i) $0 as of September 30, 2021 for the
fiscal quarter then ending, (ii) $20 million as of December 30, 2021 for the two consecutive fiscal quarters then ending,
(iii) $35 million as of March 31, 2022 for the three consecutive fiscal quarters then ending or (iv) $60 million as of June
30, 2022 for the four consecutive fiscal quarters then ending, (e) require our consolidated liquidity not to be less than or
equal to (i) $125 million as of September 24, 2020, (ii) $125 million as of December 31, 2020, (iii) $100 million as of
April 1, 2021, (iv) $100 million as of July 1, 2021, or (v) $50 million as of the end of any fiscal quarter thereafter until and
including the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2022; however, each such required minimum amount of consolidated liquidity
would be reduced to $50 million for each such testing date if the initial term loans under the Credit Agreement are paid in
full as of such date, and (f) prohibit us and certain of our subsidiaries from incurring or making capital expenditures, in the
aggregate for us and such subsidiaries, (i) during the period beginning on April 1, 2020 through and including December
31, 2020 in excess of the sum of $22.5 million plus certain adjustments, or (ii) during our 2021 fiscal year in excess of $50
million plus certain adjustments.
In connection with the Amended Senior Notes Agreements: (i) we and certain of our subsidiaries have pledged,
subject to certain exceptions, security interests and liens in and on (a) substantially all of their respective personal property
assets and (b) certain of their respective real property assets, in each case, to secure the Notes and related obligations; and
(ii) certain subsidiaries of ours have guaranteed our obligations under the Amended Senior Notes Agreements and the
Notes. The foregoing security interests, liens and guaranties will remain in effect until the Collateral Release Date.
The Amended Senior Notes Agreements also contain customary events of default. If an event of default under the
Amended Senior Notes Agreements occurs and is continuing, then, among other things, the purchasers may declare any
outstanding obligations under the Amended Senior Notes Agreements and the Notes to be immediately due and payable
and the Note holders may exercise their rights and remedies against the pledged collateral.
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Convertible Notes
On September 17, 2020, we entered into a purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, as representative of the several initial purchasers (the “Initial Purchasers”), to issue and sell $100.05
million aggregate principal amount of our 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (the “Convertible Notes”) of which an
aggregate principal amount of $13.05 million of Notes was issued pursuant to the exercise by the Initial Purchasers of their
option to purchase additional Convertible Notes. We offered and sold the Convertible Notes to the Initial Purchasers in
reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a) (2) of the Securities Act, and for resale by the Initial
Purchasers to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers pursuant to the exemption from registration
provided by Rule 144A under the Securities Act. We relied on these exemptions from registration based in part on
representations made by the Initial Purchasers in the Purchase Agreement. The shares of the Company’s common stock,
par value $1.00 per share (the “Common Stock”), issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, if any, have not been
registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an applicable
exemption from registration requirements. To the extent that any shares of the Common Stock are issued upon conversion
of the Convertible Notes, they will be issued in transactions anticipated to be exempt from registration under the Securities
Act by virtue of Section 3(a)(9) thereof because no commission or other remuneration is expected to be paid in connection
with conversion of the Convertible Notes and any resulting issuance of shares of the Common Stock. The Purchase
Agreement includes customary representations, warranties and covenants by us and customary closing conditions. Under
the terms of the Purchase Agreement, we agreed to indemnify the Initial Purchasers against certain liabilities.
The Convertible Notes were issued pursuant to an indenture (the “Indenture”), dated September 22, 2020, between
our company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The net proceeds from the sale of the Convertible Notes were
approximately $78.6 million (after deducting the Initial Purchasers’ fees and our estimated fees and expenses related to the
offering and the cost of the capped call transactions). We used approximately $16.9 million of net proceeds from the
offering to pay the cost of the Capped Call Transactions (as defined below). We used the remainder of the net proceeds
from the offering to repay borrowings under our revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes. The
Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations and rank (i) senior in right of payment to any of our indebtedness that is
expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Convertible Notes; (ii) equal in right of payment to any of our unsecured
indebtedness that is not so subordinated; (iii) effectively junior in right of payment to any of our secured indebtedness to
the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and (iv) structurally junior to all indebtedness and other
liabilities (including trade payables) of our subsidiaries.
The Convertible Notes bear interest from September 22, 2020 at a rate of 5.00% per year. Interest will be payable
semiannually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, beginning on March 15, 2021. The Convertible Notes
may bear additional interest under specified circumstances relating to our failure to comply with our reporting obligations
under the Indenture or if the Convertible Notes are not freely tradeable as required by the Indenture. The Convertible Notes
will mature on September 15, 2025, unless earlier repurchased or converted. Prior to March 15, 2025, the Convertible
Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders only under the following circumstances: (i) during any fiscal quarter
commencing after the fiscal quarter ending on December 31, 2020 (and only during such fiscal quarter), if the last reported
sale price of the Common Stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive
trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or
equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (ii) during the five business day period immediately
after any five consecutive trading day period, or the measurement period, in which the trading price per $1,000 principal
amount of the Convertible Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the
last reported sale price of the Common Stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; or (iii) upon the occurrence
of specified corporate events. On or after March 15, 2025, the Convertible Notes will be convertible at the option of the
holders at any time until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity
date.
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Upon conversion, the Convertible Notes may be settled, at our election, in cash, shares of Common Stock or a
combination thereof. The initial conversion rate is 90.8038 shares of Common Stock per $1,000 principal amount of the
Convertible Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $11.01 per share of Common Stock),
representing an initial conversion premium of approximately 22.5% to the $8.99 last reported sale price of the Common
Stock on The New York Stock Exchange on September 17, 2020. If we undergo certain fundamental changes, holders of
Convertible Notes may require us to repurchase for cash all or part of their Convertible Notes for a purchase price equal to
100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date. In addition, if a make-whole fundamental change occurs prior to the
maturity date, we will, under certain circumstances, increase the conversion rate for holders who convert Convertible Notes
in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. We may not redeem the Convertible Notes before maturity and
no “sinking fund” is provided for the Convertible Notes. The Indenture includes covenants customary for securities similar
to the Convertible Notes, sets forth certain events of default after which the Convertible Notes may be declared
immediately due and payable and sets forth certain types of bankruptcy or insolvency events of default involving our
company and certain of our subsidiaries after which the Convertible Notes become automatically due and payable.
Capped Call Transactions
In connection with the pricing of the Convertible Notes on September 17, 2020, and in connection with the
exercise by the Initial Purchasers of their option to purchase additional Convertible Notes on September 18, 2020, we
entered into privately negotiated Capped Call Transactions (the “Capped Call Transactions”) with certain of the Initial
Purchasers and/or their respective affiliates and/or other financial institutions (the “Capped Call Counterparties”). The
Capped Call Transactions are expected generally to reduce potential dilution of our common stock upon any conversion of
the Convertible Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of such
converted Convertible Notes, as the case may be, in the event that the market price per share or our common stock, as
measured under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions, is greater than the strike price of the Capped Call Transactions,
which initially corresponds to the conversion price of the Convertible Notes and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments
substantially similar to those applicable to the conversion rate of the Convertible Notes. If, however, the market price per
share of our common stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions, exceeds the cap price of the
Capped Call Transactions, there would nevertheless be dilution to the extent that such market price exceeds the cap price of
the Capped Call Transactions. The cap price of the Capped Call Transactions will initially be $17.98 per share (in no event
shall the cap price be less than the strike price of $11.0128), which represents a premium of 100% over the last reported
sale price of the Common Stock of $8.99 per share on The New York Stock Exchange on September 17, 2020, and is
subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. The Capped Call Transactions are separate
transactions entered into by us with the Capped Call Counterparties, are not part of the terms of the Convertible Notes and
will not change the rights of holders of the Convertible Notes under the Convertible Notes and the Indenture.
We believe that the actions that have been taken will allow us to have sufficient liquidity to meet our obligations
as they come due and to comply with our debt covenants for at least 12 months from the issuance date of the consolidated
financial statements. However, future compliance with our debt covenants could be impacted if we are unable to resume
operations as currently expected (as described in the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic section of this MD&A). Future
compliance with our debt covenants could also be impacted if the speed of recovery of our theatres and hotels and resorts
businesses is slower than currently expected. For example, our current expectations are that our theatre division will
significantly underperform during our fiscal 2020 fourth quarter and fiscal 2021 first quarter compared to the prior year,
improve during the fiscal 2021 second quarter (but still report results materially below the prior year), before beginning to
return to closer-to-normal performance during the second half of fiscal 2021. Our current expectations for our hotels and
resorts division are that we will continue to significantly underperform during our fiscal 2020 fourth quarter and fiscal
2021 first quarter compared to the prior year, before beginning to show improvement in each succeeding quarter compared
to our current state. We do not expect to return to pre-COVID-19 occupancy levels during the remainder of fiscal 2020 or
fiscal 2021.
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Financial Condition
Net cash used in operating activities totaled $80.6 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020, compared
to net cash provided by operating activities of $86.0 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. The $166.6
million decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was due primarily to reduced net earnings, the unfavorable
timing in the payment of accounts payable and the increase in refundable income taxes receivable, partially offset by the
favorable timing in the collection of accounts receivable during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020.
Net cash used in investing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 totaled $11.7 million, compared
to $86.2 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities of $74.5
million was primarily the result of the $30.3 million cash consideration in the Movie Tavern Acquisition during the first
quarter of fiscal 2019 and the fact that we have significantly reduced our capital expenditures during fiscal 2020 due to the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Proceeds received from the sale of trading securities also contributed to our decrease
in net cash used in investing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. We did not incur any acquisition-related
capital expenditures during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. Total cash capital expenditures (including normal
continuing capital maintenance and renovation projects) totaled $18.7 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020
compared to $50.1 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019.
Fiscal 2020 first three quarters cash capital expenditures included approximately $14.2 million incurred in our
theatre division, including costs associated with the addition of four new screens, DreamLounger recliner seating and a
SuperScreen DLX auditorium at an existing Movie Tavern theatre and the addition of DreamLounger recliner seating to
another existing Movie Tavern theatre. We also began a project during the fiscal 2020 first quarter to add DreamLounger
recliner seating, as well as Reel Sizzle and Take Five Lounge outlets, to an existing Marcus Wehrenberg theatre (this project
is currently on hold). We also incurred capital expenditures in our hotels and resorts division during the first three quarters
of fiscal 2020 of approximately $3.6 million, consisting primarily of normal maintenance capital projects. Fiscal 2019 first
three quarters cash capital expenditures included approximately $21.8 million incurred in our theatre division, including
costs associated with the addition of DreamLounger recliner seating and new UltraScreen and SuperScreen DLX
auditoriums to existing theatres. We also incurred capital expenditures in our hotels and resorts division during the first
three quarters of fiscal 2019 of approximately $28.3 million, consisting primarily of costs associated with the conversion of
the Saint Kate and renovation of the Hilton Madison hotel, as well as normal maintenance capital projects at our other
properties.
Net cash provided by financing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 totaled $83.5 million
compared to net cash used in financing activities of $9.2 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. As described
above, we drew down on the full amount available under our revolving credit facility during the first quarter of fiscal 2020
(after taking into consideration outstanding letters of credit that reduce revolver availability). As also described above, we
incurred $90.8 million of new short-term borrowings early in our fiscal 2020 second quarter and issued $100.05 million in
convertible notes in our fiscal 2020 third quarter, the majority of which was used to repay existing borrowings under our
revolving credit facility. Net cash provided by financing activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 was reduced
by $16.9 million of Capped Call Transactions described above. As a result, we added $209.0 million of new short-term
revolving credit facility borrowings, and we made $280.0 million of repayments on short-term revolving credit facility
borrowings during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 (net decrease in borrowings on our credit facility of $71.0 million).
We did not issue any new long-term debt during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. During fiscal 2019, we used
excess cash during the first three quarters to reduce our borrowings under our revolving credit facility. As short-term
borrowings became due, we replaced them as necessary with new short-term borrowings. During the fiscal 2019 first three
quarters, we also used borrowings from our revolving credit facility to fund the cash consideration in the Movie Tavern
Acquisition. As a result, we added $246.0 million of new short-term borrowings, and we made $215.0 million of
repayments on short-term borrowings during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019 (net increase in borrowings on our credit
facility of $31.0 million).
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As described in the Hotels and Resorts section of this MD&A, we received PPP loan proceeds during the second
quarter of fiscal 2020, the majority of which were used for qualifying expenses during the second quarter that we believe
will result in forgiveness of the loan under provisions of the CARES Act. Approximately $3.1 million of the PPP loan
proceeds have not been used as of September 24, 2020 and contributed to the increase in net cash provided by financing
activities during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 compared to the prior year.
Principal payments on long-term debt were $9.4 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 and included
a $9.0 million final payment on senior notes that matured in April 2020. Principal payments on long-term debt were $24.2
million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019 and included the repayment of a $14.6 million mortgage note on a
hotel. We incurred $6.5 million in debt issuance costs during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020. We did not incur any
debt issuance costs during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. Our debt-to-capitalization ratio (excluding our finance and
operating lease obligations) was 0.36 at September 24, 2020, compared to 0.26 at December 26, 2019.
We repurchased approximately 38,000 shares of our common stock for approximately $696,000 in conjunction
with the exercise of stock options and payment of income taxes on vested restricted stock during the first three quarters of
fiscal 2020, compared to 30,000 shares repurchased for approximately $1.1 million in conjunction with the exercise of
stock options during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. As of September 24, 2020, approximately 2.7 million shares
remained available for repurchase under prior Board of Directors repurchase authorizations. We expect that we will
execute any future repurchases on the open market or in privately-negotiated transactions, depending upon a number of
factors, including prevailing market conditions. The Credit Agreement, as amended, currently restricts our ability to
repurchase shares in the open market until such time as we have paid off the Term Loan A and returned to compliance with
our prior covenants under the Credit Agreement.
In conjunction with the Movie Tavern Acquisition, we issued 2,450,000 shares of our common stock to the seller
during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. This non-cash transaction reduced treasury stock and increased capital in
excess of par by the value of the shares at closing of approximately $109.2 million.
Dividend payments during the first three quarters of fiscal 2020 totaled $5.1 million compared to dividend
payments of $14.5 million during the first three quarters of fiscal 2019. As described above, the Credit Agreement, as
amended, requires us to temporarily suspend our quarterly dividend payments for the remainder of 2020 and first two
quarters of fiscal 2021 and limits the total amount of quarterly dividend payments during the four subsequent quarters
beginning with the third quarter of fiscal 2021, unless the Term Loan A is repaid and we are in compliance with prior
financial covenants under the Credit Agreement, at which point we have the ability to declare quarterly dividend payments
as we deem appropriate.
We previously indicated that we expected our full-year fiscal 2020 capital expenditures, (excluding any significant
unidentified acquisitions), to be in the $65-$85 million range. As described above, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic
and the temporary closure of all of our theatres and hotels, we have temporarily discontinued all non-essential capital
expenditures and paused several projects that we had begun during the first quarter of fiscal 2020. The Credit Agreement,
as amended, also restricts the amount of capital expenditures that we may incur during the remainder of fiscal 2020 and
fiscal 2021. As a result, we now believe our fiscal 2020 capital expenditures may be in the $20-$25 million range. Once
the restrictions on our capital expenditures are removed, the actual timing and extent of the implementation of all of our
current expansion plans will depend in large part on industry and general economic conditions, our financial performance
and available capital, the competitive environment, evolving customer needs and trends, and the availability of attractive
opportunities. It is likely that our plans will continue to evolve and change in response to these and other factors.
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Critical Accounting Policy Update
The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if certain indicators arise. The
Company performs its annual impairment test on the last day of its fiscal year. The Company believes performing the test
at the end of the fiscal year is preferable as the test is predicated on qualitative factors which are developed and finalized
near fiscal year-end. Goodwill is tested for impairment at a reporting unit level, determined to be at an operating segment
level. When reviewing goodwill for impairment, we consider the amount of excess fair value over the carrying value of the
reporting unit, the period of time since the last quantitative test, and other factors to determine whether or not to first
perform a qualitative test. When performing a qualitative test, we assess numerous factors to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit is less than its carrying value. Examples of qualitative factors that we
assess include our share price, our financial performance, market and competitive factors in our industry, and other events
specific to the reporting unit. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting unit is less
than its carrying value, we perform a quantitative test by comparing the carrying value of the reporting unit to the estimated
fair value. Primarily all of our goodwill relates to our theatre segment.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the temporary closing of all of our theatre locations, we determined that a
triggering event occurred during the 13 weeks ended March 26, 2020 and performed a quantitative analysis. In order to
determine fair value, we used assumptions based on information available to us as of March 26, 2020, including both
market data and forecasted cash flows. We then used this information to determine fair value and determined that the fair
value of our theatre reporting unit exceeded our carrying value by approximately 20% and deemed that no impairment was
indicated as of March 26, 2020. During the 13 weeks ended June 25, 2020, we determined that there were no indicators of
impairment that would require an additional quantitative analysis as of June 25, 2020. Due to the ongoing impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic, the continued temporary closing of several of our theatre locations, and a reduction in our share
price, we determined that a triggering event occurred during the 13 weeks ended September 24, 2020 and performed a
quantitative analysis. In order to determine fair value, we used assumptions based on information available to us as of
September 24, 2020, including both market data and forecasted cash flows. We then used this information to determine fair
value and determined that the fair value of our theatre reporting unit exceeded our carrying value by approximately 17%
and deemed that no impairment was indicated as of September 24, 2020. If we are unable to achieve our forecasted cash
flow or if market conditions worsen, our goodwill could be impaired at a later date.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Except for the broad effects of the COVID-19 pandemic as a result of its negative impact on the global economy
and major financial markets, we have not experienced any material changes in our market risk exposures since December
26, 2019.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures
a.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
Based on their evaluations and the evaluation of management, as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) are effective to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules
and forms.

b.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting
There were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection
with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered
by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

The following risk factors amend and supersede the risk factors previously disclosed in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 26, 2019.
The following risk factors and other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be
carefully considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and
uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. If
any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows could be materially
adversely affected.
Risks related to our business and industry
The COVID-19 pandemic has had and will continue to have material adverse effects on our theatre and hotels and
resorts businesses, results of operations, liquidity, cash flows, financial condition, access to credit markets and ability to
service our existing and future indebtedness.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had an unprecedented impact on the world and both of our business segments. The
situation continues to be volatile and the social and economic effects are widespread. As an operator of movie theatres,
hotels and resorts, restaurants and bars, each of which consists of spaces where customers and guests gather in close
proximity, our businesses are significantly impacted by protective actions that federal, state and local governments have
taken to control the spread of the pandemic. These actions include, among other things, declaring national and state
emergencies, encouraging social distancing, restricting freedom of movement and congregation, mandating non-essential
business closures and/or capacity restrictions and issuing shelter-in-place, quarantine and stay-at-home orders.
As a result of these measures, we temporarily closed all of our theatres on March 17, 2020. As of September 24,
2020, we had reopened the majority of our theatres, but seating capacity at our reopened theatres has been reduced in
response to COVID-19, and we currently are generating significantly reduced revenues from our theatre operations. We
also temporarily closed all of our hotel division restaurants and bars at approximately the same time and closed five of our
eight company-owned hotels and resorts on March 24, 2020 due to a significant reduction in occupancy at those hotels. We
announced the closing of our remaining three company-owned hotels on April 8, 2020. We re-opened four of our companyowned hotels (including several restaurants and bars) during June 2020 and reopened three of our four remaining companyowned hotels during our fiscal 2020 third quarter. As a result, as of September 24, 2020, we had reopened seven of our
eight company-owned hotels and most of our managed hotels, though these properties are currently generating significantly
reduced revenues.
Although we believe the remaining closure of and reduced operating levels at our theatres and hotels is temporary,
we cannot predict when the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic will subside or when our businesses will return to normal
levels. The longer and more severe the pandemic, including repeat or cyclical outbreaks, the more severe the adverse
effects will be on our businesses, results of operations, liquidity, cash flows, financial condition, access to credit markets
and ability to service our existing and future indebtedness.
Even when the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, we cannot guarantee that we will recover as rapidly as other
industries. For example, it is unclear how quickly patrons will return to our theatres and hotels, which may be a function of
continued concerns over safety and/or depressed consumer sentiment and discretionary income due to adverse economic
conditions, including job losses, among other things. If customers do not perceive our response to the pandemic to be
adequate, we could suffer damage to our reputation, which could adversely affect our businesses.
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Furthermore, the effects of the pandemic on our businesses could be long-lasting and could continue to have
material adverse effects on our businesses, results of operations, liquidity, cash flows and financial condition, and may
materially adversely impact our ability to operate our businesses on the same terms as prior to the pandemic. Significant
impacts on our businesses caused by the COVID-19 pandemic may include, among others:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

●
●
●

lack of availability of films in the short- or long-term, including as a result of (i) major film distributors
releasing scheduled films on alternative channels or (ii) disruptions of film production;
decreased attendance at our theatres, including due to (i) continued safety and health concerns or (ii) a
change in consumer behavior in favor of alternative forms of entertainment;
reduced travel from our various leisure, business transient and group business customers;
cancellation of major events that were expected to benefit our hotels and resorts division;
our inability to continue to negotiate favorable terms with our landlords in respect of those properties we
lease;
unavailability of employees and/or their inability or unwillingness to conduct work under any revised work
environment protocols;
increased risks related to employee matters, including increased employment litigation and claims relating to
terminations or furloughs caused by theatre and hotel closures;
reductions, suspensions and delays to planned operating and capital expenditures which could result in
difficulty obtaining certain growth objectives determined prior to COVID-19;
our temporary curtailment of certain investments and growth opportunities;
potential impairment charges;
our inability to generate significant cash flow from operations if our theatres and/or hotels and resorts
continue to experience demand at levels significantly lower than historical levels, which could lead to a
substantial increase in indebtedness and negatively impact our ability to comply with the financial covenants,
if applicable, in our debt agreements;
our inability to access lending, capital markets and other sources of liquidity, if needed, on reasonable terms,
or at all, or obtain amendments, extensions and waivers;
our inability to effectively meet our short- and long-term obligations; and
our inability to service our existing and future indebtedness.

Additionally, although we have sought and obtained, and intend to continue to seek, available benefits under the
CARES Act, or any subsequent governmental relief bills, we cannot predict the manner in which any additional benefits
under the CARES Act, or any subsequent governmental relief bills, will be allocated or administered and we cannot assure
provide assurances that we will be able to access such benefits in a timely manner or at all. We also cannot assure that
potential benefits under the CARES Act will not be amended or eliminated under any subsequent governmental actions.
Accessing these benefits and our response to the COVID-19 pandemic have required our management team to devote
extensive resources and are likely to continue to do so in the near future, which negatively affects our ability to implement
our business plan and respond to opportunities.
50

The duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and related shelter-in-place and social distancing requirements and the level
of customer demand following the relaxation of such requirements may materially adversely affect our financial results
and condition.
As noted above, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our operations at our theatres and hotels and resorts have been
significantly restricted or suspended temporarily, and there is uncertainty as to when reopening our remaining closed
facilities will be permitted and/or financially viable. Because we operate in several different jurisdictions, we may be able
to reopen some, but not all, of our theatres and hotels and resorts within a certain timeframe. As we reopen and operate our
theatres, restaurants and bars, we are opening and/or operating with capacity limitations. A reduction in capacity does not
necessarily translate to an equal reduction in potential revenues at our theatres as customers may shift their attendance to
different days and times and we may increase seating capacity for certain blockbuster films by dedicating more auditoriums
to such films. Fears and concerns regarding the COVID-19 pandemic could cause our customers to avoid assembling in
public spaces for some time despite the relaxation of shelter-in-place and social distancing measures. We would have no
control over and cannot predict the length of any future required closure of or restrictions on our theatres and hotels and
resorts due to the COVID-19 pandemic. If we are unable to generate revenues due to a prolonged period of closure or
experience significant declines in our businesses volumes upon reopening, this would negatively impact our ability to
remain in compliance with our debt covenants and meet our payment obligations. In such an event, we would either seek
covenant waivers or attempt to amend our covenants, though there is no certainty that we would be successful in such
efforts. If we are not successful in such efforts, our lenders could declare a default and require immediate repayment of
amounts owing under our Credit Agreement and senior notes, which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
operate our business. Additionally, we could seek additional liquidity through the issuance of new debt. Our ability to
obtain additional financing and the terms of any such additional financing would depend in part on factors outside of our
control, and we may be unable to obtain such additional financing on acceptable terms or at all.
The lack of both the quantity and audience appeal of motion pictures may adversely affect our financial results.
The financial results of our movie theatre business and the motion picture industry in general are heavily
dependent on the general audience appeal of available films, together with studio marketing, advertising and support
campaigns, factors over which we have no control. The relative success of our movie theatre business will continue to be
largely dependent upon the quantity and audience appeal of films made available by the movie studios and other producers.
Poor performance of films, a disruption in the production of films due to events such as a strike by actors, writers or
directors, or a reduction in the marketing efforts of the film distributors to promote their films could have an adverse
impact on our business and results of operations. Also, our quarterly results of operations are significantly dependent on the
quantity and audience appeal of films that we exhibit during each quarter. As a result, our quarterly results may be
unpredictable and somewhat volatile.
Our financial results may be adversely impacted by unique factors affecting the theatre exhibition industry, such as the
shrinking video release window, the increasing piracy of feature films and the increasing use of alternative film
distribution channels and other competing forms of entertainment.
Over the last decade, the average video release window, which represents the time that elapses from the date of a
film’s theatrical release to the date a film is released to other channels, including streaming services, video on-demand
(“VOD”) and DVD, has decreased from approximately six months to, in some cases, less than three months and in some
more limited instances, films have been immediately released to such alternative channels without any theatrical release. In
the past, more than one studio has discussed their interest in creating a new, shorter premium VOD (“PVOD”) window and
in one case, an agreement was announced between a studio and a large exhibitor that purportedly includes a 17-day PVOD
window for certain films. We can provide no assurance that these release windows, which are determined by the film
studios and are subject to negotiation and acceptance by exhibitors, will not shrink further, which could have an adverse
impact on our movie theatre business and results of operations.
Piracy of motion pictures is prevalent in many parts of the world. Technological advances allowing the
unauthorized dissemination of motion pictures increase the threat of piracy by making it easier to create, transmit and
distribute high quality unauthorized copies of such motion pictures. The proliferation of unauthorized copies and piracy of
motion pictures may have an adverse effect on our movie theatre business and results of operations.
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We face competition for movie theatre patrons from a number of alternative motion picture distribution channels,
such as DVD, network, cable and satellite television, video on-demand, pay- per-view television, digital downloads and
streaming services. The number of streaming services has been increasing and, in some cases, streaming services are
producing theatrical-quality original content that is bypassing the theatrical release window entirely. Periodically, internet
ticketing intermediaries introduce services and products with the stated intention of increasing movie- going frequency.
The actual impact these services and products may have on our relationship with the customer and our results of operations
is unknown at this time. We also compete with other forms of entertainment competing for our patrons’ leisure time and
disposable income such as concerts, amusement parks, sporting events, home entertainment systems, video games and
portable entertainment devices such as MP3 players, tablet computers and smart phones. An increase in popularity of these
alternative film distribution channels and competing forms of entertainment may have an adverse effect on our movie
theatre business and results of operations.
A deterioration in relationships with film distributors could adversely affect our ability to obtain commercially
successful films or increase our costs to obtain such films.
We rely on the film distributors for the motion pictures shown in our theatres. Our business depends to a
significant degree on maintaining good relationships with these distributors. Deterioration in our relationships with any of
the major film distributors could adversely affect our access to commercially successful films or increase our costs to
obtain such films and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Because the distribution of motion pictures is
in large part regulated by federal and state antitrust laws and has been the subject of numerous antitrust cases and consent
decrees, we cannot ensure a supply of motion pictures by entering into long-term arrangements with major distributors.
Rather, we must compete for licenses on a film- by-film and theatre-by-theatre basis and are required to negotiate licenses
for each film and for each theatre individually. We are periodically subject to audits on behalf of the film distributors to
ensure that we are complying with the applicable license agreements.
The relative industry supply of available rooms at comparable lodging facilities may adversely affect our financial
results.
Historically, a material increase in the supply of new hotel rooms in a market can destabilize that market and
cause existing hotels to experience decreasing occupancy, room rates and profitability. If such over-supply occurs in one or
more of our major markets, we may experience an adverse effect on our hotels and resorts business and results of
operations.
Adverse economic conditions in our markets may adversely affect our financial results.
Downturns or adverse economic conditions affecting the United States economy generally, and particularly
downturns or adverse economic conditions in the Midwest and in our other markets, adversely affect our results of
operations, particularly with respect to our hotels and resorts division. Poor economic conditions, including those resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic, can significantly adversely affect the demand of business and group travel customers,
which are the largest customer segments for our hotels and resorts division. Specific economic conditions that may directly
impact travel, including financial instability of air carriers and increases in gas and other fuel prices, may adversely affect
our results of operations. Additionally, although our theatre business has historically performed well during economic
downturns as consumers seek less expensive forms of out-of-home entertainment, a significant reduction in consumer
confidence or disposable income in general may temporarily affect the demand for motion pictures or severely impact the
motion picture production industry, which, in turn, may adversely affect our results of operations.
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If the amount of sales made through third-party internet travel intermediaries increases significantly, consumer loyalty
to our hotels could decrease and our revenues could fall.
We expect to derive most of our business from traditional channels of distribution. However, consumers now use
internet travel intermediaries regularly. Some of these intermediaries are attempting to increase the importance of price and
general indicators of quality (such as “four-star downtown hotel”) at the expense of brand/hotel identification. These
agencies hope that consumers will eventually develop brand loyalties to their reservation system rather than to our hotels.
If the amount of sales made through internet travel intermediaries increases significantly and consumers develop stronger
loyalties to these intermediaries rather than to our hotels, we may experience an adverse effect on our hotels and resorts
business and results of operations.
Each of our business segments and properties experience ongoing intense competition.
In each of our businesses we experience intense competition from national, regional and local chain and franchise
operations, some of which have substantially greater financial and marketing resources than we have. Most of our facilities
are located in close proximity to other facilities which compete directly with ours. The motion picture exhibition industry is
fragmented and highly competitive with no significant barriers to entry. Theatres operated by national and regional circuits
and by small independent exhibitors compete with our theatres, particularly with respect to film licensing, attracting
patrons and developing new theatre sites. Moviegoers are generally not brand conscious and often choose a theatre based
on its location, its selection of films and its amenities. With respect to our hotels and resorts division, our ability to remain
competitive and to attract and retain business and leisure travelers depends on our success in distinguishing the quality,
value and efficiency of our lodging products and services from those offered by others. If we are unable to compete
successfully in either of our divisions, this could adversely affect our results of operations.
We may not achieve the expected benefits and performance of our strategic initiatives and acquisitions.
Our key strategic initiatives in our theatre and hotels and resorts divisions often require significant capital
expenditures to implement. We expect to benefit from revenue enhancements and/or cost savings as a result of these
initiatives. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to generate sufficient cash flow from these initiatives to
provide the return on investment we anticipated from the required capital expenditures.
There also can be no assurance that we will be able to generate sufficient cash flow to realize anticipated benefits
from any strategic acquisitions that we may enter into, including our acquisition of the Movie Tavern business. Although
we have a history of successfully integrating acquisitions into our existing theatre and hotels and resorts businesses, any
acquisition may involve operating risks, such as (1) the difficulty of assimilating and integrating the acquired operations
and personnel into our current business; (2) the potential disruption of our ongoing business; (3) the diversion of
management’s attention and other resources; (4) the possible inability of management to maintain uniform standards,
controls, policies and procedures; (5) the risks of entering markets in which we have little or no expertise; (6) the potential
impairment of relationships with employees; (7) the possibility that any liabilities we may incur or assume may prove to be
more burdensome than anticipated; and (8) the possibility the acquired property or properties do not perform as expected.
53

Our businesses are heavily capital intensive and preopening and start-up costs, increasing depreciation expenses and
impairment charges may adversely affect our financial results.
Both our movie theatre and hotels and resorts businesses are heavily capital intensive. Purchasing properties and
buildings, constructing buildings, renovating and remodeling buildings and investing in joint venture projects all require
substantial upfront cash investments before these properties, facilities and joint ventures can generate sufficient revenues to
pay for the upfront costs and positively contribute to our profitability. In addition, many growth opportunities, particularly
for our hotels and resorts division, require lengthy development periods during which significant capital is committed and
preopening costs and early start-up losses are incurred. We expense these preopening and start-up costs as incurred. As a
result, our results of operations may be adversely affected by our significant levels of capital investments. Additionally, to
the extent we capitalize our capital expenditures, our depreciation expenses may increase, thereby adversely affecting our
results of operations. Several of our hotels are scheduled for reinvestment in the next two to three years.
We periodically consider whether indicators of impairment of long-lived assets held for use are present.
Demographic changes, economic conditions and competitive pressures may cause some of our properties to become
unprofitable. Deterioration in the performance of our properties could require us to recognize impairment losses, thereby
adversely affecting our results of operations.
Our ability to identify suitable properties to acquire, develop and manage will directly impact our ability to achieve
certain of our growth objectives.
A portion of our ability to successfully achieve our growth objectives in both our theatre and hotels and resorts
divisions is dependent upon our ability to successfully identify suitable properties to acquire, develop and manage. Failure
to successfully identify, acquire and develop suitable and successful locations for new lodging properties and theatres will
substantially limit our ability to achieve these important growth objectives.
Our ability to identify suitable joint venture partners or raise investment funds to acquire, develop and manage hotels
and resorts will directly impact our ability to achieve certain of our growth objectives.
In addition to acquiring or developing hotels and resorts or entering into management contracts to operate hotels
and resorts for other owners, we have from time to time invested, and expect to continue to invest, in such projects as a
joint venture partner. We have also indicated that we may act as an investment fund sponsor in order to acquire additional
hotel properties. A portion of our ability to successfully achieve our growth objectives in our hotels and resorts division is
dependent upon our ability to successfully identify suitable joint venture partners or raise investments funds to acquire,
develop and manage hotels and resorts. Failure to successfully identify suitable joint venture partners or raise equity for an
investment fund will substantially limit our ability to achieve these growth objectives.
Adverse economic conditions, including disruptions in the financial markets, may adversely affect our ability to obtain
financing on reasonable and acceptable terms, if at all, and impact our ability to achieve certain of our growth
objectives.
We expect that we will require additional financing over time, the amount of which will depend upon a number of
factors, including the number of theatres and hotels and resorts we acquire and/or develop, the amount of capital required
to refurbish and improve existing properties, the amount of existing indebtedness that requires repayment in a given year
and the cash flow generated by our businesses. Downturns or adverse economic conditions affecting the United States
economy generally, and the United States equity and credit markets specifically, may adversely impact our ability to obtain
additional short-term and long-term financing on reasonable terms or at all, which would negatively impact our liquidity
and financial condition. As a result, a prolonged downturn in the equity or credit markets would also limit our ability to
achieve our growth objectives.
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Investing through partnerships or joint ventures decreases our ability to manage risk.
Joint venture partners may have shared control or disproportionate control over the operation of our joint venture
assets. Therefore, our joint venture investments may involve risks such as the possibility that our joint venture partner in an
investment might become bankrupt or not have the financial resources to meet its obligations, or have economic or
business interests or goals that are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, or be in a position to take action
contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives. Consequently, actions by our joint venture
partners might subject hotels and resorts owned by the joint venture to additional risk. Further, we may be unable to take
action without the approval of our joint venture partners. Alternatively, our joint venture partners could take actions
binding on the joint venture without our consent.
Our properties are subject to risks relating to acts of God, terrorist activity and war and any such event may adversely
affect our financial results.
Acts of God, natural disasters, war (including the potential for war), terrorist activity (including threats of terrorist
activity), incidents of violence in public venues such as hotels and movie theatres, epidemics (such as COVID-19, SARs,
bird flu and swine flu), travel-related accidents, as well as political unrest and other forms of civil strife and geopolitical
uncertainty may adversely affect the lodging and movie exhibition industries and our results of operations. Terrorism or
other similar incidents may significantly impact business and leisure travel or consumer choices regarding out- of-home
entertainment options and consequently demand for hotel rooms or movie theatre attendance may suffer. In addition,
inadequate preparedness, contingency planning, insurance coverage or recovery capability in relation to a major incident or
crisis may prevent operational continuity and consequently impact the reputation of our businesses.
We rely on our information systems to conduct our business, and any failure to protect our information systems and
other confidential information against cyber attacks or other information security breaches or any failure or
interruption to the availability of our information systems could have a material adverse effect on our business.
The operation of our business depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our and our service
providers’ information technology systems. Our information technology systems, and those of our service providers, may
become unavailable or may fail to perform as anticipated, for any reason, including cyber attacks, loss of power, or human
error. Information security risks have generally increased in recent years because of the proliferation of new technologies
and the increased sophistication and activities of perpetrators of cyber attacks. Our and our service providers’ information
technology systems have experienced, and may experience in the future, cyber attacks and other security incidents, and any
significant interruption in or failure of our information systems, or those of our service providers, or any breach of our or
their information systems or other confidential information could disrupt our business, result in the disclosure or misuse of
confidential or proprietary information, damage our reputation, expose us to litigation, increase our costs or cause losses.
As cyber and other information security threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend additional resources to
continue to enhance our information security measures or to investigate and remediate any information security
vulnerabilities.
Additionally, the legal and regulatory environment surrounding information security and privacy in the United
States is constantly evolving. Violation or non-compliance with any of these laws or regulations, contractual requirements
relating to data security and privacy, or with our own privacy and security policies, either intentionally or unintentionally,
or through the acts of intermediaries could have a material adverse effect on our brands, reputation, business, financial
condition and results of operations, as well as subject us to significant fines, litigation, losses, third-party damages and
other liabilities.
Recalls of food products and associated costs could adversely affect our reputation and financial condition.
We may be found liable if the consumption of any of the food products we sell in our theatres or hotels causes
illness or injury. We are also subject to recalls by product manufacturers or if food products become contaminated. Recalls
could result in losses due to the cost of the recall, the destruction of the product and lost sales due to the unavailability of
the product for a period of time.
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We are subject to substantial government regulation, which could entail significant cost.
We are subject to various federal, state and local laws, regulations and administrative practices affecting our
business, and we must comply with provisions regulating health and sanitation standards, equal employment,
environmental, and licensing for the sale of food and alcoholic beverages. Our properties must also comply with Title III of
the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “ADA”). Compliance with the ADA requires that public accommodations
“reasonably accommodate” individuals with disabilities and that new construction or alterations made to “commercial
facilities” conform to accessibility guidelines unless “structurally impracticable” for new construction or technically
infeasible for alterations. Non-compliance with the ADA could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, fines or an
award of damages to private litigants or additional capital expenditures to remedy such noncompliance. Changes in
existing laws or implementation of new laws, regulations and practices could also have a significant impact on our
business. For example, a significant portion of our staff level employees are part time workers who are paid at or near the
applicable minimum wage in the relevant jurisdiction. Increases in the minimum wage and implementation of reforms
requiring the provision of additional benefits would increase our labor costs.
We are subject to complex taxation and could be subject to changes in our tax rates, the adoption of new tax legislation
or exposure to additional tax liabilities.
We are subject to different forms of taxation in the federal, state and local jurisdictions where we operate. Current
economic and political conditions make tax rates in any jurisdiction subject to significant change. Our future effective tax
rate could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in jurisdictions with differing tax rates, changes in the valuation of
deferred tax assets and liabilities, or changes in tax laws or their interpretation. In addition, the tax authorities may not
agree with the determinations we have made and such disagreements could result in lengthy legal disputes and, ultimately,
in the payment of additional amounts for tax, interest and penalties. If our effective tax rate were to increase, or if the
ultimate determination of our taxes owed in the U.S. or any of our jurisdictions is for an amount in excess of amounts
previously accrued, our operating results, cash flows and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Our business and operations could be negatively affected if we become subject to any securities litigation or shareholder
activism, which could cause us to incur significant expense, hinder execution of our business strategy and impact our
stock price.
While we are currently not subject to any securities litigation or shareholder activism, due to the potential
volatility of our stock price and for a variety of other reasons, we may in the future become the target of securities litigation
or shareholder activism. Securities litigation and shareholder activism, including potential proxy contests, could result in
substantial costs and divert the attention of our management and board of directors and resources from our business.
Additionally, such securities litigation and shareholder activism could give rise to perceived uncertainties as to our
future, adversely affect our relationships with service providers and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified
personnel. Also, we may be required to incur significant legal fees and other expenses related to any securities litigation or
activist shareholder matters. Further, our stock price could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely
affected by the events, risks and uncertainties of any securities litigation or shareholder activism.
Adverse weather conditions, particularly during the winter in the Midwest and in our other markets, may adversely
affect our financial results.
Poor weather conditions adversely affect business and leisure travel plans, which directly impacts our hotels and
resorts division. In addition, theatre attendance on any given day may be negatively impacted by adverse weather
conditions. In particular, adverse weather during peak movie-going weekends or holiday periods may negatively affect our
results of operations. Adverse winter weather conditions may also increase our snow removal and other maintenance costs
in both of our divisions.
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Our results are seasonal, resulting in unpredictable and varied quarterly results.
Our first fiscal quarter typically produces the weakest operating results in our hotels and resorts division due
primarily to the effects of reduced travel during the winter months. Our second and third fiscal quarters often produce our
strongest operating results because these periods coincide with the typical summer seasonality of the movie theatre industry
and the summer strength of the lodging business. Due to the fact that the week between Christmas and New Year’s Eve is
historically one of the strongest weeks of the year for our theatre division, the specific timing of the last Thursday in
December has an impact on the results of our fiscal first and fourth quarters in that division, particularly when we have a
53-week year.
Risks related to our common stock
We may not be able to obtain capital when desired on favorable terms, if at all, and we may not be able to obtain capital
or complete acquisitions through the use of equity or without dilution to our shareholders.
We may need additional financing to execute on our current or future business strategies, including to develop
new or enhance existing products and services, acquire businesses and technologies, or otherwise to respond to competitive
pressures.
If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership
of our shareholders could be significantly diluted, and newly-issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges
senior to those of existing shareholders. If we accumulate additional funds through debt financing, a substantial portion of
our operating cash flow may be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on such indebtedness, thus limiting funds
available for our business activities. We cannot provide assurances that additional financing will be available on terms
favorable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available or are not available on acceptable terms, when we desire them,
our ability to fund our operations, take advantage of unanticipated opportunities, develop or enhance our products and
services, or otherwise respond to competitive pressures would be significantly limited. Any of these factors could harm our
results of operations.
Our stock price may be volatile, which could result in securities class action litigation against us.
The market price of our common stock could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to, among other things,
the risk factors described in this report, and other factors beyond our control, such as fluctuations in the valuation of
companies perceived by investors to be comparable to us and research analyst coverage about our business.
Furthermore, the stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to
affect the market prices of equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as
general economic, political and market conditions, such as recessions, interest rate changes or international currency
fluctuations, have and may continue to affect the market price of our common stock.
In the past, many companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject
to securities class action litigation. We may become the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation
against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which
could seriously harm our business. See “Risks related to our business and industry—Our business and operations could be
negatively affected if we become subject to any securities litigation or shareholder activism, which could cause us to incur
significant expense, hinder execution of business strategy and impact our stock price.”
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Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that they might occur, could
reduce the price that our common stock might otherwise attain and may dilute the voting power and ownership interest
in us of our then-existing shareholders.
Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market following our private offering on
September 22, 2020 or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common
stock and may make it more difficult for holders of our common stock to sell it at a time and price that deemed appropriate.
Subject to certain exceptions, we and our directors and executive officers, have agreed not to offer, sell or agree to
sell, directly or indirectly, any shares of common stock without the permission of J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as
representatives of the initial purchasers (the “Representative”), for a period of 60 days from September 17, 2020. When the
lock-up period expires, we and our directors and executive officers will be able to sell our shares in the public market. In
addition, the Representative may, in its sole discretion, release all or some portion of the shares subject to lock-up
agreements prior to expiration of the lock-up period. Sales of a substantial number of such shares upon expiration, or the
perception that such sales may occur, or early release of the lock-up restrictions could cause our share price to decline.
Subject to certain limitations, we also may issue our shares of common stock or securities convertible into our common
stock from time to time in connection with a financing, an acquisition, investments or otherwise. Any such issuance could
result in substantial dilution to our existing shareholders and cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.
We have currently suspended the payment of dividends on our common stock and, consequently, the only opportunity to
achieve a return on your investment in our common stock is if the price of our common stock appreciates.
We currently have suspended the payment of dividends on shares of our common stock, and our debt agreements
contain restrictions on the ability of our board of directors to declare or pay dividends on shares of our common stock.
Consequently, the only current opportunity to achieve a return on investment on our common stock will be if the market
price of our common stock appreciates and shares are sold at a profit.
Certain provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws and of Wisconsin law could prevent a takeover that
shareholders consider favorable and could also reduce the market price of our stock.
Our articles of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a merger, acquisition
or other change in control that shareholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which shareholders might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions may also prevent or delay attempts by shareholders to
replace or remove our current management or members of our board of directors.
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Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table sets forth information with respect to purchases made by us or on our behalf of our Common
Stock during the periods indicated.

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased

Period

June 26 – July 30
July 31 – August 27
August 28 – September 24
Total
(1)

Item 4.

29,016
—
—
29,016

Average Price
Paid per Share

$

$

14,69
—
—
14.69

Total Number of
Shares
Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Programs (1)

Maximum
Number of
Shares that May
Yet be Purchased
Under the Plans
or Programs (1)

29,016
—
—
29,016

2,718,994
2,718,994
2,718,994
2,718,994

Through September 24, 2020, our Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to approximately 11.7
million shares of our outstanding Common Stock. Under these authorizations, we may repurchase shares of our
Common Stock from time to time in the open market, pursuant to privately negotiated transactions or otherwise.
As of September 24, 2020, we had repurchased approximately 9.0 million shares of our Common Stock under
these authorizations. The repurchased shares are held in our treasury pending potential future issuance in
connection with employee benefit, option or stock ownership plans or other general corporate purposes. These
authorizations do not have an expiration date.
Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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Item 6.

Exhibits

3.1

By-Laws of The Marcus Corporation, as amended on September 11, 2020.

4.1

Indenture, dated September 22, 2020, between The Marcus Corporation and U.S. Bank, N.A., as trustee
[Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 17, 2020.]

10.1

Form of Capped Call Transaction Confirmation [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K dated September 17, 2020].

10.2

The Marcus Corporation 2004 Equity and Incentive Awards Plan.

31.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350.

101.INS

The instance document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL (Extensible Business
Reporting Language) tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104

Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
THE MARCUS CORPORATION
DATE: November 3, 2020

By:/s/ Gregory S. Marcus
Gregory S. Marcus
President and Chief Executive Officer

DATE: November 3, 2020

By:/s/ Douglas A. Neis
Douglas A. Neis
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer
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Exhibit 3.1
BY-LAWS
OF
THE MARCUS CORPORATION
(a Wisconsin corporation)
Amended 3/23/95 (Section 3.01)
Amended 9/28/95 (Section 3.02 and new Section 3.015)
Amended 12/17/98 (Article II)
Amended 1/8/03 (Section 3.02)
Amended 7/18/06 (Section 3.02)
Amended 1/6/09 (Sections 2.02 and 2.14)
Amended 10/13/15 (Section 2.01)
Amended 4/9/2020 (Sections 2.03, 2.04, 2.07, 2.08, 3.03 and 3.04 and new Section 2.15)
Amended 9/11/2020 (Section 3.12)

BY-LAWS
OF
THE MARCUS CORPORATION
(a Wisconsin corporation)
ARTICLE I. OFFICES
1.01.
Principal and Business Offices. The corporation may have such principal and other business offices, either within or
without the State of Wisconsin, as the Board of Directors may designate or as the business of the corporation may require from time to
time.
1.02.
Registered Office. The registered office of the corporation required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law to be
maintained in the State of Wisconsin may be, but need not be, identical with the principal office in the State of Wisconsin, and the
address of the registered office may be changed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by the registered agent. The business
office of the registered agent of the corporation shall be identical to such registered office.
ARTICLE II. SHAREHOLDERS
2.01.
Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the shareholders (the “Annual Meeting”) shall be held on such day in April or
May of each year as may be designated by or under the authority of the Board of Directors, or at such other time and date as may be
fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors. In fixing a meeting date for any Annual Meeting, the Board of Directors may consider such
factors as it deems relevant within the good faith exercise of its business judgment. At each Annual Meeting, the shareholders shall elect
that number of directors equal to the number of directors whose term expires at the time of such meeting. At any such meeting, only
other business properly brought before the meeting in accordance with Section 2.14 of these bylaws may be transacted. If the election of
directors shall not be held on the date designated herein, or fixed as herein provided, for any Annual Meeting, or any adjournment
thereof, the Board of Directors shall cause the election to be held at a special meeting of shareholders (a “Special Meeting”) as soon
thereafter as is practicable.
2.02.

Special Meetings.

(a)
A Special Meeting may be called only by (i) Chairman of the Board, (ii) the President or (iii) the Board of
Directors and shall be called by the President upon the demand, in accordance with this Section 2.02, of the holders of record of
shares representing at least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the Special
Meeting.
(b)
In order that the corporation may determine the shareholders entitled to demand a Special Meeting, the Board
of Directors may fix a record date to determine the shareholders entitled to make such a demand (the “Demand Record Date”).
The Demand Record Date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the Demand Record Date is adopted by
the Board of Directors and shall not be more than ten days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the Demand Record
Date is adopted by the Board of Directors. Any shareholder of record seeking to have shareholders demand a

Special Meeting shall, by sending written notice to the Secretary of the corporation by hand or by certified or registered mail,
return receipt requested, request the Board of Directors to fix a Demand Record Date. The Board of Directors shall promptly,
but in all events within ten days after the date on which a valid request to fix a Demand Record Date is received, adopt a
resolution fixing the Demand Record Date and shall make a public announcement of such Demand Record Date. If no Demand
Record Date has been fixed by the Board of Directors within ten days after the date on which such request is received by the
Secretary, the Demand Record Date shall be the 10th day after the first date on which a valid written request to set a Demand
Record Date is received by the Secretary. To be valid, such written request shall set forth the purpose or purposes for which the
Special Meeting is to be held, shall be signed by one or more shareholders of record (or their duly authorized proxies or other
representatives), shall bear the date of signature of each such shareholder (or proxy or other representative) and shall set forth all
information about each such shareholder and about the beneficial owner or owners, if any, on whose behalf the request is made
that would be required to be set forth in a shareholder’s notice described in paragraph (a) (ii) of Section 2.14 of these bylaws.
(c)
In order for a shareholder or shareholders to demand a Special Meeting, a written demand or demands for a
Special Meeting by the holders of record as of the Demand Record Date of shares representing at least 10% of all the votes
entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting must be delivered to the corporation. To be
valid, each written demand by a shareholder for a Special Meeting shall set forth the specific purpose or purposes for which the
Special Meeting is to be held (which purpose or purposes shall be limited to the purpose or purposes set forth in the written
request to set a Demand Record Date received by the corporation pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section 2.02), shall be signed
by one or more persons who as of the Demand Record Date are shareholders of record (or their duly authorized proxies or other
representatives), shall bear the date of signature of each such shareholder (or proxy or other representative), shall set forth the
name and address, as they appear in the corporation’s books, of each shareholder signing such demand and the class and number
of shares of the corporation which are owned of record and beneficially by each such shareholder, shall set forth all other
information about each such shareholder and about the beneficial owner or owners, if any, on whose behalf the demand is made
that would be required to be set forth in a shareholder’s notice described in paragraph (a)(ii) of Section 2.14 of these bylaws,
shall be sent to the Secretary by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, and shall be received by the
Secretary within seventy days after the Demand Record Date.
(d)
The corporation shall not be required to call a Special Meeting upon shareholder demand unless, in addition to
the documents required by paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02, the Secretary receives a written agreement signed by each
Soliciting Shareholder (as defined below), pursuant to which each Soliciting Shareholder, jointly and severally, agrees to pay the
corporation’s costs of holding the Special Meeting, including the costs of preparing and mailing proxy materials for the
corporation’s own solicitation, provided that if each of the resolutions introduced by any Soliciting Shareholder at such meeting
is adopted, and each of the individuals nominated by or on behalf of any Soliciting Shareholder for election as a director at such
meeting is elected,
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then the Soliciting Shareholders shall not be required to pay such costs. For purposes of this paragraph (d), the following terms
shall have the meanings set forth below:
(i)
“Affiliate” of any Person (as defined herein) shall mean any Person controlling, controlled by or
under common control with such first Person.
(ii)
“Participant” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 14a-11 promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
(iii)
“Person” shall mean any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, trust,
unincorporated organization or other entity.
(iv)
Exchange Act.

“Proxy” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 14a-1 promulgated under the

(v)
Exchange Act.

“Solicitation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 14a-11 promulgated under the

(vi)
“Soliciting Shareholder” shall mean, with respect to any Special Meeting demanded by a shareholder
or shareholders, any of the following Persons:
(A)
if the number of shareholders signing the demand or demands of meeting delivered to the
corporation pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 is ten or fewer, each shareholder signing any such
demand;
(B)
if the number of shareholders signing the demand or demands of meeting delivered to the
corporation pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 is more than ten, each Person who either (I) was a
Participant in any Solicitation of such demand or demands or (II) at the time of the delivery to the corporation
of the documents described in paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 had engaged or intends to engage in any
Solicitation of Proxies for use at such Special Meeting (other than a Solicitation of Proxies on behalf of the
corporation); or
(C)
any Affiliate of a Soliciting Shareholder, if a majority of the directors then in office
determine, reasonably and in good faith, that such Affiliate should be required to sign the written notice
described in paragraph (c) of this Section 2.02 and/or the written agreement described in this paragraph (d) in
order to prevent the purposes of this Section 2.02 from being evaded.
(e)
Except as provided in the following sentence, any Special Meeting shall be held at such hour and day as may
be designated by whichever of the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Board of Directors shall have called such
meeting. In the case of any Special Meeting called by the President upon the demand of shareholders (a
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“Demand Special Meeting”), such meeting shall be held at such hour and day as may be designated by the Board of Directors;
provided, however, that the date of any Demand Special Meeting shall be not more than seventy days after the Meeting Record
Date (as defined in Section 2.06 hereof); and provided further that in the event that the directors then in office fail to designate
an hour and date for a Demand Special Meeting within ten days after the date that valid written demands for such meeting by
the holders of record as of the Demand Record Date of shares representing at least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on
each issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting are delivered to the corporation (the “Delivery Date”), then such
meeting shall be held at 2:00 P.M. local time on the 100th day after the Delivery Date or, if such 100th day is not a Business
Day (as defined below), on the first preceding Business Day. In fixing a meeting date for any Special Meeting, the Chairman of
the Board, the President or the Board of Directors may consider such factors as he or it deems relevant within the good faith
exercise of his or its business judgment, including, without limitation, the nature of the action proposed to be taken, the facts
and circumstances surrounding any demand for such meeting, and any plan of the Board of Directors to call an Annual Meeting
or a Special Meeting for the conduct of related business.
(f)
The corporation may engage regionally or nationally recognized independent inspectors of elections to act as
an agent of the corporation for the purpose of promptly performing a ministerial review of the validity of any purported written
demand or demands for a Special Meeting received by the Secretary. For the purpose of permitting the inspectors to perform
such review, no purported demand shall be deemed to have been delivered to the corporation until the earlier of (i) five Business
Days following receipt by the Secretary of such purported demand and (ii) such date as the independent inspectors certify to the
corporation that the valid demands received by the Secretary represent at least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on each
issue proposed to be considered at the Special Meeting. Nothing contained in this paragraph (f) shall in any way be construed to
suggest or imply that the Board of Directors or any shareholder shall not be entitled to contest the validity of any demand,
whether during or after such five Business Day period, or to take any other action (including, without limitation, the
commencement, prosecution or defense of any litigation with respect thereto).
(g)
For purposes of these bylaws, “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on
which banking institutions in the State of Wisconsin are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close.
2.03.
Place of Meeting. Subject to Section 2.15, the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Board of Directors may
designate any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place of meeting for any Annual Meeting or Special Meeting.
If no designation is made, the place of meeting shall be the principal office of the corporation. Any meeting may be adjourned to
reconvene at any place designated by vote of the Board of Directors or by the Chairman of the Board or the President.
2.04.
Notice of Meeting. Written notice stating the date, time, place (if the meeting is to be held in-person) and the means of
remote communication (if the meeting is to be held via remote communication) of any meeting of shareholders shall be delivered not less
than ten days
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nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting (unless a different time is provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law
or the articles of incorporation), either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the President or the Secretary, to each shareholder
of record entitled to vote at such meeting and to such other persons as required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. In the event
of any Demand Special Meeting, such notice of meeting shall be sent not more than thirty days after the Delivery Date. If mailed, notice
pursuant to this Section 2.04 shall be deemed to be effective when deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the shareholder at his
or her address as it appears on the stock record books of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid. Unless otherwise required by the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or the articles of incorporation of the corporation, a notice of an Annual Meeting need not include
a description of the purpose for which the meeting is called. In the case of any Special Meeting, (a) the notice of meeting shall describe
any business that the Board of Directors shall have theretofore determined to bring before the meeting and (b) in the case of a Demand
Special Meeting, the notice of meeting (i) shall describe any business set forth in the statement of purpose of the demands received by
the corporation in accordance with Section 2.02 of these bylaws and (ii) shall contain all of the information required in the notice
received by the corporation in accordance with Section 2.14(b) of these bylaws. If an Annual Meeting or Special Meeting is adjourned to
a different date, time or place, or will be held by a new or different means of remote communication, the corporation shall not be required
to give notice of the new date, time or place, or means of remote communication, if the new date, time or place or means of remote
communication, is announced at the meeting before adjournment; provided, however, that if a new Meeting Record Date for an
adjourned meeting is or must be fixed, the corporation shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to persons who are shareholders as of
the new Meeting Record Date.
2.05.
Waiver of Notice. A shareholder may waive any notice required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, the
articles of incorporation or these bylaws before or after the date and time stated in the notice. The waiver shall be in writing and signed
by the shareholder entitled to the notice, contain the same information that would have been required in the notice under applicable
provisions of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law (except that the time and place of meeting need not be stated) and be delivered to
the corporation for inclusion in the corporate records. A shareholder’s attendance at any Annual Meeting or Special Meeting, in person or
by proxy, waives objection to all of the following: (a) lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting, unless the shareholder at the
beginning of the meeting or promptly upon arrival objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting; and (b)
consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within the purpose described in the meeting notice, unless the shareholder
objects to considering the matter when it is presented.
2.06.
Fixing of Record Date. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date not less than ten days and not more than
seventy days prior to the date of an Annual Meeting or Special Meeting as the record date for the determination of shareholders entitled
to notice of, or to vote at, such meeting (the “Meeting Record Date”). In the case of any Demand Special Meeting, (i) the Meeting
Record Date shall be not later than the 30th day after the Delivery Date and (ii) if the Board of Directors fails to fix the Meeting Record
Date within thirty days after the Delivery Date, then the close of business on such 30th day shall be the Meeting Record Date. The
shareholders of record on the Meeting Record Date shall be the shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting. Except as
provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law for a
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court-ordered adjournment, a determination of shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at an Annual Meting or Special Meeting its
effective for any adjournment of such meeting unless the Board of Directors fixes a new Meeting Record Date, which it shall do if the
meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed for the original meeting. The Board of Directors may also fix in
advance a date as the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to take any other action or determining
shareholders for any other purpose. Such record date shall not be more than seventy days prior to the date on which the particular action,
requiring such determination of shareholders, is to be taken. The record date for determining shareholders entitled to a distribution (other
than a distribution involving a purchase, redemption or other acquisition of the corporation’s shares) or a share dividend is the date on
which the Board of Directors authorized the distribution or share dividend, as the case may be, unless the Board of Directors fixes a
different record date.
2.07.
Shareholders’ List for Meetings. After a Meeting Record Date has been fixed, the corporation shall prepare a list of the
names of all of the shareholders entitled to notice of the meeting. The list shall be arranged by class or series of shares, if any, and show
the address of and number of shares held by each shareholder. Such list shall be available for inspection by any shareholder, beginning
two business days after notice of the meeting is given for which the list was prepared and continuing to the date of the meeting, at the
corporation’s principal office or at a place identified in the meeting notice in the city where the meeting will be held or on a reasonably
accessible electronic network if the information required to gain access to the list is provided with the notice of the meeting. A
shareholder or his or her agent may, on written demand, inspect and, subject to the limitations imposed by the Wisconsin Business
Corporation Law, copy the list, during regular business hours and at his or her expense, during the period that it is available for
inspection pursuant to this Section 2.07. The corporation shall make the shareholders’ list available at the meeting and any shareholder or
his or her agent or attorney may inspect the list at any time during the meeting or any adjournment thereof. If the meeting is held solely
by means of remote communication, the list shall be open to examination by any shareholder during the entire time of the meeting on a
reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access the list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting.
Refusal or failure to prepare or make available the shareholders’ list shall not affect the validity of any action taken at a meeting of
shareholders.
2.08.

Quorum and Voting Requirements.

(a)
Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group may take action on a matter at any Annual Meeting or
Special Meeting only if a quorum of those shares exists with respect to that matter. If the corporation has only one class of stock
outstanding, such class shall constitute a separate voting group for purposes of this Section 2.08. Except as otherwise provided
in the articles of incorporation, any bylaw adopted under authority granted in the articles of incorporation, or the Wisconsin
Business Corporation Law, a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter shall constitute a quorum of the voting group
for action on that matter. Once a share is represented for any purpose at any Annual Meeting or Special Meeting, other than for
the purpose of objecting to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting, it is considered present for purposes of
determining whether a quorum exists for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting unless a new
Meeting Record Date is or must be set
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for the adjourned meeting. If a quorum exists, except in the case of the election of directors, action on a matter shall be approved
if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless the articles of
incorporation, any bylaw adopted under authority granted in the articles of incorporation, or the Wisconsin Business
Corporation Law requires a greater number of affirmative votes. Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation,
directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares entitled to vote in the election of directors at any Annual
Meeting or Special Meeting at which a quorum is present. For purposes of this Section 2.08, “plurality” means that the
individuals with the largest number of votes are elected as directors up to the maximum number of directors to be chosen at the
meeting.
(b)
The Board of Directors acting by resolution may postpone and reschedule any previously scheduled Annual
Meeting or Special Meeting; provided, however, that a Demand Special Meeting shall not be postponed beyond the 100th day
following the Delivery Date. Any Annual Meeting or Special Meeting may be adjourned from time to time, whether or not there
is a quorum, (i) at any time, upon a resolution by shareholders if the votes cast in favor of such resolution by the holders of
shares of each voting group entitled to vote on any matter theretofore properly brought before the meeting exceed the number of
votes cast against such resolution by the holders of shares of each such voting group or (ii) at any time prior to the transaction of
any business at such meeting, by the Chairman of the Board or the President or pursuant to a resolution of the Board of
Directors. No notice of the time, place or means of remote communication of adjourned meetings need be given except as
required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or
represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified.
2.09.
Conduct of Meeting. The Chief Executive Officer, and in his or her absence, the Chairman of the Board or the
President, as the case may be, and in their absence, a Vice President in the order provided under Section 4.09 hereof, and in their absence,
any person chosen by the shareholders represented at the meeting in person or by proxy shall call any Annual Meeting or Special
Meeting to order and shall act as chairperson of the meeting, and the Secretary of the corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of
the shareholders, but, in the absence of the Secretary, the presiding officer may appoint any other person to act as secretary of the
meeting.
2.10.
Proxies. At any Annual Meeting or Special Meeting, a shareholder may vote his or her shares in person or by proxy. A
shareholder may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for the shareholder by signing an appointment form, either personally or by his
or her attorney-in-fact. An appointment of a proxy is effective when received by the Secretary or other officer or agent of the corporation
authorized to tabulate votes. An appointment is valid for eleven months from the date of its signing unless a different period is expressly
provided in the appointment form.
2.11.
Voting of Shares. Except as provided in the articles of incorporation or in the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law,
each outstanding share of Common Stock is entitled to
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one (1) vote, and each outstanding share of Class B Common Stock shall be entitled to ten (10) votes, upon each matter voted on at an
Annual Meeting or Special Meeting.
2.12.
Action without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the articles of incorporation or these bylaws or any
provision of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law to be taken at an Annual Meeting or Special Meeting may be taken without a
meeting of Directors if a written consent or consents, describing the action so taken, is signed by all of the shareholders entitled to vote
with respect to the subject matter thereof and delivered to the corporation for inclusion in the corporate records.
2.13.
Acceptance of Instruments Showing Shareholder Action. If the name signed on a vote, consent, waiver or proxy
appointment corresponds to the name of a shareholder, the corporation, if acting in good faith, may accept the vote, consent, waiver or
proxy appointment and give it effect as the act of a shareholder. If the name signed on a vote, consent, waiver or proxy appointment does
not correspond to the name of a shareholder, the corporation, if acting in good faith, may accept the vote, consent, waiver or proxy
appointment and give it effect as the act of the shareholder if any of the following apply:
(a)

The shareholder is an entity and the name signed purports to be that of an officer or agent of the entity.

(b)
The name purports to be that of a personal representative, administrator, executor, guardian or conservator
representing the shareholder and, if the corporation requests, evidence of fiduciary status acceptable to the corporation is
presented with respect to the vote, consent, waiver or proxy appointment.
(c)
The name signed purports to be that of a receiver or trustee in bankruptcy of the shareholder and, if the
corporation requests, evidence of this status acceptable to the corporation is presented with respect to the vote, consent, waiver
or proxy appointment.
(d)
The name signed purports to be that of a pledgee, beneficial owner, or attorney-in-fact of the shareholder and,
if the corporation requests, evidence acceptable to the corporation of the signatory’s authority to sign for the shareholder is
presented with respect to the vote, consent, waiver or proxy appointment.
(e)
Two or more persons are the shareholders as co-tenants or fiduciaries and the name signed purports to be the
name of at least one of the co-owners and the person signing appears to be acting on behalf of all co-owners.
The corporation may reject a vote, consent, waiver or proxy appointment if the Secretary or other officer or agent of the corporation who
is authorized to tabulate votes, acting in good faith, has reasonable basis for doubt about the validity of the signature on it or about the
signatory’s authority to sign for the shareholder.
2.14.

Notice of Shareholder Business and Nomination of Directors.
(a)

Annual Meetings.
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(i)
Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors of the corporation and the proposal of
business to be considered by the shareholders may be made at an Annual Meeting (A) pursuant to the corporation’s
notice of meeting, (B) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (C) by any shareholder of the corporation who
is a shareholder of record at the time of giving of notice provided for in this bylaw and who is entitled to vote at the
meeting and complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.14. Clause (C) of this paragraph (a)(i) shall
be the exclusive means for a shareholder to make nominations or submit other business (other than matters properly
brought under Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act and included in the corporation’s notice of meeting) before an
Annual Meeting.
(ii)
For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an Annual Meeting by a shareholder
pursuant to clause (C) of paragraph (a)(i) of this Section 2.14, the shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in
writing to the Secretary of the corporation and such other business must otherwise be a proper matter for shareholder
action at the Annual Meeting as determined by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion. To be timely, a
shareholder’s notice shall be received by the Secretary of the corporation at the principal offices of the corporation not
later than the earlier of (A) 45 days in advance of the first annual anniversary (the “Anniversary Date”) of the date set
forth in the corporation’s proxy statement for the prior year’s Annual Meeting as the date on which the corporation first
mailed definitive proxy materials for the prior year’s Annual Meeting and (B) the later of (x) the 70th day prior to such
Annual Meeting and (y) the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such Annual
Meeting is first made. Such shareholder’s notice shall be signed by the shareholder of record who intends to make the
nomination or introduce the other business (or his duly authorized proxy or other representative), shall bear the date of
signature of such shareholder (or proxy or other representative) and shall set forth: (A) the name and address, as they
appear on this corporation’s books, of such shareholder and the beneficial owner or owners, if any, on whose behalf the
nomination or proposal is made; (B) the class and number of shares of the corporation which are beneficially owned by
such shareholder or beneficial owner or owners; (C) a representation that such shareholder is a holder of record of
shares of the corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to
make the nomination or introduce the other business specified in the notice; (D) any option, warrant, convertible
security, stock appreciation right, or similar right with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or
mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of the corporation or with a value derived in whole or in
part from the value of any class or series of shares of the corporation, whether or not such instrument or right shall be
subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of capital stock of the corporation or otherwise (a “Derivative
Instrument”) directly or indirectly owned beneficially by such shareholder and any other direct or indirect opportunity
to profit or share in any profit derived from any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the corporation; (E) any
proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding, or relationship pursuant to which such shareholder

9

has a right to vote any shares of any security of the corporation; (F) any short interest in any security of the corporation
(for purposes of this Section 2.14, a person shall be deemed to have a short interest in a security if such person directly
or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding relationship or otherwise, has the opportunity to profit
or share in any profit derived from any decrease in the value of the subject security); (G) any rights to dividends on the
shares of the corporation owned beneficially by such shareholder that are separated or separable from the underlying
shares of the corporation; (H) any proportionate interest in shares of the corporation or Derivative Instruments held,
directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such shareholder is a general partner or, directly or
indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner; (I) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based
fee) that such shareholder is entitled to based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the corporation or
Derivative Instruments, if any, as of the date of such notice, including without limitation any such interests held by
members of such shareholder’s immediate family sharing the same household (which information shall be
supplemented by such shareholder and beneficial owner, if any, not later than 10 days after the record date for the
meeting to disclose such ownership as of the record date); and (J) any other information relating to such shareholder
and beneficial owner, if any, that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be
made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal and/or for the election of directors in a
contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. In
the case of any proposed nomination for election or re-election as a director, such shareholder’s notice shall also set
forth: (A) the name and residence address of the person or persons to be nominated; (B) a description of all direct and
indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements, arrangements and understandings during the past three
years, and any other material relationships, between or among such shareholder and beneficial owner, if any, and their
respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the one hand, and each proposed nominee,
and his or her respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the other hand; (C) such
other information regarding each nominee proposed by such shareholder as would be required to be disclosed in
solicitations of proxies for elections of directors, or would be otherwise required to be disclosed, in each case pursuant
to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, including any information that would be required to be included in a proxy
statement filed pursuant to Regulation 14A had the nominee been nominated by the Board of Directors; and (D) the
written consent of each nominee to be named in a proxy statement and to serve as a director of the corporation if so
elected. In the case of any other business that such shareholder proposes to bring before the meeting, such
shareholder’s notice shall also set forth: (A) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting
and, if such business includes a proposal to amend these bylaws, the language of the proposed amendment; (B) such
shareholder’s and beneficial owner’s or owners’ reasons for conducting such business at the meeting; (C) any
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material interest in such business of such shareholder and beneficial owner or owners; and (D) a description of all
agreements, arrangements and understandings between such shareholder and beneficial owner, if any, and any other
person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such shareholder.
(iii)
Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of paragraph (a)(ii) of this Section 2.14 to the
contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors of the corporation is increased
and there is no public announcement naming all of the nominees for director or specifying the size of the increased
Board of Directors made by the corporation at least 45 days prior to the Anniversary Date, a shareholder’s notice
required by this Section 2.14 shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions
created by such increase, if it shall be received by the Secretary at the principal offices of the corporation not later than
the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is first made by the
corporation.
(b)
Special Meetings. Only such business shall be conducted at a Special Meeting as shall have been described in
the notice of meeting sent to shareholders pursuant to Section 2.04 of these bylaws. Nominations of persons for election to the
Board of Directors may be made at a Special Meeting at which directors are to be elected pursuant to such notice of meeting (i)
by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (ii) by any shareholder of the corporation who (A) is a shareholder of record at
the time of giving of such notice of meeting, (B) is entitled to vote at the meeting and (C) complies with the notice procedures
set forth in this Section 2.14. Clause (ii) of the previous sentence shall be the exclusive means for a shareholder to make
nominations before a Special Meeting. Any shareholder desiring to nominate persons for election to the Board of Directors at
such a Special Meeting shall cause a written notice to be received by the Secretary of the corporation at the principal offices of
the corporation not earlier than ninety days prior to such Special Meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of
(x) the 60th day prior to such Special Meeting and (y) the 10th day following the day on which public announcement is first
made of the date of such Special Meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting.
Such written notice shall be signed by the shareholder of record who intends to make the nomination (or his duly authorized
proxy or other representative), shall bear the date of signature of such shareholder (or proxy or other representative) and shall
set forth: (A) the name and address, as they appear on the corporation’s books, of such shareholder and the beneficial owner or
owners, if any, on whose behalf the nomination is made; (B) the class and number of shares of the corporation which are
beneficially owned by such shareholder or beneficial owner or owners; (C) a representation that such shareholder is a holder of
record of shares of the corporation entitled to vote at such Special Meeting and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the
meeting to make the nomination specified in the notice; (D) the information required to be included under clauses (D) through
(J) of paragraph (a)(ii) of this Section 2.14; (E) the name and residence address of the person or persons to be nominated; (F) a
description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements,
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arrangements and understandings during the past three years, and any other material relationships, between or among such
shareholder and beneficial owner, if any, and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on
the one hand, and each proposed nominee, and his or her respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert
therewith, on the other hand; (G) such other information regarding each nominee proposed by such shareholder as would be
required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for elections of directors, or would be otherwise required to be disclosed, in
each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, including any information that would be required to be included
in a proxy statement filed pursuant to Regulation 14A had the nominee been nominated by the Board of Directors; and (H) the
written consent of each nominee to be named in a proxy statement and to serve as a director of the corporation if so elected.
(c)

General.

(i)
Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.14
shall be eligible to serve as directors. Only such business shall be conducted at an Annual Meeting or Special Meeting
as shall have been brought before such meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.14. The
chairman of the meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination or any business proposed to
be brought before the meeting was made in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.14 and, if any
proposed nomination or business is not in compliance with this Section 2.14, to declare that such defective proposal
shall be disregarded.
(ii)
For purposes of this Section 2.14, “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release
reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document
publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act.
(iii)
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.14, a shareholder shall also comply with
all applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set
forth in this Section 2.14; provided, however, that any references in these By-laws to the Exchange Act or the rules
promulgated thereunder are not intended to and shall not limit the requirements applicable to nominations or proposals
as to any other business to be considered pursuant to Section 2.14(a) or Section 2.14(b) of this bylaw. Nothing in this
Section 2.14 shall be deemed to limit the corporation’s obligation to include shareholder proposals in its proxy
statement if such inclusion is required by Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act.
2.15.
Remote Communications. If authorized by the Board of Directors in its sole discretion, and subject to the other
provisions of this Section 2.15 and to any guidelines and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors, shareholders and proxies of
shareholders not physically present at a meeting of shareholders may participate in the meeting by means of
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remote communication. If shareholders or proxies of shareholders participate in a meeting by means of remote communication, the
participating shareholders or proxies of shareholders are deemed to be present in person and to vote at the meeting, whether the meeting
is held at a designated place or solely by means of remote communication, if the corporation:
(a)
has implemented reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed present and permitted to vote at the
meeting by means of remote communication is a shareholder or proxy of a shareholder;
(b)
has implemented reasonable measures to provide shareholders and proxies of shareholders a reasonable
opportunity to participate in the meeting and to vote on matters submitted to the shareholders, including an opportunity to read
or hear the proceedings of the meeting concurrently with the proceedings; and
(c)
maintains a record of voting or action by any shareholder or proxy of a shareholder that votes or takes other
action at the meeting by means of remote communication.
ARTICLE III. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
3.01.
General Powers and Number. All corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the authority of, and the business
and affairs of the corporation managed under the direction of, the Board of Directors. The number of directors constituting the Board of
Directors of the corporation shall initially be seven (7) and thereafter such number as is fixed from time to time by a majority vote of the
Board of Directors then in office.
3.015. Directors Emeritus. Any person who has reached sixty-five (65) years of age and has served as a director of the
corporation, including service as a director of any corporation with which the corporation is affiliated through common stock ownership,
for at least ten years, or as an officer and director of the corporation for at least ten years, may, after retirement or resignation from the
Board of Directors, be appointed by the Board of Directors as a Director Emeritus to serve until he or she resigns or his or her
appointment is terminated by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board of Directors. Directors Emeritus shall serve in an
advisory capacity to the Board of Directors, shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Board of Directors, shall be reimbursed for their
expenses in attending meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall receive the same fees and compensation paid to directors. Directors
Emeritus shall have no vote on matters brought before the Board of Directors and shall not be considered as directors under the Articles
of Incorporation or Bylaws of the corporation; provided, however, that Directors Emeritus shall be entitled to the liability limitations
accorded directors set forth in Section 180.0828 of the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law and the indemnification and expense
reimbursement provisions accorded directors under Article VIII of these bylaws, as if such Directors Emeritus were, for such purposes
only, directors of the corporation.
3.02.
Tenure and Qualifications. Each director shall hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until his or
her successor shall have been elected and, if necessary, qualified, or until there is a decrease in the number of directors which takes effect
after the expiration of his or her term, or until his or her prior death, resignation or removal. A director
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may be removed by the shareholders only at a meeting called for the purpose of removing the director, and the meeting notice shall state
that the purpose, or one of the purposes, of the meeting is removal of the director. A director may be removed from office with or without
cause if the number of votes cast to remove the director exceeds the number of votes cast not to remove such director. A director may
resign at any time by delivering written notice which complies with the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law to the Board of Directors,
to the President (in his or her capacity as chairperson of the board of directors) or to the corporation. A director’s resignation is effective
when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies a later effective date. Directors need not be residents of the State of Wisconsin or
shareholders of the corporation.
3.03.
Regular Meetings. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without other notice than this bylaw
immediately after the annual meeting of shareholders and each adjourned session thereof. The place of such regular meeting shall be the
same as the place of the meeting of shareholders which precedes it (if such meeting was held in-person), or such other suitable place or
means of remote communication as may be announced at such meeting of shareholders. Subject to Section 3.13, the Board of Directors
may provide, by resolution, the date, time and place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, or means of remote communication,
for the holding of additional regular meetings of the Board of Directors without other notice than such resolution.
3.04.
Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chairman of the Board, the President, the Secretary or any two directors. Subject to Section 3.13, the President or Secretary
may fix any place, either within or without the State of Wisconsin, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors,
and if no other place is fixed the place of the meeting shall be the principal office of the corporation in the State of Wisconsin.
3.05.
Notice; Waiver. Notice of each meeting of the Board of Directors (unless otherwise provided in or pursuant to Section
3.03) shall be given by written notice delivered in person, by telegraph, teletype, facsimile or other form of wire or wireless
communication, or by mail or private carrier, to each director at his business address or at such other address as such director shall have
designated in writing filed with the Secretary, in each case not less than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the meeting. The notice need not
describe the purpose of the meeting of the Board of Directors or the business to be transacted at such meeting. If mailed, such notice
shall be deemed to be effective when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. If notice is given by
telegram, such notice shall be deemed to be effective when the telegram is delivered to the telegraph company. If notice is given by
private carrier, such notice shall be deemed to be effective when delivered to the private carrier. Whenever any notice whatever is
required to be given to any director of the corporation under the articles of incorporation or these bylaws or any provision of the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, a waiver thereof in writing, signed at any time, whether before or after the date and time of
meeting, by the director entitled to such notice shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. The corporation shall retain any
such waiver as part of the permanent corporate records. A director’s attendance at or participation in a meeting waives any required
notice to him or her of the meeting unless the director at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his or her arrival objects to
holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.
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3.06.
Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or by the articles of incorporation
or these bylaws, a majority of the number of directors specified in Section 3.01 of these bylaws shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation
Law or by the articles of incorporation or by these bylaws, a quorum of any committee of the Board of Directors created pursuant to
Section 3.12 hereof shall consist of a majority of the number of directors appointed to serve on the committee. A majority of the directors
present (though less than such quorum) may adjourn any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, as the case may be,
from time to time without further notice.
3.07.
Manner of Acting. The affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or
a committee thereof at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors or such committee, as the case may be, unless
the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, the articles of incorporation or these bylaws require the vote of a greater number of directors.
3.08.
Conduct of Meetings. The Chief Executive Officer, and in his or her absence, the Chairman of the Board or the
President, as the case may be, and in their absence, a Vice President, in the order provided under Section 4.09, and in their absence, any
director chosen by the directors present, shall call meetings of the Board of Directors to order and shall act as chairperson of the meeting.
The Secretary of the corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of the Board of Directors but in the absence of the Secretary, the
presiding officer may appoint any other person present to act as secretary of the meeting. Minutes of any regular or special meeting of the
Board of Directors shall be prepared and distributed to each director.
3.09.
Vacancies. Except as provided below, any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors, including a vacancy resulting
from an increase in the number of directors, may be filled by any of the following: (a) the shareholders; (b) the Board of Directors; or (c)
if the directors remaining in office constitute fewer than a quorum of the Board of Directors, the directors, by the affirmative vote of a
majority of all directors remaining in office. In the case of a vacancy created by the removal of a director by vote of the shareholders, the
shareholders shall have the right to fill such vacancy at the same meeting or any adjournment thereof. If the vacant office was held by a
director elected by a voting group of shareholders, only the holders of shares of that voting group may vote to fill the vacancy if it is
filled by the shareholders, and only the remaining directors elected by that voting group may vote to fill the vacancy if it is filled by the
directors. A vacancy that will occur at a specific later date, because of a resignation effective at a later date or otherwise, may be filled
before the vacancy occurs, but the new director may not take office until the vacancy occurs.
3.10.
Compensation. The Board of Directors, irrespective of any personal interest of any of its members, may establish
reasonable compensation of all directors for services to the corporation as directors or may delegate such authority to an appropriate
committee. The Board of Directors also shall have authority to provide for or delegate authority to an appropriate committee to provide
for reasonable pensions, disability or death benefits, and other benefits or payments, to directors, officers and employees and to their
estates, families, dependents or beneficiaries on account of prior services rendered by such directors, officers and employees to the
corporation.
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3.11.
Presumption of Assent. A director who is present and is announced as present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or
any committee thereof created in accordance with Section 3.12 hereof, when corporate action is taken, assents to the action taken unless
any of the following occurs: (a) the director objects at the beginning of the meeting or promptly upon his or her arrival to holding the
meeting or transacting business at the meeting; (b) the director dissents or abstains from an action taken and minutes of the meeting are
prepared that show the director’s dissent or abstention from the action taken; (c) the director delivers written notice that complies with
the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law of his or her dissent or abstention to the presiding officer of the meeting before its adjournment
or to the corporation immediately after adjournment of the meeting; or (d) the director dissents or abstains from an action taken, minutes
of the meeting are prepared that fail to show the director’s dissent or abstention from the action taken, and the director delivers to the
corporation a written notice of that failure that complies with the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law promptly after receiving the
minutes. Such right of dissent or abstention shall not apply to a director who votes in favor of the action taken.
3.12.
Committees. The Board of Directors by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of all of the directors
then in office may create one or more committees, appoint members of the Board of Directors to serve on the committees and designate
other members of the Board of Directors to serve as alternates. Each committee shall have one or more members who shall, unless
otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. A committee may be authorized to exercise
the authority of the Board of Directors, except that a committee may not do any of the following: (a) authorize distributions; (b) approve
or propose to shareholders action that the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law requires to be approved by shareholders; (c) fill
vacancies on the Board of Directors or, unless the Board of Directors provides by resolution that vacancies on a committee shall be filled
by the affirmative vote of the remaining committee members, on any Board committee; (d) amend the corporation’s articles of
incorporation; (e) adopt, amend or repeal bylaws; (f) approve a plan of merger not requiring shareholder approval; (g) authorize or
approve reacquisition of shares, except according to a formula or method prescribed by the Board of Directors; and (h) authorize or
approve the issuance or sale or contract for sale of shares, or determine the designation and relative rights, preferences and limitations of
a class or series of shares, except that the Board of Directors may authorize a committee to do so within limits prescribed by the Board of
Directors. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors in creating the committee, a committee may employ counsel, accountants
and other consultants to assist it in the exercise of its authority.
3.13.
Telephonic Meetings. Except as herein provided and notwithstanding any place set forth in the notice of the meeting or
these bylaws, members of the Board of Directors (and any committees thereof created pursuant to Section 3.12 hereof) may participate in
regular or special meetings by, or through the use of, any means of communication by which all participants may simultaneously hear
each other, such as by conference telephone. If a meeting is conducted by such means, then at the commencement of such meeting the
presiding officer shall inform the participating directors that a meeting is taking place at which official business may be transacted. Any
participant in a meeting by such means shall be deemed present in person at such meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no action may
be taken at any meeting held by such means on any particular matter which the presiding officer determines, in his or her sole discretion,
to be inappropriate under the circumstances for action at a meeting held by such means. Such determination shall be made and
announced in advance of such meeting.
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3.14.
Action Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law to be taken at
a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof created pursuant to Section 3.12 hereof may be taken without a meeting if the
action is taken by all members of the Board or of the committee. The action shall be evidenced by one or more written consents
describing the action taken, signed by each director or committee member and retained by the corporation. Such action shall be effective
when the last director or committee member signs the consent, unless the consent specifies a different effective date.
ARTICLE IV. OFFICERS
4.01.
Number. The principal officers of the corporation shall be a President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, each of whom shall
be elected by the Board of Directors. A Chairman of the Board, any number of Vice Presidents, other officers and assistant officers as
may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may also authorize any duly
appointed officer to appoint one or more officers or assistant officers. The Chief Executive Officer, designated in accordance with
Section 4.06 of these By-laws, may from time to time appoint any number of Vice Presidents as he shall determine necessary who shall
hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as the Chief Executive Officer shall from time to
time determine. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.
4.02.
Election and Term of Office. The officers of the corporation to be elected by the Board of Directors shall be elected
annually by the Board of Directors at the first meeting of the Board of Directors held after each annual meeting of the shareholders. If the
election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as is practicable. Each officer shall
hold office until his or her successor shall have been duly elected or until his or her prior death, resignation or removal.
4.03.
Removal. The Board of Directors may remove any officer and, unless restricted by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws, an officer may remove any officer or assistant officer appointed by that officer, at any time, with or without cause and
notwithstanding the contract rights, if any, of the officer removed. The appointment of an officer does not of itself create contract rights.
4.04.
Resignation. An officer may resign at any time by delivering notice to the corporation that complies with the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law. The resignation shall be effective when the notice is delivered, unless the notice specifies a later
effective date and the corporation accepts the later effective date.
4.05.
Vacancies. A vacancy in any principal office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise,
shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term. If a resignation of an officer is effective at a later date as
contemplated by Section 4.04 hereof, the Board of Directors may fill the pending vacancy before the effective date if the Board provides
that the successor may not take office until the effective date.
4.06.
Chief Executive Officer. The Board of Directors shall from time to time designate the Chairman of the Board, if any,
or the President of the corporation as the Chief Executive
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Officer of the corporation. The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer whenever the office of Chairman of the Board of the
corporation is vacant. Subject to the control of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer shall in general supervise and control
all of the business and affairs of the corporation. He shall preside at all meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors. He
shall have authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors, to appoint and remove such agents and
employees of the corporation as he shall deem necessary, to prescribe their powers, duties and compensation, and to delegate authority to
them. He shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the corporation, all deeds, mortgages, securities, contracts,
leases, reports, and all other documents or other instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the corporation’s regular
business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and, except as otherwise provided by law or the Board of
Directors, he may authorize any elected Vice President or other officer or agent of the corporation to sign, execute and acknowledge such
documents or instruments in his place and stead. In general, he shall perform all duties incident to the office of Chief Executive Officer
of the corporation and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.
4.07.
Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board, if one be chosen by the Board of Directors, when present, and in
the absence of the Chief Executive Officer if the President is designated as the Chief Executive Officer, shall preside at all meetings of
the Board of Directors and of the shareholders and shall perform all duties incident to the office of Chairman of the Board of the
corporation and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.
4.08.
President. The President shall be the principal executive officer of the corporation and, subject to the direction of the
Board of Directors, shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the corporation; provided, however, that
should the Board of Directors elect a Chairman of the Board, any or all of the powers customarily incidental to the office of President
may be assigned by the Board of Directors to the Chairman of the Board. If the Chairman of the Board is designated as the Chief
Executive Officer, the President shall be the chief operating officer of the corporation. Unless the Board of Directors otherwise provides,
in the absence of the Chairman of the Board or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, or in the event of a vacancy in the office of
the Chairman of the Board, the President shall perform the duties of the Chairman of the Board, and when so acting shall have all the
powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chairman of the Board. The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings
of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors. He or she shall have authority, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the Board
of Directors, to appoint such agents and employees of the corporation as he or she shall deem necessary, to prescribe their powers, duties
and compensation, and to delegate authority to them. Such agents and employees shall hold office at the discretion of the President. He
or she shall have authority to sign, execute and acknowledge, on behalf of the corporation, all deeds, mortgages, bonds, stock certificates,
contracts, leases, reports and all other documents or instruments necessary or proper to be executed in the course of the corporation’s
regular business, or which shall be authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; and, except as otherwise provided by law or the
Board of Directors, he or she may authorize any Vice President or other officer or agent of the corporation to sign, execute and
acknowledge such documents or instruments in his or her place and stead. In
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general he or she shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of
Directors from time to time.
4.09.
The Vice Presidents. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board, if any, and the President or in the event of their
death, inability or refusal to act, or in the event for any reason it shall be impracticable for the Chairman of the Board and the President to
act personally, the Vice President (or in the event there be more than one Vice President, the Vice Presidents in the order designated by
the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer, or in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election) shall
perform the duties of the Chairman of the Board and/or the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to
all the restrictions upon the Chairman of the Board and/or the President. Any Vice President may sign, with the Secretary or Assistant
Secretary, certificates for shares of the corporation; and shall perform such other duties and have such authority as from time to time may
be delegated or assigned to him or her by the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Board of Directors. The execution of any
instrument of the corporation by any Vice President shall be conclusive evidence, as to third parties, of his or her authority to act in the
stead of the Chairman of the Board and/or the President.
4.10.
The Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) keep minutes of the meetings of the shareholders and of the Board of Directors
(and of committees thereof) in one or more books provided for that purpose (including records of actions taken by the shareholders or the
Board of Directors (or committees thereof) without a meeting); (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of
these bylaws or as required by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law; (c) be custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the
corporation and see that the seal of the corporation is affixed to all documents the execution of which on behalf of the corporation under
its seal is duly authorized; (d) maintain a record of the shareholders of the corporation, in a form that permits preparation of a list of the
names and addresses of all shareholders, by class or series of shares and showing the number and class or series of shares held by each
shareholder; (e) sign with the President, or a Vice President, certificates for shares of the corporation, the issuance of which shall have
been authorized by resolution of the Board of Directors; (f) have general charge of the stock transfer books of the corporation; and (g) in
general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and have such other duties and exercise such authority as from time to time
may be delegated or assigned by the Chief Executive Officer, the President or by the Board of Directors.
4.11.
The Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the
corporation; (b) maintain appropriate accounting records; (c) receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the corporation
from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such moneys in the name of the corporation in such banks, trust companies or other
depositaries as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.04; and (d) in general perform all of the duties incident to
the office of Treasurer and have such other duties and exercise such other authority as from time to time may be delegated or assigned by
the Chief Executive Officer or by the Board of Directors. If required by the Board of Directors, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the
faithful discharge of his or her duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine.
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4.12.
Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. There shall be such number of Assistant Secretaries and Assistant
Treasurers as the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time authorize. The Assistant Secretaries may sign
with the President or a Vice President certificates for shares of the corporation the issuance of which shall have been authorized by a
resolution of the Board of Directors. The Assistant Treasurers shall respectively, if required by the Board of Directors, give bonds for the
faithful discharge of their duties in such sums and with such sureties as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Assistant Secretaries
and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall perform such duties and have such authority as shall from time to time be delegated or
assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Board of
Directors.
4.13.
Other Assistants and Acting Officers. The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer shall have the power to
appoint, or to authorize any duly appointed officer of the corporation to appoint, any person to act as assistant to any officer, or as agent
for the corporation in his or her stead, or to perform the duties of such officer whenever for any reason it is impracticable for such officer
to act personally, and such assistant or acting officer or other agent so appointed by the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer
shall have the power to perform all the duties of the office to which he or she is so appointed to be an assistant, or as to which he or she is
so appointed to act, except as such power may be otherwise defined or restricted by the Board of Directors or the appointing officer.
4.14.
Salaries. The salaries of the principal officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors or by a duly
authorized committee thereof, and no officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary by reason of the fact that he or she is also a
director of the corporation.
ARTICLE V. CONTRACTS, LOANS,
CHECKS AND DEPOSITS; SPECIAL CORPORATE ACTS
5.01.
Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any contract or
execute or deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation, and such authorization may be general or confined to
specific instances. In the absence of other designation, all deeds, mortgages and instruments of assignment or pledge made by the
corporation shall be executed in the name of the corporation by the Chief Executive Officer, the President or one of the Vice Presidents
and by the Secretary, an Assistant Secretary, the Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer; the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, when
necessary or required, shall affix the corporate seal, if any, thereto; and when so executed no other party to such instrument or any third
party shall be required to make any inquiry into the authority of the signing officer or officers.
5.02.
Loans. No indebtedness for borrowed money shall be contracted on behalf of the corporation and no evidences of such
indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Such
authorization may be general or confined to specific instances.
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5.03.
Checks, Drafts, etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of
indebtedness issued in the name of the corporation, shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the corporation and in
such manner as shall from time to time be determined by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors.
5.04.
Deposits. All funds of the corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the
corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositaries as may be selected by or under the authority of a resolution of the Board
of Directors.
5.05.
Voting of Securities Owned by this Corporation. Subject always to the specific directions of the Board of Directors, (a)
any shares or other securities issued by any other corporation and owned or controlled by this corporation may be voted at any meeting
of security holders of such other corporation by the President of this corporation if he or she be present, or in his or her absence by any
Vice President of this corporation who may be present, and (b) whenever, in the judgment of the President, or in his or her absence, of
any Vice President, it is desirable for this corporation to execute a proxy or written consent in respect to any shares or other securities
issued by any other corporation and owned by this corporation, such proxy or consent shall be executed in the name of this corporation
by the President or one of the Vice Presidents of this corporation, without necessity of any authorization by the Board of Directors,
affixation of corporate seal, if any, or countersignature or attestation by another officer. Any person or persons designated in the manner
above stated as the proxy or proxies of this corporation shall have full right, power and authority to vote the shares or other securities
issued by such other corporation and owned by this corporation the same as such shares or other securities might be voted by this
corporation.
ARTICLE VI. CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES; TRANSFER OF SHARES
6.01.
Certificates for Shares. Certificates representing shares of the corporation shall be in such form, consistent with the
Wisconsin Business Corporation Law, as shall be determined by the Board of Directors. Such certificates shall be signed by the President
or a Vice President and by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary. All certificates for shares shall be consecutively numbered or
otherwise identified. The name and address of the person to whom the shares represented thereby are issued, with the number of shares
and date of issue, shall be entered on the stock transfer books of the corporation. All certificates surrendered to the corporation for
transfer shall be cancelled and no new certificate shall be issued until the former certificate for a like number of shares shall have been
surrendered and cancelled, except as provided in Section 6.06 hereof.
6.02.
Facsimile Signatures and Seal. The seal of the corporation, if any, on any certificates for shares may be a facsimile.
The signature of the President or Vice President and the Secretary or Assistant Secretary upon a certificate may be facsimiles if the
certificate is manually signed on behalf of a transfer agent, or a registrar, other than the corporation itself or an employee of the
corporation.
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6.03.
Signature by Former Officers. The validity of a share certificate is not affected if a person who signed the certificate
(either manually or in facsimile) no longer holds office when the certificate is issued.
6.04.
Transfer of Shares. Prior to due presentment of a certificate for shares for registration of transfer the corporation may
treat the registered owner of such shares as the person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notifications and otherwise to have and
exercise all the rights and power of an owner. Where a certificate for shares is presented to the corporation with a request to register for
transfer, the corporation shall not be liable to the owner or any other person suffering loss as a result of such registration of transfer if (a)
there were on or with the certificate the necessary endorsements, and (b) the corporation had no duty to inquire into adverse claims or has
discharged any such duty. The corporation may require reasonable assurance that such endorsements are genuine and effective and
compliance with such other regulations as may be prescribed by or under the authority of the Board of Directors.
6.05.
Restrictions on Transfer. The face or reverse side of each certificate representing shares shall bear a conspicuous
notation of any restriction imposed by the corporation upon the transfer of such shares.
6.06.
Lost, Destroyed or Stolen Certificates. Where the owner claims that certificates for shares have been lost, destroyed or
wrongfully taken, a new certificate shall be issued in place thereof if the owner (a) so requests before the corporation has notice that such
shares have been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, (b) files with the corporation a sufficient indemnity bond if required by the Board of
Directors or any principal officer, and (c) satisfies such other reasonable requirements as may be prescribed by or under the authority of
the Board of Directors.
6.07.
Consideration for Shares. The Board of Directors may authorize shares to be issued for consideration consisting of any
tangible or intangible property or benefit to the corporation, including cash, promissory notes, services performed, contracts for services
to be performed or other securities of the corporation. Before the corporation issues shares, the Board of Directors shall determine that
the consideration received or to be received for the shares to be issued is adequate. The determination of the Board of Directors is
conclusive insofar as the adequacy of consideration for the issuance of shares relates to whether the shares are validly issued, fully paid
and nonassessable. The corporation may place in escrow shares issued in whole or in part for a contract for future services or benefits, a
promissory note, or other property to be issued in the future, or make other arrangements to restrict the transfer of the shares, and may
credit distributions in respect of the shares against their purchase price, until the services are performed, the benefits or property are
received or the promissory note is paid. If the services are not performed, the benefits or property are not received or the promissory note
is not paid, the corporation may cancel, in whole or in part, the shares escrowed or restricted and the distributions credited.
6.08.
Stock Regulations. The Board of Directors shall have the power and authority to make all such further rules and
regulations not inconsistent with law as it may deem expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of shares of the
corporation.
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ARTICLE VII. SEAL
7.01.

The Board of Directors may provide for a corporate seal for the corporation.
ARTICLE VIII. INDEMNIFICATION

8.01.
Certain Definitions. All capitalized terms used in this Article VIII and not otherwise hereinafter defined in this Section
8.01 shall have the meaning set forth in Section 180.0850 of the Statute. The following capitalized terms (including any plural forms
thereof) used in this Article VIII shall be defined as follows:
(a)
“Affiliate” shall include, without limitation, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, employee benefit
plan, trust or other enterprise that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Corporation.
(b)
“Authority” shall mean the entity selected by the Director or Officer to determine his or her right to
indemnification pursuant to Section 8.04.
(c)
“Board” shall mean the entire elected and serving Board of Directors of the corporation, including all
Directors Emeritus and all members of the Board of Directors of the corporation and Directors Emeritus who are Parties to the
subject Proceeding or any related Proceeding.
(d)
“Breach of Duty” shall mean the Director or Officer breached or failed to perform his or her duties to the
Corporation and his or her breach of or failure to perform those duties is determined, in accordance with Section 8.04, to
constitute misconduct under Section 180.0851(2)(a) l, 2, 3 or 4 of the Statute.
(e)
“Corporation,” as used herein and as defined in the Statute and incorporated by reference into the definitions
of certain other capitalized terms used herein, shall mean this Corporation, including, without limitation, any successor
corporation or entity to this Corporation by way of merger, consolidation or acquisition of all or substantially all of the capital
stock or assets of this Corporation.
(f)
“Director” or “Officer” shall have the meaning set forth in the Statute and shall also include all Directors
Emeritus for purposes of the definition of ‘Director’ under this Article VIII; provided, that, for purposes of this Article VIII, it
shall be conclusively presumed that any Director or Officer serving as a director, officer, partner, trustee, member of any
governing or decision-making committee, employee or agent of an Affiliate shall be so serving at the request of the corporation.
(g)
“Disinterested Quorum” shall mean a quorum of the Board who are not Parties to the subject Proceeding or
any related Proceeding.
(h)
“Party” shall have the meaning set forth in the Statute; provided, that, for purposes of this Article VIII, the
term “Party” shall also include any Director or Officer
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or employee of the Corporation who is or was a witness in a Proceeding at a time when he or she has not otherwise been
formally named a Party thereto.
(i)
“Proceeding” shall have the meaning set forth in the Statute; provided, that, in accordance with Section
180.0859 of the Statute and for purposes of this Article VIII, the term “Proceeding” shall also include all Proceedings (i)
brought under (in whole or in part) the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
their respective state counterparts, and/or any rule or regulation promulgated under any of the foregoing; (ii) brought before an
Authority or otherwise to enforce rights hereunder; (iii) any appeal from a Proceeding; and (iv) any Proceeding in which the
Director or Officer is a plaintiff or petitioner because he or she is a Director or Officer; provided, however, that any such
Proceeding under this subsection (iv) must be authorized by a majority vote of a Disinterested Quorum.
(j)
“Statute” shall mean Sections 180.0850 through 180.0859, inclusive, of the Wisconsin Business Corporation
Law, Chapter 180 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as the same shall then be in effect, including any amendments thereto, but, in the
case of any such amendment, only to the extent such amendment permits or requires the Corporation to provide broader
indemnification rights than the Statute permitted or required the Corporation to provide prior to such amendment.
8.02.
Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Officers. To the fullest extent permitted or required by the Statute, the
Corporation shall indemnify a Director or Officer against all Liabilities incurred by or on behalf of such Director or Officer in connection
with a Proceeding in which the Director or Officer is a Party because he or she is a Director or Officer.
8.03.

Procedural Requirements.

(a)
A Director or Officer who seeks indemnification under Section 8.02 shall make a written request therefor to
the Corporation. Subject to Section 8.03(b), within sixty days of the Corporation’s receipt of such request, the Corporation shall
pay or reimburse the Director or Officer for the entire amount of Liabilities incurred by the Director or Officer in connection
with the subject Proceeding (net of any Expenses previously advanced pursuant to Section 8.05).
(b)
No indemnification shall be required to be paid by the Corporation pursuant to Section 8.02 if, within such
sixty-day period, (i) a Disinterested Quorum, by a majority vote thereof, determines that the Director or Officer requesting
indemnification engaged in misconduct constituting a Breach of Duty or (ii) a Disinterested Quorum cannot be obtained.
(c)
In either case of nonpayment pursuant to Section 8.03(b), the Board shall immediately authorize by resolution
that an Authority, as provided in Section 8.04, determine whether the Director’s or Officer’s conduct constituted a Breach of
Duty and, therefore, whether indemnification should be denied hereunder.
(d)
(i) If the Board does not authorize an Authority to determine the Director’s or Officer’s right to
indemnification hereunder within such sixty-day period and/or (ii) if
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indemnification of the requested amount of Liabilities is paid by the Corporation, then it shall be conclusively presumed for all
purposes that a Disinterested Quorum has affirmatively determined that the Director or Officer did not engage in misconduct
constituting a Breach of Duty and, in the case of subsection (i) above (but not subsection (ii)), indemnification by the
Corporation of the requested amount of Liabilities shall be paid to the Director or Officer immediately.
8.04.

Determination of Indemnification.

(a)
If the Board authorizes an Authority to determine a Director’s or Officer’s right to indemnification pursuant to
Section 8.03, then the Director or Officer requesting indemnification shall have the absolute discretionary authority to select one
of the following as such Authority:
(i)
An independent legal counsel; provided, that such counsel shall be mutually selected by such
Director or Officer and by a majority vote of a Disinterested Quorum or, if a Disinterested Quorum cannot be obtained,
then by a majority vote of the Board;
(ii)
A panel of three arbitrators selected from the panels of arbitrators of the American Arbitration
Association in Wisconsin; provided, that (A) one arbitrator shall be selected by such Director or Officer, the second
arbitrator shall be selected by a majority vote of a Disinterested Quorum or, if a Disinterested Quorum cannot be
obtained, then by a majority vote of the Board, and the third arbitrator shall be selected by the two previously selected
arbitrators, and (B) in all other respects (other than this Article VIII), such panel shall be governed by the American
Arbitration Association’s then existing Commercial Arbitration Rules; or
(iii)

A court pursuant to and in accordance with Section 180.0854 of the Statute.

(b)
In any such determination by the selected Authority there shall exist a rebuttable presumption that the
Director’s or Officer’s conduct did not constitute a Breach of Duty and that indemnification against the requested amount of
Liabilities is required. The burden of rebutting such a presumption by clear and convincing evidence shall be on the Corporation
or such other party asserting that such indemnification should not be allowed.
(c)
The Authority shall make its determination within sixty days of being selected and shall submit a written
opinion of its conclusion simultaneously to both the Corporation and the Director or Officer.
(d)
If the Authority determines that indemnification is required hereunder, the Corporation shall pay the entire
requested amount of Liabilities (net of any Expenses previously advanced pursuant to Section 8.05), including interest thereon
at a reasonable rate, as determined by the Authority, within ten days of receipt of the Authority’s opinion; provided, that, if it is
determined by the Authority that a Director or Officer is
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entitled to indemnification against Liabilities’ incurred in connection with some claims, issues or matters, but not as to other
claims, issues or matters, involved in the subject Proceeding, the Corporation shall be required to pay (as set forth above) only
the amount of such requested Liabilities as the Authority shall deem appropriate in light of all of the circumstances of such
Proceeding.
(e)
The determination by the Authority that indemnification is required hereunder shall be binding upon the
Corporation regardless of any prior determination that the Director or Officer engaged in a Breach of Duty.
(f)
All Expenses incurred in the determination process under this Section 8.04 by either the Corporation or the
Director or Officer, including, without limitation, all Expenses of the selected Authority, shall be paid by the Corporation.
8.05.

Mandatory Allowance of Expenses.

(a)
The Corporation shall pay or reimburse from time to time or at any time, within ten days after the receipt of
the Director’s or Officer’s written request therefor, the reasonable Expenses of the Director or Officer as such Expenses are
incurred; provided, the following conditions are satisfied:
(i)
The Director or Officer furnishes to the Corporation an executed written certificate affirming his or
her good faith belief that he or she has not engaged in misconduct which constitutes a Breach of Duty; and
(ii)
The Director or Officer furnishes to the Corporation an unsecured executed written agreement to
repay any advances made under this Section 8.05 if it is ultimately determined by an Authority that he or she is not
entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation for such Expenses pursuant to Section 8.04.
(b)
If the Director or Officer must repay any previously advanced Expenses pursuant to this Section 8.05, such
Director or Officer shall not be required to pay interest on such amounts.
8.06.

Indemnification and Allowance of Expenses of Certain Others.

(a)
The Board may, in its sole and absolute discretion as it deems appropriate, pursuant to a majority vote thereof,
indemnify a director or officer of an Affiliate (who is not otherwise serving as a Director or Officer) against all Liabilities, and
shall advance the reasonable Expenses, incurred by such director or officer in a Proceeding to the same extent hereunder as if
such director or officer incurred such Liabilities because he or she was a Director or Officer, if such director or officer is a Party
thereto because he or she is or was a director or officer of the Affiliate.
(b)
The Corporation shall indemnify an employee who is not a Director or Officer, to the extent he or she has
been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of a Proceeding, for all reasonable Expenses incurred in the Proceeding if
the employee was a Party because he or she was an employee of the Corporation.
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(c)
The Board may, in its sole and absolute discretion as it deems appropriate, pursuant to a majority vote thereof,
indemnify (to the extent not otherwise provided in Section 8.06(b) hereof) against Liabilities incurred by, and/or provide for the
allowance of reasonable Expenses of, an employee or authorized agent of the Corporation acting within the scope of his or her
duties as such and who is not otherwise a Director or Officer.
8.07.
Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of a Director or Officer or any individual
who is or was an employee or authorized agent of the Corporation against any Liability asserted against or incurred by such individual in
his or her capacity as such or arising from his or her status as such, regardless of whether the Corporation is required or permitted to
indemnify against any such Liability under this Article VIII.
8.08.
Notice to the Corporation. A Director, Officer or employee shall promptly notify the Corporation in writing when he or
she has actual knowledge of a Proceeding which may result in a claim of indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses
hereunder, but the failure to do so shall not relieve the Corporation of any liability to the Director, Officer or employee hereunder unless
the Corporation shall have been irreparably prejudiced by such failure (as determined, in the case of Directors or Officers only, by an
Authority selected pursuant to Section 8.04(a)).
8.09.
Severability. If any provision of this Article VIII shall be deemed invalid or inoperative, or if a court of competent
jurisdiction determines that any of the provisions of this Article VIII contravene public policy, this Article VIII shall be construed so that
the remaining provisions shall not be affected, but shall remain in full force and effect, and any such provisions which are invalid or
inoperative or which contravene public policy shall be deemed, without further action or deed by or on behalf of the Corporation, to be
modified, amended and/or limited, but only to the extent necessary to render the same valid and enforceable; it being understood that it is
the Corporation’s intention to provide the Directors and Officers with the broadest possible protection against personal liability allowable
under the Statute.
8.10.
Nonexclusivity of Article VIII. The rights of a Director, Officer or employee (or any other person) granted under this
Article VIII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses which the
Director, Officer or employee (or such other person) may be entitled to under any written agreement, Board resolution, vote of
shareholders of the Corporation or otherwise, including, without limitation, under the Statute. Nothing contained in this Article VIII shall
be deemed to limit the Corporation’s obligations to indemnify against Liabilities or allow Expenses to a Director, Officer or employee
under the Statute.
8.11.
Contractual Nature of Article VIII; Repeal or Limitation of Rights. This Article VIII shall be deemed to be a contract
between the Corporation and each Director, Officer and employee of the Corporation and any repeal or other limitation of this Article
VIII or any repeal or limitation of the Statute or any other applicable law shall not limit any rights of indemnification against Liabilities
or allowance of Expenses then existing or arising out of events, acts or omissions occurring prior to such repeal or limitation, including,
without limitation, the right to indemnification against Liabilities or allowance of Expenses for
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Proceedings commenced after such repeal or limitation to enforce this Article VIII with regard to acts, omissions or events arising prior
to such repeal or limitation.
ARTICLE IX. AMENDMENTS
9.01.
By Shareholders. These bylaws may be amended or repealed and new bylaws may be adopted by the shareholders at
any annual or special meeting of the shareholders at which a quorum is in attendance.
9.02.
By Directors. Except as otherwise provided by the Wisconsin Business Corporation Law or the articles of
incorporation, these bylaws may also be amended or repealed and new bylaws may be adopted by the Board of Directors by affirmative
vote of a majority of the number of directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is in attendance; provided, however, that the
shareholders in adopting, amending or repealing a particular bylaw may provide therein that the Board of Directors may not amend,
repeal or readopt that bylaw.
9.03.
Implied Amendments. Any action taken or authorized by the shareholders or by the Board of Directors which would
be inconsistent with the bylaws then in effect but which is taken or authorized by affirmative vote of not less than the number of shares or
the number of directors required to amend the bylaws so that the bylaws would be consistent with such action shall be given the same
effect as though the bylaws had been temporarily amended or suspended so far, but only so far, as is necessary to permit the specific
action so taken or authorized.
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Exhibit 10.2
[Employee]
THE MARCUS CORPORATION
2004 EQUITY AND INCENTIVE AWARDS PLAN
STOCK OPTION AWARD
As Amended May 6, 2020
You have been granted an option (this “Option”) to purchase shares of common stock of The Marcus Corporation (the
“Company”) under The Marcus Corporation 2004 Equity and Incentive Awards Plan, as amended and restated (the “Plan”),
with the terms and conditions set forth below. This Option is also contingent on approval by the Company’s shareholder of
approval of an amendment to the Plan to increase the number of Shares available (the “Plan Amendment”):
Overview of Option:

See the cover page for the Grant Date, the number of Options
granted, the type of Options granted, and the Option Price per
Share.

Expiration Date:

This Option will expire upon the close of business at the
Company headquarters on the Expiration Date listed on the
cover page, subject to earlier termination as described under
“Termination of Employment” below.

Vesting Schedule:

This Option will vest and become exercisable as set forth on
the cover page; provided that this Option may not be
exercised prior to shareholder approval of the Plan
Amendment.
This Option will become fully vested if you die while
employed by the Company or a subsidiary.
This Option will become fully vested upon the termination of
your employment from the Company or a subsidiary as a
result of Retirement (as defined below); provided that you
have completed at least ten (10) consecutive years of service
as an employee of the Company or a subsidiary prior to
Retirement.
Upon any other termination of your employment from the
Company or a subsidiary, including as a result of Retirement
if you have not completed at least ten (10) consecutive years
of service as an employee of the Company or a subsidiary
prior to Retirement, you will forfeit the portion of this Option
that is not vested as of the date of the termination of your
employment.

Manner of Exercise:

You may exercise this Option only to the extent vested and
only if this Option has not expired or terminated and only if
the Company’s shareholders have approved the Plan
Amendment. During your lifetime, only you (or your legal
representative in the event of your disability) may exercise

this Option. If someone else wants to exercise this Option
after your death, that person must contact the Secretary of the
Company and prove to the Company’s satisfaction that he or
she is entitled to do so.
To exercise this Option, you must provide notice to the
Secretary of the Company on such form as the Secretary
prescribes. Your notice must be accompanied by payment of
the aggregate option price: (1) in cash; (2) by check or money
order made payable to the Company; (3) by delivering
previously owned Shares, duly endorsed in blank or
accompanied by stock powers duly endorsed in blank (which
will be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of
exercise); (4) by delivering Shares (which will be valued at
their Fair Market Value on the date of exercise) otherwise
receivable upon exercise of this Option; or (5) any
combination of the foregoing. If, and to the extent, you have
not exercised this Option on its Expiration Date and the Fair
Market Value of the Shares to which this Option relates
exceeds the exercise price thereof, then this Option will be
automatically exercised on your behalf through the method
described in clause (4) above to the extent this Option is
otherwise vested. If this Option is designated on the cover
page as an Incentive Stock Option, then this Option will be
treated for tax purposes as a Non-Qualified Stock Option if
alternative (4) above is used to pay the aggregate option price.
Your ability to exercise this Option may be restricted by the
Company if required by applicable law.
Termination of Employment:

If your employment with the Company or a subsidiary
terminates for other than “Cause” (as defined below), this
Option will terminate upon the close of business at the
Company headquarters as follows:
· If your employment terminates as a result of death, this
Option will terminate upon the earlier of (1) the Expiration
Date listed on the cover page or (2) twelve (12) months after
the date of your termination of employment.
· If your employment terminates as a result of Disability (as
defined below), this Option will terminate one hundred and
eighty (180) days after the date of your termination of
employment.
· If your employment terminates as a result of Retirement (as
defined below), this Option will terminate on the Expiration
Date listed on the cover page; provided, however, that, if you
die prior to the Expiration Date or your earlier exercise of this
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Option, then this Option will terminate upon the earlier of (1)
the Expiration Date or (2) twelve (12) months after the date of
your death.
· If your employment terminates for any other reason, this
Option will terminate ninety (90) days after the date of your
termination of employment.
For purposes hereof, “Disability” means that you are unable
to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any
medically determinable physical or mental impairment that
can be expected to result in death or last for a continuous
period of at least twelve (12) months. For purposes hereof,
“Retirement” means termination of employment from the
Company or a subsidiary on or after meeting the age and
service requirements for early or normal retirement under a
defined benefit pension plan in which you participate as an
employee of the Company or a subsidiary, or as defined under
the Company’s or subsidiary’s retirement policy.
If your employment is terminated for Cause, this entire
Option (whether vested or nonvested) will immediately
terminate. For this purpose, (1) if you are subject to an
employment agreement with the Company or an affiliate that
includes a definition of “Cause,” that definition shall apply for
purposes hereof, or (2) in any other case, “Cause” means any
act or omission that is deemed contrary to the interests of the
Company or any subsidiary or not in the interests of the
Company or any subsidiary, as determined by the Board of
Directors or Committee.
However, in no event will this Option be exercisable after its
Expiration Date.
Tax Withholding:

If this Option is designated on the cover page as an Incentive
Stock Option (unless you exercise this Option by delivering
Shares otherwise receivable upon exercise of this Option), no
withholding taxes are due upon exercise.
If this Option is designated on the cover page as a
Nonqualified Stock Option (or if this Option is designated as
an Incentive Stock Option and you exercise this Option by
delivering Shares otherwise receivable upon exercise of this
Option), at the time of exercising this Option, you must pay to
the Company the amount of withholding taxes due as a result
of the exercise. You may pay the withholding taxes due: (1) in
cash; (2) by check or money order made payable to the
Company; (3) by delivering previously owned Shares, duly
endorsed in blank or accompanied by stock powers duly
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endorsed in blank (which will be valued at their Fair Market
Value on the date of exercise); (4) by delivering Shares
(which will be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of
exercise) otherwise receivable upon exercise of this Option;
or (5) any combination of the foregoing. The Company may
also permit you to pay the withholding taxes by other means,
such as deductions from your paycheck.
Transferability:

You may not transfer or assign this Option for any reason,
other than under your will or as required by intestate laws,
unless otherwise permitted by the Committee. Any attempted
transfer or assignment will be null and void.

Restrictions on Resale:

By accepting this Option, you agree not to sell any Shares
acquired under this Option at a time when applicable laws,
Company policies (including, without limitation, the
Company’s insider trading policy) or an agreement between
the Company and its underwriters prohibit a sale.

Notice of Share Disposition

If this Option is designated on the cover page as an Incentive
Stock Option (unless you exercise this Option by delivering
Shares otherwise receivable upon exercise of this Option), and
if you sell or otherwise dispose of any of the Shares acquired
pursuant to this Option on or before the later of (1) the date
two years after the Grant Date, or (2) the date one year after
the date of exercise, then you must immediately notify the
Company in writing of such disposition.

Optionee Rights:

You are not considered a Company shareholder with respect
to the Shares until you exercise this Option, pay all
withholding taxes due, and receive a certificate for the Shares.
Shares issued under this Option will be fully paid and
nonassessable by the Company. The grant of this Option does
not confer on you any right to continue in employment with
the Company or a subsidiary. The Company or subsidiary may
terminate your employment at any time for any reason.

Recoupment; Rescission of Exercise

If the Committee determines that recoupment of incentive
compensation paid to you pursuant to this Option is required
under any law or any recoupment policy of the Company or
any Affiliate, then this Option will terminate immediately on
the date of such determination to the extent required by such
law or recoupment policy, any prior exercise of this Option
may be deemed to be rescinded, and the Committee may
recoup any such incentive compensation in accordance with
such recoupment policy or as required by law. The Company
and any Affiliate shall have the right to offset against any
amounts due to you any amounts owed by you hereunder and
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any exercise price or withholding amount tendered by you
with respect to this Option.
Committee Authority:

By accepting this Option, you agree (including on behalf of
your legal representatives or beneficiaries) that the Plan and
this Option are subject to discretionary interpretation by the
Committee and that any such interpretation is final, binding
and conclusive on all parties. In addition, the Committee may
amend, modify or cancel any terms and conditions applicable
to this Option at any time as permitted by the Plan, including
accelerating the vesting of this Option. Such amendments,
modifications or cancellations must be by mutual agreement
between the Committee and you or any other person(s) as
may then have an interest in this Option except to the extent
the Plan permits such actions to be taken by the Committee
without consent.

This Option is granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan. Additional provisions regarding this
Option and definitions of capitalized terms used and not defined in this Option can be found in the Plan.
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Gregory S. Marcus, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Marcus Corporation;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
DATE: November 3, 2020
By: /s/ Gregory S. Marcus
Gregory S. Marcus
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Rule 13a-14(a)
or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Douglas A. Neis, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of The Marcus Corporation;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;
(b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions):
(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
DATE: November 3, 2020

By:

/s/ Douglas A. Neis
Douglas A. Neis
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer

Exhibit 32
Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. §1350, we, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
The Marcus Corporation (the “Company”), hereby certify, based on our knowledge, that the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q of the Company (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
/s/ Gregory S. Marcus
Gregory S. Marcus
President and Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Douglas A. Neis
Douglas A. Neis
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Date: November 3, 2020

